THE CYTOTOXIC EFFECTS OF AFLATOXIN B₁ AND FUMONISIN B₁ ON CULTURED HUMAN CELLS

By

Mary Elizabeth van der Stok

B TECH (BIOTECHNOLOGY), TECHNIKON NATAL

Submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Masters in Medical Science in the Department of Physiology, Faculty of Health Sciences, Nelson R. Mandela School of Medicine, University of KwaZulu-Natal, Durban.

2004

i

ABSTRACT

Aflatoxin B_1 (AFB₁) and Fumonisin B_1 (FB₁), potentially cytotoxic and carcinogenic mycotoxins are common contaminants of agricultural commodities in South Africa and thus could be detrimental to the human immune system. Many of the cytotoxic effects of AFB₁ require its bioactivation to an epoxide, which will bind covalently to macromolecules to form protein and DNA adducts. Fumonisin B_1 is a competitive inhibitor of sphingosine and sphinganine *N* aceyltransferase, which are key components in the pathways for sphingolipid biosynthesis. Accumulation of free sphingoid bases, which are both cytotoxic and mitogenic, could provide a plausible explanation for the toxicity and carcinogenicity of FB₁. The cytotoxic effects of AFB₁ and FB₁ on normal human lymphocytes, individually and in combination were assessed using the methylthiazol tetrazolium (MTT) bioassay. Two different methods of treatment were used, the treatment of isolated normal human lymphocytes for 12, 24, 48, 72 and 96 hours and whole blood treated for 12 hours. Flow cytometry and fluorescent microscopy were used to determine whether AFB₁ and FB₁ (5 μ M and 50 μ M), individually or in combination, were capable of inducing apoptosis, necrosis or nuclear fragmentation in isolated lymphocytes and whole blood treated for 12 hours. DNA damage was evaluated using the comet assay.

The results showed that AFB₁ routinely induced higher levels of cytotoxicity in isolated lymphocytes than FB₁. In the combination treatment, the mitogenic properties of FB₁ appeared to partially counteract the cytotoxic effect exerted by AFB₁. When whole blood was treated with the same concentration and ratio of toxin, FB1 was shown to be more cytotoxic than AFB1. The combination treatment of whole blood was shown to be cytotoxic in a dose dependant manner. The toxins appeared to exert a greater cytotoxic effect, when treated in combination than individually at higher concentrations. Aflatoxin B₁ induced increased levels of apoptosis and necrosis in isolated lymphocytes while treatment with the FB₁ resulted in increased levels of apoptosis at both concentrations. Treatment with the combination also resulted in increased levels of apoptosis. The levels of apoptosis were reduced in whole blood lymphocytes when compared to isolated lymphocytes. However, treatment with AFB1 and FB1 resulted in increased levels of apoptosis. Both AFB1 and FB1 are capable of inducing nuclear fragmentation. Treatment with FB₁ (5µM and 50µM) resulted in greater degree of fragmentation than AFB₁. The most nuclear fragmentation was induced by the $5\mu M$ combination treatment. The $50\mu M$ combination treatment of isolated lymphocytes induced the most DNA damage. As both toxins are common contaminants and have been known to coexist, this could be a potential area of concern for public health.

AUTHOR'S DECLARATION

The experimental work presented in this thesis represents the original work by the author and has not been submitted in any form to any other University. Where use was made of work of others, it was duly acknowledged in the text.

The research described in this study was carried out under the supervision of Ms. R. Myburg in the Department of Physiology, Nelson R. Mandela School of Medicine, Durban, during the period of March 2002 to December 2003.

M.E van der Stok

Miss ME van der Stok

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

'No person is an island' and I am deeply indebted to several people for their contributions towards this study.

First and foremost, my family who have always been there for me, giving me the courage and support to continue when I felt like giving up. Without them, this thesis would have been impossible.

My sincere appreciation and gratitude to my supervisor, Rene Myburg, for her technical expertise throughout this study, as well as her constant support and guidance.

To Professor Anil Chuturgoon, thank you for all your encouragement, enthusiasm and assistance throughout this study. Your constructive criticism during the preparation of this manuscript is much appreciated.

Narisha Singh for her technical guidance throughout the project, particularly with the tissue culture aspect of the study.

Atishkar Ramautar for assistance with the running and analysis of the flow cytometry.

Strini Naidoo, Department of Pharmacology, for his valuable time and assistance with the Biorad Microplate Reader.

Dr Alina Marszalek and Caron Jack for their time and willingness to take blood samples whenever needed.

I would also like to thank the National Research Foundation for their financial support, which enabled me to study further.

Lastly and by no means least, I would like to express my heartfelt appreciation to all academic, non-academic, technical staff and postgraduate students in the Department of Physiology for all their encouragement, friendliness and support during this study.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TITLE PAGE	i
ABSTRACT	ü
AUTHOR'S DECLARATION	ш
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iv
TABLE OF CONTENTS	v
LIST OF FIGURES	X
LIST OF TABLES	xiii
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	xiv
CHAPTER 1	1
1.1 Objectives	2
CHAPTER 2	3
2.1 Introduction	3
2.2 Aflatoxins	4
2.2.1 Production of Aflatoxins	4
2.2.2 Structure of Aflatoxin B_1	5
2.2.3 Bioactivation of Aflatoxin B ₁	6
2.2.4 Toxic effects of Aflatoxin B ₁	9
2.2.5 Aflatoxin and the Immune Response	11

2.3 Fumonisins	
2.3.1 Production of Fumonisins	13
2.3.2 Occurrence of Fumonisin B ₁	15
2.3.3 Structure of Fumonisin B_1	16
2.3.4 Mechanism of Activation of Fumonisin B ₁	18
2.3.5 Toxic effects of Fumonisin B_1	19
2.3.6 Fumonisin B_1 and the Immune System	20
2.4 The Immune Response	21
2.5 Lymphocytes	23
2.5.1 Origin of Lymphocytes	23
2.5.2 Function of Lymphocytes	24
2.5.3 Cytokines	26
2.6 Cellular death	28
2.6.1 Apoptosis	28
2.6.2 Necrosis	29
2.6.3 Mechanisms of Apoptosis	30
2.6.3.1 Caspases	30
2.6.3.2 Surface Receptors	32
2.6.3.3 Cytochrome C (Mitochondrial pathway)	33
2.6.4 Apoptosis in Response to Cellular Injury	34
2.6.4.1 DNA Damage	34
2.6.4.2 Injury to Cell Membranes	35
2.6.4.3 Mitochondrial Injury	35
2.6.4.4 Cytotoxic T Cell Killing	35
2.6.5 Apoptosis and the Immune System	36
2.6.5.1 Developmental Apoptosis in Lymphocytes	36
2.6.5.2 Positive and Negative Selection	37
2.6.5.3 Apoptosis of Activated Lymphocytes and	37
Homeostasis of Lymphocyte Numbers	
2.6.5.4 Apoptosis Activation Pathways, Effector	37
Mechanisms and Regulation in the Immune System	L

2.7 Mechanisms of cell death induced by Aflatoxin B_1 and Fumonisin B_1 38

CHAPTER 3

3.1 Cell Culture	39
3.1.1 Cytotoxicity Testing	40
3.1.1.1 The Methylhiazol Tetrazolium (MTT) Bioassay	40
3.2 Materials and Methods	41
3.2.1 Ethical approval	41
3.2.2 Materials	41
3.2.3 Methodology	41
3.2.3.1 Preparation of Cell Culture Media	41
3.2.3.2 Environment	42
3.2.3.3 Cell Counting and Viability	42
3.2.3.4 Collection of Blood	44
3.2.3.5 Isolation of Lymphocytes	44
3.2.3.6 Preparation of the Mycotoxin Stock Solutions	45
and MTT salt	
3.2.3.7 The MTT Bioassay on Cultured Human Lymphocytes	45
3.2.3.8 The MTT Bioassay on Whole Blood	46
3.2.3.9 Statistical Analysis	46
3.3 Results and Discussion	47
3.4 Conclusion	58
CHAPTER 4	59
4.1 Flow Cytometry	59
4.1.1 Properties Measured by Flow Cytometry	59
4.1.1.1 Light Scatter	59
4.1.1.2 Fluorescence	60
4.1.2 Basic Stages of Flow Cytometry	60
4.1.2.1 Sample Extraction and Preparation	61
4.1.2.2 Labelling	61
4.1.2.3 "Single File" Flow	61
4.1.2.4 Laser Illumination	61
4.1.2.5 Fluorescence Collection and Detection	61
4.1.2.6. Data Analysis.	62
4.1.3 Detection of Apoptosis in vitro using Flow Cytometry	62

39

4.2 Materials and Methods	63
4.2.1 Materials	
4.2.2 Methods	64
4.2.2.1 Isolation of Lymphocytes	64
4.2.2.2 Treatment of Lymphocytes	64
4.2.2.3 Treatment of Whole Blood	64
4.2.2.4 Preparation of Staining Solution and Staining	64
Procedure	
4.2.2.5 Fluorescent Microscopy	65
4.2.2.6 Flow Cytometry	65
4.2.2.6.1 Instrumentation	65
4.2.2.6.2 Flow Cytometry Methodology	65
4.2.2.6.3 Data Analysis	65
4.3 Results and Discussion	66
4.4 Conclusion	73
CHAPTER 5	74
5.1 DNA Damage	74
5.1.1 The SCGE Assay	74
5.1.2 Applications of SCGE	75
5.2 Materials and Methods	77
5.2.1 Materials	77
5.2.2 Methodology	77
5.2.2.1 Isolation of Lymphocytes	77
5.2.2.2 Treatment of Lymphocytes	77
5.2.2.3 Treatment of Whole Blood	77
5.2.2.4 SCGE Assay	78
5.2.2.5 Viewing and Analysis of Slides	80
5.2.2.6 Statistical Analysis	80

viii

5.3 Results and Discussion	80
5.4 Conclusion	88
CHAPTER 6	89
6.1 Introduction	89
6.1.1 Fluorescent Microscopy	89
6.1.2 Use of Fluorescent Microscopy in the Detection of Apoptosis	90
6.2 Materials and Methods	92
6.2.1 Materials	92
6.2.2 Methodology	92
6.2.2.1 Isolation of Lymphocytes	92
6.2.2.2 Treatment of Lymphocytes	92
6.2.2.3 Treatment of Whole Blood	93
6.2.2.4 Preparation of 10% Paraformaldehyde and	93
Hoechst 33258	
6.2.2.5 Staining Procedure	93
6.2.2.6 Viewing of Slides	94
6.3 Results and Discussion	94
6.4 Conclusion	98
CHAPTER 7	99
REFERENCES	102
APPENDIX	122

LIST OF FIGURES

		Page
Figure 2.1:	Molecular structure of Aflatoxins B1, B2, G1, G2.	4
Figure 2.2:	Biotransformation pathways for AFB ₁ .	7
Figure 2.3:	Schematic representation of the role of various	8
•	biotransformation pathways in the disposition, toxicity and	
	carcinogenecity of AFB ₁ .	
Figure 2.4:	Life cycle of Fusarium verticillioides on corn.	13
Figure 2.5:	Photograph of Ear Rot.	14
Figure 2.6:	Structure of FB ₁ , Sphingodine and Sphingonine.	17
Figure 2.7:	Sphingolipid pathway.	18
Figure 2.8:	Schematic diagram of the different Host defences.	22
Figure 2.9:	Picture of whole blood.	23
Figure 2.10:	Picture of the immune response.	25
Figure 2.11:	Structural differences between necrosis and apoptosis.	30
Figure 2.12:	Formation of an apoptosome.	34
Figure 3.1:	Diagram of a haemocytometer.	43
Figure 3.2:	The isolation of lymphocyte from normal human blood using	44
	Histopaque-1077.	
Figure 3.3	Schematic diagram of the treatment of human lymphocytes	45
	with mycotoxins for the MTT assay in a 96 well plate.	
Figure 3.4:	Bar graph showing the individual and combined effect of AFB_1	48
	and FB ₁ on normal human lymphocytes after an incubation	
	period of 12 hours.	
Figure 3.5:	Bar graph showing the individual and combined effect of AFB ₁	48
	and FB_1 on normal human lymphocytes isolated after treatment	
	of whole blood with toxin for an incubation period of 12 hours.	
Figure 3.6:	Bar graph showing the individual and combined effect of AFB_1	52
	and FB_1 on normal human lymphocytes after an incubation	
	period of 24 hours.	
Figure 3.7:	Bar graph showing the individual and combined effect of AFB ₁	54
	and FB_1 on normal human lymphocytes after an incubation	
	period of 48 hours.	

Figure 3.8:	Bar graph showing the individual and combined effect of AFB ₁	55
	and FB ₁ on normal human lymphocytes after an incubation	
	period of 72 hours.	
Figure 3.9:	Bar graph showing the individual and combined effect of AFB ₁	56
	and FB ₁ on normal human lymphocytes after an incubation	
	period of 96 hours.	
Figure 4.1:	Properties of forward light scatter and side light scatter.	59
Figure 4.2:	BD FACS Calibur benchtop cytometer.	62
Figure 4.3:	Principle of the Annexin V Fluos Staining kit.	63
Figure 4.4:	Picture of 5µM Comb treated lymphocytes stained with	67
	Annexin and Propidium Iodide (400X).	
Figure 4.5:	Annexin FITC scatter plot and histogram of untreated control.	67
Figure 4.6:	Annexin FITC scatter plot and histogram of $50\mu M$	68
	.Combination treatment.	
Figure 4.7:	Annexin FITC scatter plot and histogram of untreated control.	71
Figure 4.8:	Annexin FITC scatter plot and histogram of $50\mu M$	71
	Combination treatment.	
Figure 5.1:	Schematic drawing of the SCGE assay.	79
Figure 5.2:	Untreated normal human lymphocytes (A), untreated whole	81
	blood (B) and lymphocytes extracted from untreated whole	
	blood (C).	
Figure 5.3:	$5\mu M AFB_1$ treated normal human lymphocytes (A), $5\mu M AFB_1$	81
	treated whole blood (B) and lymphocytes extracted from $5\mu M$	
	AFB ₁ treated whole blood (C).	
Figure 5.4:	$50\mu M AFB_1$ treated normal human lymphocytes (A), $50\mu M$	81
	AFB ₁ treated whole blood (B) and lymphocytes extracted from	
	$50\mu M AFB_1$ treated whole blood (C).	
Figure 5.5:	$5\mu M FB_1$ treated normal human lymphocytes (A), $5\mu M FB_1$	82
	treated whole blood (B) and lymphocytes extracted from $5\mu M$	
	FB_1 treated whole blood (C).	
Figure 5.6:	$50\mu M FB_1$ treated normal human lymphocytes (A), $50\mu M FB_1$	82
	treated whole blood (B) and lymphocytes extracted from $50\mu M$	
	FB ₁ treated whole blood (C).	

Figure 5.7:	$5\mu M$ combination treated normal human lymphocytes (A),	83
	$5\mu M$ combination treated whole blood (B) and lymphocytes	
	extracted from 5µM combination treated whole blood (C).	
Figure 5.8:	50µM combination treated normal human lymphocytes (A),	83
	50µM combination treated whole blood (B) and lymphocytes	
	extracted from 50µM combination treated whole blood (C).	
Figure 6.1:	A schematic diagram of a typical fluorescence filter setup.	90
Figure 6.2:	Molecular structure of three different Hoechst stains.	91
Figure 6.3	Untreated normal human lymphocytes (A) and whole blood	94
	(B).	
Figure 6.4:	$5\mu M AFB_1$ treated normal human lymphocytes (A) and whole	94
	blood (B).	
Figure 6.5:	$50\mu M AFB_1$ treated normal human lymphocytes (A) and whole	94
	blood (B).	
Figure 6.6:	$5\mu M FB_1$ treated normal human lymphocytes (A) and whole	95
	blood (B).	
Figure 6.7:	$50\mu M FB_1$ treated normal human lymphocytes (A) and whole	95
	blood (B).	
Figure 6.8:	$5\mu M$ combination treated normal human lymphocytes (A) and	95
	whole blood (B).	
Figure 6.9:	$50\mu M$ combination treated normal human lymphocytes (A) and	95
	whole blood (B).	

LIST OF TABLES

		Page
Table 2.1:	Carcinogenicity of AFB ₁ , depicting the dosage, period of oral	10
	exposure and tumour frequency.	
Table 2.2:	Effects of Aflatoxin on Immune functions.	11
Table 2.3:	Occurrence of FB_1 in foods and feeds.	15
Table 2.4:	Classes of lymphocytes.	24
Table 2.5:	Functions and Examples of selected cytokines.	27
Table 3.1	Summary of the cytotoxic effects of AFB1 and FB1,	58
	individually and in combination on isolated normal human	
	lymphocytes and lymphocytes extracted from treated whole	
	blood.	
Table 4.1:	The percentage viable, apoptotic and necrotic cells in untreated	68
	and treated cultured human lymphocytes.	
Table 4.2:	The percentage viable, apoptotic and necrotic cells in untreated	72
	and treated whole blood, followed by extraction of	
	lymphocytes.	
Table 5.1:	The tail distance of normal human lymphocytes, whole blood	84
	and lymphocytes extracted from whole blood which have been	
	treated with AFB_1 and FB_1 , individually and in combination.	

LIST OF ABREVIATIONS

AFB ₁ :	Aflatoxin B ₁
ALS:	Alkali liable sites
APAF:	Apoptotic protease activating factor
BAX:	Bcl-2 associated protein
BCL-2:	B cell lymphoma/leukemia gene
CCM:	Complete culture medium
CD:	Cell domain
CO ₂ :	Carbon dioxide
CTL:	Cytotoxic T lymphocyte
DFF:	DNA fragmention factor
DISC:	Death initiating signalling complex
DMSO:	Dimethyl sulfoxide
DNA:	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DSB:	Double stranded DNA breaks
EDTA:	Ethidium diamine tetra acetate
ELEM:	Equine leukoencephalomalacia
FADD:	Fas associated death domain
FB ₁ :	Fumonisin B ₁
FCS:	Foetal calf serum
FLICE:	Fas activated protein like ICE
GST:	Glutiathione-S-transferase
HBSS:	Hank's balanced salt solution
HCC:	Hepatocellular carcinoma
HET-1A:	Human oesphageal epithelial cells
HL cells:	Helen Langer cells
IARC:	International agency for research on cancer
ICE:	Interleukin-1 β converting enzyme
IL:	Interleukin
LMPA:	Low melting point agarose
MDCK:	Modin Darby canine kidney cells
MTT salt:	Methylthiazol tetrazolium salt
Na ₂ EDTA:	Disodium ethidium diamine tetra acetate

NaCL:	Sodium chloride
NaOH:	Sodium hydroxide
PBS:	Phosphate buffered saline
PI:	Propidium iodide
PS:	Phosphatidyl serine
RPMI:	Rosewell Park Memorial Institute
SCGE:	Single cell gel electrophoresis
SK:	Swine kidney cells
SSB:	Single stranded breaks
TCR:	T cell receptor
TNF:	Tumour necrosis factor
UDS:	Unscheduled DNA synthesis
USA:	United States of America

CHAPTER 1 Introduction

Mycotoxins have been defined as low molecular weight secondary metabolites of certain filamentous fungi, which when ingested, inhaled, or absorbed through the skin cause lowered performance, sickness or death in man and animals (Pitt, 1996). Currently there are over 300 mycotoxins that have been reported. There is also ample evidence that the inhabitants of sub-Saharan Africa are experiencing heavy dietary exposure to food-borne mycotoxins, particularly aflatoxins and fumonisins (Bankole and Adebanjo, 2003).

Parts of South Africa have a tropical climate with all year round high ambient temperature and relative humidity that provide optimal condition for the growth of toxigenic fungi. The subregion also has poorly developed infrastructures such as processing facilities, storage, transportation and skilled human resources. According to the World Development Report (1993), diseases caused by mycotoxins lead to reduced life expectancy in developing countries. In several parts of Africa, the need to eat outweighs other considerations such as food safety and as such, this has made food-borne intoxications a serious problem in many parts (Miller, 1996).

According to Miller (1996), 40% of the productivity lost to diseases in developing countries is due to diseases exacerbated by aflatoxins. Regrettably, many of the people in the affected regions are not even aware of the effect of consuming fungal contaminated products. Due to the poor education levels and other socio-economic factors, even if steps are taken to make food products safe, the consumers will be unwilling to pay the extra costs and will still prefer to buy the cheaper commodities (Bankole and Adebanjo, 2003).

Mycotoxins have attracted worldwide attention due to the significant losses associated with their impact on human and animal health and consequent economic implications. Losses from rejected shipments and lower prices for inferior quality can devastate developing country export markets. Costs to farmers include reduced income from outright food or feed losses and lower selling prices for contaminated commodities. The economic impact on livestock production includes mortality as well as reductions in productivity, gain, feed efficiency, fertility and ability to resist disease (Ramesh and Vasanthi, 2003).

1

The toll of the effects on human health includes the cost of mortality and the cost of morbidity. There is the cost of productive capacity lost when people die prematurely. There are losses resulting from hospitalisation and the cost of health care services, both public and private. Finally, there is the intangible cost of pain, suffering, anxiety and reduction of the quality of life (Ramesh and Vasanthi, 2003).

Thus the united efforts of researchers from a broad research field, with culminated ideas from disciplines like molecular biology, biochemistry, physiology, microbiology, botany and basic science, are crucial for a more coherent picture of these mycotoxins and their mode of actions in human and animal systems.

1.1 Objectives

Two mycotoxins were selected for this study, Aflatoxin B_1 (AFB₁) and Fumonisin B_1 (FB₁); due to their wide spread contamination of agricultural commodities in South Africa and subsequently could prove to be detrimental to the human immune system. The objectives of this study were to determine:

- The cytotoxicity of AFB₁ and FB₁, individually and in combination, on normal human lymphocytes
- The genotoxicity of AFB₁ and FB₁
- The apoptotic inducing ability of AFB₁ and FB₁, individually or in combination.

CHAPTER 2

Literature review

Man's knowledge of the more unpleasant microbial activities in his environment has often stemmed from the occurrence of such natural disasters as epidemics of bacterial, fungal, protozoal or viral diseases (Austwick, 1975).

2.1 Introduction

Throughout history it has been shown conclusively that several species of bacteria, protozoa and viruses are extremely hazardous to man. In recent years, fungi have attracted considerable interest from scientists as they produce toxic secondary metabolites, known as mycotoxins, during growth on substrates destined as food for man or animals. When ingested, inhaled or absorbed through the skin, mycotoxins cause lowered performance, sickness or death in man and animals, including birds (Pitt, 1996).

In 1989, it was estimated that 25% of the world's annual crops were affected by mycotoxins. This equates to a direct cost of billions of rands due to loss of crops and animals. In addition, the hidden indirect costs of monitoring the level of mycotoxins in crops as well as the decreased performance of farm animals that ingest contaminated food containing mycotoxins must be taken into account (Trail, 1995).

Many species of fungi from a wide range of taxa are known to be toxigenic. Current research, has been focussed on the genera *Aspergillus*, *Penicillium* and *Fusarium* because each contains several toxigenic species of importance in many parts of the world (Moss and Smith, 1985).

2.2 Aflatoxins

2.2.1 Production of Aflatoxins

The most significant species of the genus *Aspergillus* are *Aspergillus flavus* and *Aspergillus parasiticus*, which are primarily responsible for the production of aflatoxins. Aflatoxins were first identified as aetiological agents for animals in the 1960s, when ducklings, calves and approximately 100 000 turkeys died from ingesting contaminated peanut meal. Microscopical examination of the deadly meal revealed indisputable evidence that prior to or during harvesting and processing it had been contaminated by a fungus. The fungus was then isolated and identified as a highly toxic strain of *A. flavus*, along with its alcohol-extractable toxins that became known as aflatoxins (Asplin and Carnaghan, 1961).

The fungi belonging to the genus *Aspergilli*, are ubiquitous and grow on a variety of agricultural products. When growing under conditions of temperature (27°C) and a high relative humidity (85%), which normally prevail in tropical climates, almost any food commodity can be contaminated with aflatoxins. Aflatoxins mainly contaminate moist grain and nut products, but have also been found routinely in maize and cottonseed meal. They have also been found in cocoa, fishmeal, milk, cheese, rice, coconut, cassava, peas, cottonseed, corn, potatoes, peanuts, pistachios, wheat, cured hams, sausages and soybeans (Bennett and Christensen, 1983).

Aspergillus species are known as storage fungi because they invade stored food products, but the fungus can also invade pre-harvest crops. Conditions for toxin production are much narrower than those for growth. In general, production of aflatoxins is affected by a variety of parameters including dissemination of the fungus, predisposing stresses on the host plant, cultivation techniques, insect damage, plant variety, weather (moisture/drought) and the type and duration of the storage conditions of the fruit or vegetable (Sinz and Shier, 1991).

Many substances can affect both fungal growth and aflatoxin production when present in the growth medium. Most of these compounds inhibit toxin production by inhibiting fungal growth, but a limited number of substances do exert their effects directly on aflatoxin production. For example organophosphates inhibit aflatoxin production by blocking certain steps in the biosynthetic pathway. The nitrogen source can also be an important factor in toxin production (Ellis *et al.*, 1991).

4

2.2.2 Structure of Aflatoxins

Aflatoxins are derived from acetate-malonate condensation and are therefore known as acetogenins or polyketide derivatives. The four major naturally occurring aflatoxins are known as aflatoxin B_1 , B_2 , G_1 and G_2 (Figure 2.1). The blue and green fluorescent colours produced by these compounds under ultraviolet light illumination are referred to as 'B' and 'G' respectively, while the subscript numbers 1 and 2 are used to indicate the relative position of the compounds on the thin layer chromatography plates (Sinz and Shier, 1991).



Figure 2.1: Molecular structure of Aflatoxins B1, B2, G1, G2 (Prescott et al., 1996).

Aflatoxins contain a coumarin nucleus fused to a bisdihydrofurano moiety present in a cis fashion and to either a five membered lactone for aflatoxin B_1 (AFB₁) and aflatoxin B_2 (AFB₂) or a six membered lactone for aflatoxin G_1 (AFG₁) and aflatoxin G_2 (AFG₂). Aflatoxin B_2 and AFG₂ are the 15, 16-dihydro derivatives of AFB₁ and AFG₁ respectively. Other derivatives of AFB₁ and AFB₂ include aflatoxin M_1 and aflatoxin M_2 , which are found in milk products from several species including cattle, as well as mouldy peanuts and corn. The relative proportions of the four major aflatoxins produced by *Aspergillus* cultures vary with both the genetic constitution of the fungi and with the environmental parameters associated with fungal growth (Sinz and Shier, 1991). Aflatoxin B₁ is the major metabolite produced by aflatoxigenic strains. *Aspergillus flavus* isolates usually produce only B aflatoxins and less than 50% of isolates are toxigenic, while *A. parasiticus* isolates produce both G and B aflatoxins and are invariably toxigenic (Bennett and Christensen, 1983).

2.2.3 Bioactivation of Aflatoxin B₁

Aflatoxin B_1 is the most prevalent, potently cytotoxic and carcinogenic of the aflatoxins. Of the toxic actions associated with AFB₁ exposure, the most serious are mutagenicity and carcinogenicity, which have been linked to metabolic activation of the molecule. Garner *et al.* (1972) were the first to show that metabolic activation of the AFB₁ is necessary for mutagenic activity. The mutagenicity and carcinogenicity of AFB₁ are believed to result from the activation of AFB₁ to the AFB₁-8, 9-epoxide, the ultimate mutagen/carcinogen (Figure 2.2) (Essigmann *et al.*, 1982). The 8-9 epoxide has not been isolated from biological systems due to its reactivity.

It has been demonstrated categorically that AFB_1 itself is not mutagenic, nor does it bind covalently to macromolecules such as DNA in the absence of a bioactivation system (Hecht and Trushin, 1988). Since bioactivation of AFB_1 is required for carcinogenicity, much attention has focussed on the biotransformation of this naturally occurring mycotoxin. However the major DNA adduct formed *in vitro* and *in vivo* in the presence of an activation system is 8, 9-dihydro-8-(N⁷-gaunyl)-9-hydroxy AFB_1 (AFB_1 gaunine) (Essigmann *et al.*, 1982; Harrison and Garner, 1991; Ball *et al.*, 1990). Thus, independent of the species or tissue under investigation, activation of AFB_1 to the 8,9 epoxide is an absolute requirement for AFB_1 to manifest its mutagenic, carcinogenic and DNA-binding actions.

The initial metabolism of AFB_1 can involve four types of reactions: O-dealkylation, hydroxylation, epoxidation or ketoreduction (Figure 2.2). While the reduction of AFB_1 to aflatoxicol is believed to be catalysed by a cytosolic NADPH-dependent reductase, the other reactions are primarily carried out by a cytochrome P450 (P450) dependent polysubstrate monooxygenase enzyme superfamily. However other activation systems can play a role (Massey *et al.*, 1995).

Cytochrome P450 is the principal enzyme system involved in the oxidative biotransformation of AFB₁. This conclusion is based on the following observations:

- 1. Molecular oxygen and NADPH are required for metabolism in vitro.
- 2. The extent of microsomal activation is altered following treatment with P450 inducers (e.g. phenobarbital).
- 3. Inhibitors of P450 e.g. cobalt chloride, carbon monoxide inhibit microsomal activation.
- 4. Susceptibility of animals to AFB₁-induced hepatocarcinogenesis is affected by treatment with P450 inducers and inhibitors.

- 5. AFB₁ is activated in systems containing purified P450, NADPH cytochrome P450 reductase, NADPH and phospholipids.
- 6. Antibodies against P450 isoform inhibit activation catalysed by microsomes or purified P450.
- 7. Systems which express the cDNA of P450 isoforms are capable of AFB₁ activation

(Hecht and Trushin, 1988; Busby and Wogan, 1984; Essigmann et al., 1982; Shimada and Guengerich, 1989; Aoyama et al., 1990; Crespi et al., 1991).



Figure 2.2: Biotransformation pathways for Aflatoxin B₁ (Eaton and Groopman, 1994).

In addition to the recognised pathways of aflatoxin bioactivation, metabolic detoxification of aflatoxins and their relative metabolites have also been demonstrated. An important detoxification mechanism involves the conjugation of the reactive epoxides with glutathione (GSH) (Figure 2.3). The conjugation of GSH is an important reaction in determining the susceptibility of different species to the toxic effects of AFB_1 (Hayes *et al.*, 1991).

As shown schematically in Figure 2.3, the fate of AFB_1 is dependent on the relative activity of several biotransformation pathways, in addition to other factors such as DNA repair rates. The amount of the mycotoxin that is going to exert carcinogenic or toxic effects will depend on the amount converted to various metabolites, as well as on the biological activity of those metabolites (Eaton and Groopman, 1994).



Figure 2.3: Schematic representation of the role of various biotransformation pathways in the disposition, toxicity and carcinogenecity of Aflatoxin B₁ (Eaton and Groopman, 1994).

2.2.4 Toxic effects of Aflatoxin B₁

The role of aflatoxins as human carcinogens has been under investigation ever since the realisation that liver cancer incidence is high in regions with high endemic aflatoxin concentrations and the extreme potency of these mycotoxins as carcinogens was established in laboratories. It is estimated that 250 000 deaths occur annually in certain parts of China and sub-Saharan Africa due to hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC). The major factors that contribute to this high rate of HCC are aflatoxin ingestion and hepatitis B virus infection (Massey *et al.*, 1995). Aflatoxins are carcinogenic, as expressed by the International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC), which concluded in 1987 that there is sufficient evidence for the carcinogenicity of aflatoxins to humans (International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC), 1987).

The liver is the primary target in many different animal species (hepato-carcinogenic) (Ellis *et al.*, 1991). Of the aflatoxins AFB₁ is the most carcinogenic, the most frequently occurring and the most potent hepatocarcinogen to rats and mice (Massey *et al.*, 1995). Mixtures of aflatoxins and AFB₁ have been tested extensively for carcinogenicity by various routes of administration in several species. Species tested include various strains of mice (Dix, 1984), rats (Hertzog *et al.*, 1980), hamsters (Moore *et al.*, 1982), several strains of fish (Curtis *et al.*, 1995), ducks (Cova *et al.*, 1990), tree shrews (Li *et al.*, 1999) and monkeys (Adamson *et al.*, 1976).

Following their oral administration, mixtures of aflatoxins and AFB₁ caused hepatocellular and/or cholangiocellular liver tumours, including carcinomas, in all species tested except mice (Ellis *et al.*, 1991). In rats, renal-cell tumours and a low incidence of tumours at other sites, including the colon, were also found. In monkeys, liver angiosarcomas, osteogenic sarcomas and adenocarcinomas of the gall bladder and pancreas developed, in addition to hepatocellular and cholangiocellular carcinomas (Adamson *et al.*, 1976). In adult mice, AFB₁ administered intraperitoneally increased the incidence of lung adenomas. Intraperitoneal administration of AFB₁ to infant mice, adult rats and toads produced high incidences of liver-cell tumours in all of these species (Jennings *et al.*, 1994). Subcutaneous injection of AFB₁ resulted in local sarcomas in rats. Intraperitoneal administration of AFB₁ to rats during pregnancy and lactation induced benign and malignant tumours in mothers and their progeny in the liver and in various other organs, including those of the digestive tract, the urogenital system and the central and peripheral nervous systems (Raisudden *et al.*, 1990). Exposure of fish embryos to AFB₁ induced a high incidence of hepatocellular adenomas and carcinomas (Curtis *et al.*, 1995).

In several species, AFB_1 administered by different routes induced foci of altered hepatocytes, the number and size of which was correlated with later development of hepatocellular adenomas and carcinomas. Aflatoxins in general and AFB_1 in particular are known to cause cancer in different animal species as shown in Table 2.1 (Ellis *et al.*, 1991).

Table 2.1: Carcinogenicity of Aflatoxin B ₁ , depicting the dosage,	period of	f oral	exposure
and tumour frequency (Ellis <i>et al.</i> , 1991).			

	Dose per kg body	Pariad of appacura	Tumour frequency
	weight	renou of exposure	(%)
Duck	30µg	14 months	8/11 (72%)
Trout	8µg	1 year	27/65 (40%)
Monkey	100 - 800 mg	2 years	3/42 (7%)
Rat	100µg	54 – 88 weeks	28/28 (100%)
Mice	150µg	80 weeks	0/60 (0%)

In addition to being present in foodstuffs, AFB_1 can contaminate respirable grain dust and thus the respiratory system is a potential target for carcinogenesis (Daniels and Massey, 1992). To study the potential effects of AFB_1 in the upper airways, the metabolism of AFB_1 was investigated in tracheal cultures and purified tracheal cultures and purified tracheal microsomes from rabbit, hamster and rat. Ball and Coulombe (1991) concluded that the rabbit upper airway epithelium contains metabolic activity primarily involved in AFB_1 bioactivation, whereas AFB_1 detoxification pathways predominate in the hamster.

The mutagenic properties of different aflatoxins were assessed using a modification of the Ames test with *Salmonella typhimurium*. It was found that AFM₁ and AFB₁ had specific mutagenic activites of 13 and 121 revertants/ng respectively (Bujons *et al.*, 1995). The cytotoxic properties of compounds can be assessed using the MTT-cell culture assay. Aflatoxin B₁ was used in the MTT test using different cell types. In swine kidney (SK) cells, Madin-Darby canine kidney (MDCK) cells and Henrietta Lacks (HeLa) cells, AFB₁ was found to be cytotoxic at the following levels: $50\mu g/ml$ to SK cells, $>200\mu g/ml$ to MDCK cells and $25\mu g/ml$ to Hela cells (Hanelt *et al.*, 1994).

2.2.5 Aflatoxin and the Immune Response

Aflatoxins, besides adversely affecting several vital processes, possess an immunosuppressive property. Prolonged immunosuppression renders animals and humans extremely susceptible to infection and even to cancer (Ray *et al.*, 1987a; Ray *et al.*, 1987b; Raisudden *et al.*, 1990). Aflatoxins have previously demonstrated their immunotoxic effects in birds (Giambrone *et al.*, 1981); pigs (Panagala *et al.*, 1986); horses (Angsubhakaran *et al.*, 1981); mice (Galikeev *et al.*, 1968) and rats (Ellis *et al.*, 1991). Some of the immunological responses evoked by the aflatoxins are summarised in Table 2.2. It has been observed that birds and swine are the most sensitive species for aflatoxin immunotoxicity (Giambrone *et al.*, 1981; Panagala *et al.*, 1986). Both cellular and humoral immune responses are affected by aflatoxin treatment. However it is believed that cellular immunity is more severely hampered than the humoral one (Giambrone *et al.*, 1981). It has also been shown that aflatoxin exposure results in decreased resistance against pathogenic organisms such as bacteria, fungi and viruses (Hamilton *et al.*, 1971; Pier *et al.*, 1972).

11.10.000			Te add	
Parameter	Species	Dose	Effect	
Cell mediated immunity	Chicken	2.5 ppm	Impaired	Giambrone <i>et al.</i> , 1981
	Pig	300 500	Impaired	Panagala et al., 1986
Humoral immunity	Chicken	2.5 ppm	Impaired	Giambrone et al., 1981
	Pig	300 500	Impaired	Panagala et al., 1986
Complement activity	Chicken	0.625-10ppm	Impaired	Hamilton et al., 1971
	Pig	300 500ppm	Impaired	Panagala et al., 1986
Resistance against	Chicken	0.625-10ppm	Reduced	Hamilton et al., 1971
pathogens	Pig	300 500ppm	Reduced	Panagala et al., 1986
Lymphocyte population	Pig	300 500ppm	Depleted	Panagala et al., 1986
	Horse	not detected	Depleted	Angsubhakaran et al., 1981
Antibody production	Chicken	2.5ppm	Reduced	Giambrone et al., 1981
	Mouse	30-700ppm	Reduced	Reddy et al., 1983
			IgG, IgM	
Lymphocyte	Mouse	30-700ppm	Reduced	Reddy et al., 1983
transformation	Cow	0.25 µg/ml	Reduced	Bodine et al., 1984
	Human	0.5-2.0 μg/ml	Reduced	Aleksandrowicz et al., 1974
Phagocytosis	Chicken	0.625-10 ppm	Reduced	Chang et al., 1979
	Rat	70-700µg/ kg bw	Reduced	Raisudden et al., 1990
Tumour challenge	Mouse	70 -700µg/ kg bw	Enhanced	Raisudden et al., 1990
			mortality	,
Vaccination	Turkey	0.25-0.5 ppm	Enhanced	Pier et al., 1970; Pier et
	<u> </u>		mortality	al.,1972

Table 2.2: Effects of Aflatoxin B₁ on Immune functions.

Further detailed studies on the immunological responses of AFB₁ at cellular and subcellular levels have been undertaken. One of the ways that the immunotoxic effects of a compound can be determined is by investigating the effect of the compound on the production of Interleukin (IL-)-2 and IL-5. The influence of AFB₁ was measured by incubating the thymona cell line with various concentrations. It was shown that AFB₁ did not affect IL-2 or IL-5 production at concentrations up to $10\mu g/ml$ (Marin *et al.*, 1996). The respiratory tract cilia represent one of the most important biological barriers between human organs and the environment. It has been shown by Jesenska and Bernat (1994) that AFB₁ inhibits movement after 6 days at a concentration of $30\mu g/l$. Aflatoxin B₂ and AFM₁ were almost as effective as AFB₁, while much less ciliostatically effective were AFG₁ and AFG₂.

In humans AFB₁, AFB₂, AFG₁, AFG₂ have proven to have significant mitogenic effects on human T₄ lymphocytes, while no adverse reactions were seen upon administration of doses of 10, 50, 100 μ g on a modest clinical basis to volunteers (Griffiths *et al.*, 1996). Aflatoxin B₁ induced inhibition of phagocytosis of Kuppfer cells at concentrations as low as 0.01 pg/ml. The metabolites AFQ₁ and AFM₁ have similar effects on phagocytosis, but were less potent than AFB₁ (Cusumano *et al.*, 1995). When rat bone marrow cells were exposed to AFB₁ at a concentration of 1mg/kg body weight, approximately 1/5 of the LD₅₀ for young male rats, granulopoietic toxicity was observed. There were also changes in the production of humoral regulatory factors involved in the granulopoietic development pathway. The granulopoietic activity was preceded by an increased colony stimulating activity and interleukin formation and elevated interleukin synthesis and increased T-cell activation paralleled the peak in granulopoietic activity (Cukrova *et al.*, 1992).

2.3 Fumonisins

2.3.1 Production of Fumonisins

Fumonisins are a well-known group of mycotoxins produced by *Fusarium verticillioides* and to a lesser extent by *F. proliferatum*, *F. anthophilum* and *F. subglutinans*. Several other *Fusarium* species also produce fumonisins (Gelderblom *et al.*, 1988). *Fusarium moniliforme* (now known as *F. verticillioides*) is a non-obligate pathogen which is not host specific. Thus, the fungus has been sometimes found in sorghum, wheat, cotton, beans, tomatoes, peanuts, bananas, soybean, green peppers and several forages. However, almost 90% of contamination by the fungus is found in maize (MacKenzie *et al.*, 1998). The life cycle of the fungus, which is found in maize, is composed of a saprophytic stage and a parasitic stage, as shown in Figure 2.4.



Figure 2.4: Life cycle of Fusarium verticillioides on corn (Fumonisin Home page).

During the saprophytic stage, *F. verticilliodes* can obtain nutrients from non-living tissues such as dried tissues, thereby producing infective structures for disease establishment. On the other hand, during the parasitic stage, the fungus mostly gets nutrients from living host cells after intracellular colonisation. Usually, most non-obligate pathogens kill their host cells in advance of infection and then obtain nutrients from the non-living tissues. Disease symptoms and death of maize plants, which may not be common causes of the parasitic stage, are responsible for most of the economic losses on corn. Several major diseases causing the economic losses are attributed to *F. verticilliodes* inducing seedling blight, stalk rot, ear rot (Figure 2.5), root rot and seed rot. The highest amounts of fumonisins are occurring in disease tissues as evidenced by the high concentrations occurring in maize screenings, which often include the shattered maize by the diseases (Moss and Smith, 1985).



Figure 2.5: Photograph of Ear Rot (Fusarium Ear Rot).

2.3.2. Occurrence of Fumonisin B₁

Fumonisins, unlike other mycotoxins are not restricted to certain countries. They have been found in all continents of the world, thus indicating that their prevalence is not climate dependent (Table 2.3). Egypt and the European countries showed high levels of the toxin in healthy and plain maize (Sydenham *et al.*, 1991; Doko *et al.*, 1995). Blue and yellow maize meal showed highest levels of fumonisins in the USA. Puffed maize had a very high level of the toxin in Italy (Doko and Visconti, 1994). The Far East countries had high levels of fumonisin in maize kernels (Ueno *et al.*, 1993). Studies of maize from the Transkei (Sydenham *et al.*, 1990) where Equine leukoencephalomalacia was found to occur showed the highest levels of the toxin in plain maize. In Sardinia ear rot maize showed an extremely high level of the toxin (Bottalico *et al.*, 1995).

Commodity	Country	Average Conc. μg/kg (ppb)	Reference
Maize			
Healthy	Egypt	2 380	Sydenham et al., 1991
	Transkei	1 530	Rheeder et al., 1992;
		1 600	Sydenham et al., 1990
	USA	1 048	Sydenham et al., 1991
Flour	China	100	Ueno et al., 1993
Plain	European country	3 500	Doko et al., 1995
	Zambia	1 710	Doko et al., 1995
	Italy	2 250	Logrieco et al., 1995
	Transkei	1 990	Rheeder et al., 1992
	South Africa	+ tve	Dutton et al., 1994
Meal (blue)	USA	8 484	Pestka et al., 1994
Meal (yellow)	USA	5 824	Pestka et al., 1994
	USA	1 050	Sydenham et al, 1990
	Peru	660	Sydenham et al., 1991
	South Africa	138	Sydenham et al., 1991
Rice	Japan	500	Ueno et al., 1993
Tortilla/popcorn	USA	1410	Hopmans <i>et al.</i> , 1993
Puffed maize	Italy	61 000	Doko and Visconti, 1994
Kernels	Mozambique		
	Botswana	20	Doko et al., 1995
	Malawi		
	China	6 800	Ueno et al., 1993
	USA		
	South Africa	1600	Ueno et al., 1993
	Argentina		
Pre-harvest	Sardinia	250 000	Bottalico et al., 1995
Seeds	France	5 000	Logrieco et al., 1995

Table 2.3: Occurrence of Fumonisin B_1 in foods and feeds.

2.3.3 Structure of Fumonisin B₁

Fumonisins are group of toxins characterised by an aminopolyol eciosane backbone and two tricarballylic acid esters (Musser et al., 1996). To date six fumonisins have been identified and purified, namely Fumonisin A1, A2 and Fumonisin B1, B2, B3, B4. Of these the most important fumonisin with regard to health risks is FB1 (Cawood et al., 1991). In 1988, Gelderblom et al first isolated FB1 and FB2 from cultures of F. moniliforme MRC 826 from South Africa. Buizenhout et al., (1988) later elucidated the structures of FB₁ and FB₂. Fumonisin B₁ is the 2-amino-12,16-dimethyl-3,5,10,14,15of propane-1,2,3-tricarboxylic acid and diester pentahydroxyicosane, in which the C14 and C15 hydroxyl groups are esterified with one of the terminal carboxyl groups of the tricarboxylic acid (Figure 2.6). The presence of a free amino group and four free carboxyl groups means the fumonisins are strongly polar and water soluble. They are also soluble in methanol and acetonitrile/water but are not soluble in non-polar solvents (Scott and Lawrence, 1992).

The fumonisins can be heat stable but temperatures greater than 150°C for 1 hr may reduce fumonisin levels. Fumonisin B1 is stable during most types of processing. Dry milling of maize results in the distribution of FB1 into the bran, germ and flour. Fumonisin B1 is stable in polenta (maize porridge). However, the concentration of FB₁ is reduced during the manufacture of cornstarch by wet milling, since FB₁ is water-soluble. A number of factors make it difficult to extract FB1 from processed food (Bullerman and Tsai, 1994; Scott and Lawrence, 1995; Norred et al., 1998 ;). Nixtamalization [calcium hydroxide processing], is a traditional processing step used to manufacture tortilla flour. This process followed by ammoniation lead to hydrolysed FB₁ and aminopentol respectively. These treatments reduce the fumonisin content, while increasing the concentration of hydrolysed fumonisins, which are almost as toxic as unmodified fumonisins (Norred et al., 1992; Kuiper Goodman et al., 1995). During ethanol fermentations, fumonisins tend to be concentrated in the distilled dried grain, which is used for animal feed, but are not found in the ethanol. The formation of Schiff's bases between primary amines of FBs and reducing sugars (glucose or fructose) allows the fumonisins to transform into non-harmful non-enzymatic browning products. The similarity of FB₁ to sphingosine (Figure 2.6) has led to the hypothesis that the toxicity of fumonisins is mediated by impaired sphingosine metabolism (Wang et al., 1991).





2.3.4 Mechanism of Action of Fumonisin B₁

Fumonisins structurally resemble some sphingoid bases such as sphinganine, an intermediate in the biosynthesis of complex sphingolipids. As a result fumonisins act as inhibitors of ceramide synthetase (N-Acyltransferase), a key enzyme involved in *de novo* sphingolipid biosynthesis and in the reacylation of free sphingoid bases derived from sphingolipid turnover (Di Bartolomo *et al.*, 2000). The site of inhibition by FB₁ is shown in Figure 2.7



Figure 2.7: Sphingolipid pathway (Wang et al., 1999).

The inhibitory effect exerted by FB₁ leads to accumulation of free sphinganine and sphingosine in the cells. These highly bioactive molecules play key roles in protein kinase activity, cell growth and differentiation, carcinogenicity and programmed cell death. This results in disturbances in cellular processes such as cell growth, cell differentiation, endothelial cell permeability and apoptosis. Inhibition of biosynthesis of sphingolipids is seen at different levels of the process and is reflected in changes of the ratio sphinganine/ sphingosine (Wang *et al.*, 1999). In addition, several studies have suggested the involvement of lipid peroxidation or an increase in oxygen transport in FB₁ cytotoxicity, as well as the activation of some well known apoptotic pathways (Sakakura *et al.*, 1996; Sweeney *et al.*, 1996; Schmelz *et al.*, 1998).

2.3.5 Toxic effects of Fumonisin B₁

Fumonisin B_1 is poorly absorbed but rapidly distributed and eliminated in many animal species including laying hens, swine, cows, rats, mice and non-human primates (Prelusky *et al.*, 1994). However a small but persistent pool of FB₁ or its metabolites appears to be retained in the liver and kidney. It has been shown that FB₁ is not transferred through the placenta, or into the milk in several animal species (Collins *et al.*, 1998b).

Fumonisin B_1 has a low acute oral toxicity in several animal species (Eriksen and Alexander, 1998). In addition to the studies with rodents, pigs and horses, there have been several subacute toxicity studies performed with animal species such as poultry, rabbits, hamsters, non-human primates, lambs and cattle. Many of the studies used contaminated feed rather than pure FB₁ (Kuiper Goodman 1995). The major target organs are the liver and kidney in most animals but particularly in the rat and mouse. For the rat, whether the kidney or liver is the most sensitive organ, depends on the strain or gender (Gelderblom *et al.*, 1996).

Although most animals' species show at certain dose levels nephrotoxic and hepatotoxic effects, the most relevant effect of FB₁ in pigs is the porcine pulmonary oedema syndrome, which is characterised by dyspnoea, weakness, cyanosis and death (Gumprecht *et al.*, 1998). In horses and ponies, FB₁ has been implicated in a fatal neurotoxic syndrome known as equine leukoencephalomalacia (ELEM) (Kellerman *et al.*, 1990). Equine leukoencephalomalacia is characterised by the presence of liquefactive necrotic lesions in the white matter of the cerebrum. The first symptoms of ELEM are lethargy and head pressing, followed by the convulsions, ataxia and death after several days (Kellerman *et al.*, 1990).

Epidemiological studies performed in South Africa and China revealed that there might be a correlation between the intake of fumonisin B_1 and increased oesophageal cancer in humans (Mackenzie *et al.*, 1997). However similar studies performed in Italy did not establish any correlation between the intake of FB₁ and the oesophageal cancer incidence (Pascale *et al.*, 1995). As a result in 1993, the IARC evaluated FB₁ and classified it in Group 2B: "possible carcinogenic to humans." It was concluded that there was inadequate evidence in humans for carcinogenicity. The available studies are inconclusive and no quantitative data enabling a risk assessment on human data is possible (IARC, 1993).

On the basis of negative genotoxicity data from experiments covering several endpoints including the Ames test and *in vitro* and *in vivo* UDS assays (Norred *et al.*, 1992) and positive results in a non-validated type of bacteria test (Sun and Stahr, 1993). A very limited *in vitro* study was undertaken, in which chromosomal aberration and micronucleus tests were tested (Knasmüller *et al.*, 1997), the overall conclusion is that there is no adequate evidence that FB_1 is genotoxic.

2.3.6 Fumonisin B₁ and the Immune System

A study has shown reduced thymus weight, thymus necrosis and elevated immunoglobin M (IgM) in rats after intraperitoneal administration of 7.5mg/ FB_1/kg body weight for 4 days (Eriksen and Alexander, 1998).

Tryphonas *et al.* (1997) studied the effects of FB₁ in the immune system of Sprague-Dawly rats. Groups of rats (15/sex/group) were gavaged daily for 14 days with doses of 0, 5, 15 and 25 mg/ FB₁/kg bw and the primarily IgM response to sheep expressed as plaque- forming cell number/ 10^6 spleen monuclear leukocytes, PFC/10⁶ splenocytes and PFC/ spleen was determined. There was a significant dose related linear trend toward decreased PFC/ 10^6 spenocytes and pFC/ spleen in the male rats. Body weights were significantly reduced in male rats administered 15 and 25mg FB₁/kg bw.

There was a significant dose-related increase in *Listeria monocytogenes* number in spleen at 24 hours post infection also indicating decreased immune function. There was a weakly significant dose-related increase in immunoglobulin class G_1 (Ig G_1). There was no effect seen on organ weights, haematology, mitogen-induced leukocyte transformation, calcium mobilisation, killer cell activity and phagocytosis.

Martinova *et al.* (1998) showed that both sphingomyelin cycle products and FB_1 affect the T lymphocyte surface antigen expression, disrupt the balance between different subpopulations of lymphocytes, inhibit DNA synthesis in normal lymphocytes and suppress an immune response to T-dependent antigens *in vivo*.

2.4 The Immune Response

All vertebrates, including humans are continuously exposed to products such as microorganisms, their own metabolic products, or other foreign macromolecules that can cause disease. Immunity refers to the particular ability of the host to resist a particular disease. The immune response that results is a specific and complex series of defensive actions widely distributed throughout the animal's body (Figure 2.8). Each particular immune response is a unique local sequence of events, shaped by the nature of the challenge (Prescott *et al.*, 1996).

Non-specific resistance refers to those general mechanisms inherited as part of the innate structure and function of each animal. These act in concert as the first line of defence against infectious microorganisms, their products or foreign macromolecules before they cause disease. The various non-specific defence mechanisms include biological barriers (inflammation, phagocytosis), chemical barriers (enzymatic action, interferons) and general barriers, such as fever and physical barriers (skin, mucous membranes) (Reeves and Todd, 1996).

If non-specific defences are breached, specific immunity (the immune response) is called upon to protect the host. This system consists of several immunological mechanisms in which lymphocytes recognise the presence of particular foreign agents termed antigens and act to eliminate them. Elimination can occur by direct lymphocyte destruction of the antigens, or by formation of specialised proteins called antibodies that either disrupt antigen function or target the antigen for destruction by other cells (Reeves and Todd, 1996).

Acquired immunity refers to the type of specific immunity a host develops after exposure to a suitable antigen, or after transfer of antibodies or lymphocytes from an immune donor. Acquired immunity can be obtained actively or passively by natural or artificial means. Naturally acquired active immunity occurs when an individual's immune system contacts an antigenic stimulus such as an infection during normal activities. The immune system responds by producing antibodies and sensitised lymphocytes that inactivate or destroy the antigen. The immunity produced can be either lifelong, as with measles or last for only a few years, such as tetanus. Naturally acquired passive immunity involves the transfer of antibodies form one host to the other. For example, some of a pregnant woman's antibodies pass across the placenta to her foetus. Unfortunately naturally acquired immunity only lasts a short time (Reeves and Todd, 1996).
Artificially acquired active immunity results when an animal is immunised with a vaccine. A vaccine consists of a preparation of killed microorganism, living, weak (attenuated), microorganisms or inactivated bacterial toxins that are administered to an animal to induce immunity artificially. Artificially acquired passive immunity results when antibodies that have been produced either in an animal or by specific methods *in vitro* are introduced into a host. Although the type of immunity is immediate, it is short lived. An example of this type of immunity includes botulism antitoxin produced in a horse and given to a human suffering from botulism food poisoning (Reeves and Todd, 1996).



Figure 2.8: Schematic diagram of the different Host defences (Prescott et al., 1996).

2.5 Lymphocytes

2.5.1 Origin of Lymphocytes

Lymphocytes are small, non-phagocytic, mononuclear leukocytes that are immunologically competent, or are precursors of such cells. They lack stainable cytoplasmic granules and are formed in lymphatic tissue. Undifferentiated lymphocytes are derived from bone marrow stem cells. They are produced in the bone marrow at a very high rate, approximately 10^9 cells per day. Some lymphocytes migrate through the circulatory or lymphatic systems to the secondary lymphoid tissue (thymus, spleen, aggregated lymph nodules in the intestines and lymph nodes) where they produce lymphocyte colonies (Boyd *et al.*, 1993).



Figure 2.9: Picture of whole blood (University of Leicester, 1996).

The undifferentiated lymphocytes that migrate to the thymus undergo special processing and become T cells or T lymphocytes, the letter T representing the thymus. Some T cells are transported away from the thymus and enter the bloodstream where they comprise 70% to 80% of the circulating lymphocytes. This thymus dependent differentiation of T cells occurs during early childhood and by adolescence the secondary lymphoid organs of the body generally contain a full complement of T cells (Boyd *et al.*, 1993).

B cells or B-lymphocytes differentiate in the foetal liver and adult bone marrow. B cells are distributed by the blood and make up 20 to 30% of the circulating lymphocytes. They also settle in the various lymphoid organs along with the T cells. Table 2.4 summarises the various classes of lymphocytes (Boyd *et al.*, 1993).

There is a population of lymphoid cells that do not have characteristics of either T or B cells. These are called null cells because they lack the specific surface markers of B cells and T cells and can be distinguished from them by the presence of cytoplasmic granules. It is believed that this population of cells contains the most natural killer cells antibody-dependent cytotoxic T cells. Although these cells are probably of bone marrow origin, their exact lineage is uncertain (Boyd *et al.*, 1993).

Lymphocyte	Role
T Cells $T_{\rm H}$ (helper) cells, also called CD4 cells	Provide "assistance", or potential expression of immune function by other lymphocytes
T _s (suppressor) cells, also called CD8 cells	Suppress or impair expression of immune function by other lymphocytes
T_{C} (cytotoxic) cells, also called CD8 cells	Brings about cytolysis and cell death of "targets"
B cells B lymphocytes	Proliferate and mature into antibody- producing cells
Plasma cells	Are mature active antibody-producing cells
Null cells Natural killer cells	Bring about cytolysis and death of target cells

Table 2.4: Classes of lymphocytes (Boyd et al., 1993).

2.5.2 Function of Lymphocytes

Plasma cells are fully differentiated antibody-synthesising cells that are derived into from Blymphocytes. They respond to antigens by secreting antibodies into the blood and lymph tissue. Antibodies are glycoproteins produced by plasma cells after the B cells in their lineage have been exposed to antigens. Antibodies are specifically directed against the antigen that caused their formation. Since antibodies are soluble in blood and lymph fluid they provide humoral (Latin *humor*, a liquid) immunity or antibody-mediated immunity (Roitt *et al.*, 1993). The humoral immune response defends mostly against bacteria, bacterial toxins and viruses that enter the body's various fluid systems (Figure 2.10). T cells do not secrete antibodies. Instead they attack host cells that have been parasitised by viruses or micro-organisms, tissue cells that has been transplanted from one host to another and cancer cells. They also produce cytokines, chemical mediators that play specific augmenting and regulatory roles in the immune system. Since T cells must physically contact foreign cells or infected cells in order to destroy them, they are said to provide cell-mediated immunity. Null cells destroy tumour cells and virus- and other parasite infected cells. They also help regulate the immune response. Null cells often exhibit antibody dependent cellular cytotoxicity (Roitt *et al.*, 1993).



Figure 2.10: Picture of the immune response (Sears, 1997).

2.5.3 Cytokines

The two major classes of lymphocytes B and T cells specifically recognise antigens and form immune proteins called immunoglobulins or antibodies and sensitised lymphocytes, respectively. These are the immune products that interact with the antigens. Chemical mediators, such as cytokines, that transmit messages between immune system cells, aid this defence. The term cytokine is a generic term for the proteins released by one cell population that acts as an intracellular mediator. When these proteins are released from mononuclear phagocytes, they are called monokines and when released from T lymphocytes they are known as lymphokines. However when produced by a leukocyte and the action is on another leukocyte, these proteins are known as interleukins. If their effect is to stimulate the growth and differentiation of the immature leukocytes in the bone marrow, they are called colony stimulating factors (Prescott *et al.*, 1996).

Cytokines can affect the same cell responsible for their production (autocrine function), nearby cells (paracrine cells), or can be distributed by the circulatory system to their target cells (endocrine function). Their production is induced by non-specific stimuli such as viral, bacterial, or parasitic infection, cancer, inflammation, or the interaction between a T cell and antigen. Some cytokines also can induce the production of other cytokines. Cytokines exert their effect primarily by binding to specific plasma membrane receptors called CD's (cell associated differentiation antigens on target cells. Cytokines function in four different ways, as mediators of natural/non-specific immunity, activators of effectors cells, mediators of mature cell activation, differentiation, behaviour and growth. Finally cytokines also act as mediators of immature cell growth and differentiation. These functions, along with examples of relevant cytokines are shown in Table 2.5 (Prescott *et al.*, 1996).

Table 2.5: Functions and Examples of selected cytokines (Prescott et al., 1996).

Cytokine	Producer	Mechanism of action		
Mediators of Non-specific Immunity				
Interferon-α	Macrophages/ monocytes	Protects neighbouring cells by inhibiting viral DNA or RNA and protein synthesis Activates lytic activity of NK cells		
Interferon-β	Fibroblasts/ other cells	Induces antiviral state, differentiation of fibroblasts Modulates antibody function, cytotoxic T-cell Stimulates the lymphocytes/ monocytes to express MHC molecules Enhances secretion of Interleukin-1 α and tumour necrosis factor - α		
Tumour necrosis factor- α	Phagocytes	Mediates expression of genes for growth factors and cytokines, transcription, receptors inflammatory mediators Mediator of the inflammatory response, Cytotoxic for tumour cells		
Interleukin 1-α Interleukin 1-β	Monocytes, macrophages, endothelial cells, fibroblasts	Variety of effects on the differentiation and function of cells involved in inflammatory, immune responses		
Interleukin 6	T cells, monocytes, macrophages, fibroblasts, hepatocytes, endothelial cells, neuronal cells	Activates hematopoietic cells; induces growth of T cells, B cells, hepatocytes, keratinocytes and nerve cells, stimulates the production of acute phase proteins		
Chemokines	Monocytes, macrophages, endothelial cells, fibroblasts, T cells, platelets	Leukocyte chemotaxis		
Activators of Effector cells				
Interferon-y	T cells, NK cells	Activation of T cells, macrophages, neutrophils and NK cells Increases class I and II MHC molecules		
Lymphotoxin	T Cells	Activation of neutrophils and endothelial cells		
Interleukin 5	T Cells	Growth and activation of B cells and eosinophils; activation of eosinophil function, chemotactic		
Migration inhibition factor	T Cells	Conversion from otile to immotile state (macrophages/ monocytes)		
Mediators of Mat	ure Cell Activation, Growt	h and Differentiation		
Interleukin -2	T cells	Stimulates T cell proliferation and differentiation, enhances cytotoxic activity of NK cells, promotes proliferation and immunoglobulin secretion of activated B cells		
Interleukin -4	T cells, macrophages, mast cells, basophils, B cells	Induces differentiation of naïve CD4 ⁴ into T helper like cells; induces proliferation and differentiation of B cells; exhibits diverse effects on T cells, monocytes, granulocytes, fibroblasts, endothelial cells		
Transforming	Bone cells, platelets,	Inhibits growth of many cells, inhibits NK cell activity and T		
growth factor-β	Inbroblasts, monocytes	cell proliferation, with linterleukin4 stimulates IgA secretion		
Interlarbin 2	nature Cell Growth and Di	tterentiation		
Interleukin-3	I cells, mast cells	Production and differentiation of macrophages		
	fetal liver cells	proliferation of T cells; stimulates the cytotoxic activity, proliferation and generation of cytotoxic T cells		
Granulocyte /	T cells, neutrophils,	Stimulates various functions of monocytes and macrophages,		
macrophage colony stimulating factor	macrophages, fibroblasts, endothelial cells	promote the growth and development of macrophage colonies from undifferentiated precursors		

2.6 Cellular death

For every cell there is appointed a time to live and a time to die. The existence of two different pathways for cellular death has long been postulated: the passive and traumatic process leading to necrosis and the active program characterised by organelle integrity known as apoptosis (Cossarizza *et al.*, 1995). Briefly, necrosis ("accidental" cell death) may be defined as the pathological process, which occurs when cells are exposed to a serious physical or chemical insult. Apoptosis ("normal" or "programmed" cell death) is the physiological process by which unwanted or useless cells are eliminated during development and other normal biological processes. Other schools of thought maintain that necrosis does not indicate a form of cell death but refers to the changes "secondary" to cell death by any mechanism including apoptosis (Majno and Joris, 1995).

For disease therapy to be effective, knowledge of the difference between apoptosis and necrosis is essential. Whether the cell death in pathological diseases is apoptotic or necrotic, the prevention is of medical importance. This requires an elucidation of the mechanisms of the particular cell death pathway associated with various disorders (Uchiyama, 1995).

2.6.1 Apoptosis

The Greek name apoptosis is appropriate as it suggests the discrete image of leaves dropping off here and there (apó, meaning from, ptósis, meaning a fall) as opposed to massive cell death (Majno and Joris, 1995). There are key structural features associated with apoptosis. The dying cell membrane separates from its neighbours, usually with loss of specialised membrane structures such as microvilli and desmosomes. The membrane undergoes a period of blebbing and contortion. The blebs are membrane-invested extensions of cytosol that are usually devoid of organelles and are reversibly extruded and resorbed (Wyllie, 1997).

This is followed by rapid, irreversible condensation of cytoplasm, accompanied by an increase in cell density, compaction of cytoplasmic organelles and condensation of the nuclear chromatin to form dense granular caps or torodal structures underlying the nuclear membrane. Nuclear pores disappear from the membrane subjacent to these chromatin condensations whilst, within the nucleus, the proteinaceous centre of the nucleolus separates from its surrounding shell of osmiophilic transcription complexes (Wyllie, 1997). Around this time, the cell splits into a cluster of membrane bounded bodies, each containing a variety of organelles.

Apoptotic cells within the tissues or even *in vitro*, are the objects of phagocytosis by their viable neighbours. The dying cells disappear rapidly from the tissue without generating an inflammatory response (Wyllie, 1997).

2.6.2 Necrosis

There are distinct morphological differences between apoptosis and necrosis (Figure 2.11). During necrosis, the dying cells swells, both cytosolic and nuclear structures alter, but the general disposition of hetero- and euchromatin is maintained, as are the nuclear pores. The plasma membrane ruptures and internal materials reach the extracellular space, where some of them (notably some mitochondrial proteins) induce an inflammatory reaction.

Necrosis is described as a degenerative phenomenon that follows irreversible injury (Walker *et al.*, 1988). It is the period that occurs after cell death and is characterised by the auto digestion of different parts of the cell caused by enzymes activated or liberated by the destruction of the lysosomes. Necrosis may also be referred to as the progressive degradation of cell structure that occurs after cell death caused by severe, injurious changes in environmental conditions.

Some of the features of necrosis can become superimposed on those of apoptosis if the dead cell for some reason fails to be recognised and engulfed by a phagocyte. Thus apoptotic cells *in vitro*, after the initial brisk rise in buoyant density show a progressive fall in density to subnormal levels over the few hours. Their membranes become permeable to dyes that that had previously been excluded e.g. propidium iodide (PI) and their ultrastructure is a series of distended cytosolic membrane profiles, although the conspicuous blocks of condensed chromatin remain in the nucleus. Similar structural features can be seen *in vivo* in apoptotic cells. This has been called secondary necrosis (Wyllie, 1997).



Figure 2.11: Structural differences between necrosis and apoptosis (Roche, 2002).

2.6.3 Mechanisms of Apoptosis

The coordinated structural changes that make up the process of apoptosis are driven by a set of molecular interactions, sometimes known as terminal effector events. Most living cells contain the molecules that participate in these events, but in a form that requires activation. The process of death is the result of an interaction between initiating stimuli, which can be physiological or the result of injury in various parts of the cell and factors that determine the susceptibility of the cell to activation of the terminal effector events.

2.6.3.1 Caspases

Specific genes regulate apoptosis. A family of over a dozen related genes is present in the mammalian genome collectively called caspases (cysteine-containing aspartases) (Whyte, 1996). The caspases are the key effector proteins of apoptosis in mammalian cells. They are produced as inactive precursors that in order to be activated are cleaved at aspartate residues and assembled into tetramers. In all of them the active catalytic residue is a cysteine. Once activated, these caspases cleave their substrate at aspartate residues; some caspases can activate their own precursors or other caspases. Many proteins are cleaved once these caspases become active and endonucleases are released that gain access to the chromatin. The cell then displays the characteristic apoptotic morphology.

The founder member of these caspases is Caspase 1, formerly known as interleukin-1 β converting enzyme (ICE), which is known to be responsible for the cleavage and activation of the inflammatory cytokine 1L-1 β . There remains some doubt of over the role of Caspase 1 itself in mammalian cell death. However other caspases are clearly central to mammalian cell death; they are activated during apoptosis, death is forestalled by specific inhibitors and germ-line knock out of their genes produces abnormal development with retention of cells which are normally deleted (Whyte, 1996).

Activation of the terminal effector events leads to the formation of a signalling complex that subsequently activates a family of so-called initiator caspases, e.g. caspase 8 (Fraser and Evan, 1996). Initiator caspases are responsible for the first proteolytic events, e.g. cleavage of cytoskeletal and related proteins including vimentin (van Engeland *et al.*, 1997), actin (Kayalar *et al.*, 1996) and fodrin (a membrane-associated cytoskeletal protein) (Martin *et al.*, 1995; Greidinger *et al.*, 1996). Amongst others, these early apoptotic events are thought to be responsible for the characteristic blebbing of the cell surface (McCarthy *et al.*, 1997). Cleavage of translocase (flippase) and/or activation of scramblase (floppase) results in a subsequent flip of phosphatidylserine (PS) from the inner to the outer leaflet of the plasma membrane. This is known to be a very early event during the initiation stages of apoptosis (Martin *et al.*, 1995). Cells use externalisation of phosphatidylserine as a signal for events such as the attraction of macrophages, induction of the coagulation cascade or induction of syncytial fusion.

Initiator caspases are positioned at the top of the caspase hierarchy (Cohen, 1997). Subsequently they cleave and thus activate a second subpopulation of caspases known as the execution caspases (Mignotte and Vayssiere, 1998). Irreversible progression of the apoptosis cascade commences with activation of the latter. The bcl-2 family, an acronym for the B cell lymphoma/leukaemia gene (Reed, 1994), of mitochondrial proteins tightly regulates execution caspase activation. The various members of this family promote, for example, bcl-2-associated X protein (bax) and bcl-2-antagonist/killer (bak), or inhibit, such as bcl-2, bcl-2 like protein (bcl-xL) cleavage of execution caspases (Mignotte and Vayssiere, 1998).

Irreversible progression of apoptosis by activated execution caspases (e.g., caspase 3) requires that these enzymes remain active for a critical minimum period of time (Marks *et al.*, 1998). This varies from minutes to hours depending on the size, type and functional state of the cell.

31

Once activated, the execution caspases, either directly or by means of other proteases, cleave a broad array of proteins critical for cell survival. The latter include intermediate filament proteins, such as cytokeratin 18 (Caulin *et al.*, 1997), nuclear envelope proteins, for example lamins A and B (Greidinger *et al.*, 1996), proteins involved in DNA maintenance and repair (such as poly-(ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP); Tewari *et al.*, 1995), enzymes involved in relaxation of the DNA-helix and separation of chromosomes during mitosis (topoisomerase IIa; Nakajima *et al.*, 1996), the catalytic subunit of the DNA-dependent protein kinase (DNA-PKCS; Song *et al.*, 1996).

Execution caspases activate DNA fragmentation factor (DFF) and other endonucleases resulting in specific fragmentation of DNA (Liu *et al.*, 1997). Finally, execution caspases cause characteristic intracellular shifts and activation of proteins such as of: TIAR [T-cell-restricted intracellular antigen-related protein, possibly involved in cytoplasmic DNA cleavage (Taupin *et al.*, 1995)], which is shifted from a nuclear to a cytoplasmic localisation and transglutaminase II, which protects the endangered plasmalemma, by cross-linking proteins and forming large subplasmalemmal protein scaffolds (Cummings, 1996; Fesus *et al.*, 1996) that is shifted from a more diffuse cytoplasmic localisation to directly underneath the plasma membrane.

2.6.3.2 Surface Receptors

Cell domain 95 (CD95) is a member of the tumour necrosis factor (TNF) receptor family and binds a TNF-family ligand (Wallach, 1997). Ligand binding initiates trimerisation of the receptor and this permits the immediate recruitment of several proteins that form a complex around the cytoplasmic moiety of the receptor - the death initiating signalling complex (DISC). The death initiating signalling complex proteins bind to each other and CD95 through a series of homologous domains (Yaun, 1993; Muzio *et al.*, 1996).

Thus the C terminus of the CD95 contains an amino acid sequence (called the death domain), that binds a similar sequence on the C terminus of a DISC protein which contains a Fas associated death domain (FADD). The FADD contains a distinct N-terminal domain (called the death effector domain) that binds to a homologous region in the N terminal of a third protein, Fas activated protein like ICE (FLICE). Fas activated protein like ICE is so named because its C terminus has structural and functional homology to the caspases and can activate them. Thus a cytokine receptor on the cell surface is coupled to the heart of the caspase engine by a remarkable direct, non-transcriptional pathway (Muzio *et al.*, 1996).

Members of many transcriptional modifying pathways have also been implicated in the regulation of apoptosis. An example of this is the expression of the proto-oncogene *c myc*, which increases susceptibility to apoptosis. *C myc* is well known as an immediate early response gene in growth factor dependent entry to the cell cycle. Transcriptional activation of *c-myc* is thought to initiate a state of susceptibility to both apoptosis and cell proliferation. A second signal is required to determine which one is selected. In the presence of cytokine survival factors, not necessarily mitogens, apoptosis is aborted and cell proliferation occurs. In this way, the potentially dangerous process of cell proliferation is made dependent on dual controls. This theory is supported by the observation that apoptosis frequently occurs in conjunction with proliferation in tissues, with and without injury (Evan *et al.*, 1992).

2.6.3.3 Cytochrome C (Mitochondrial pathway)

Aside from the ligation of death receptors there are a number of other mechanisms through which the caspase cascade can be activated. The mitochondria are also key regulators of the caspase cascade and apoptosis. Release of cytochrome C from mitochondria can lead to the activation of caspase 9 and then of caspase 3. This effect is mediated through the formation of an apoptosome, a multi-protein complex consisting of cytochrome C, apoptotic protease activating factor 1 (Apaf-1), pro-caspase 9 and ATP (Huppertz *et al.*, 1999). The formation of the apoptosome is illustrated below in Figure 2.12.

Cytochrome C released from the mitochondria binds to the cytosolic protein Apaf-1. This interaction results in a conformational change in Apaf-1 which, when stabilised by the binding of ATP, allows molecules of Apaf-1 to associate with each other and results in the formation of a wheel-like structure that contains 7 molecules each of Apaf-1, cytochrome C and ATP (Huppertz *et al.*, 1999).

This wheel-like structure, known as the apoptosome, permits the recruitment of 7 molecules of procaspase-9 to the complex. The exact mechanism of caspase activation is still uncertain although two possibilities have been proposed. In one case the Apaf-1, cytochrome C and procaspase-9 complex can act as a stage to activate cytosolic procaspase-9 as it is recruited to the apoptosome. In the other scenario two apoptosomes have been proposed to interact with each other and to activate the caspase-9 located on the other apoptosome (Huppertz *et al.*, 1999).

Figure 2.12: Formation of an apoptosome (Reproductive and Cardiovascular Group, 2003).

2.6.4 Apoptosis in Response to Cellular Injury

Apoptosis is a critical component of the cellular response to injury:

2.6.4.1 DNA Damage

Along with evidence at the electron microscope level, the study of DNA fragmentation patterns remains the gold standard for the visualisation of apoptotic cell death. The cleavage of the DNA occurs at internucleosomal linker regions, resulting in a "ladder" of 180-200 base pair fragments and multiples thereof and this can be determined on agarose gel electrophoresis. The cause of the ladder type DNA fragmentation has been attributed to the activity of a calcium and magnesium ion (Ca^{2+} , Mg^{2+})- activated endonuclease, DNAse I or DNAse II, all of which are capable of generating internucleosomal cleavage of DNA (Payne *et al.*, 1995).

DNA injury can initiate apoptosis by a powerful, early activated mechanism dependent on the nuclear phosphoprotein p53. The p53 protein is activated by both transcriptional and post-translational means and is a critical element in the cellular response to double stranded DNA breaks. Such breaks appear for example, following damage inflicted by ionising radiation.

The p53 protein is also critical in the response to damage by UV light, where the initial events do not involve strand breakage but the generation of nucleotide dimers. In a manner not completely understood, p53 forms part of a decision fork in which the cell is directed either towards the completion of repairs or to apoptosis. It is also clear that cells possess pathways that couple DNA injury to apoptosis in the complete absence of p53 (Clarke *et al.*, 1993).

2.6.4.2 Injury to Cell Membranes

Injury to cell membranes and in particular the plasma membrane, activates acid sphingomyelinase and so generates the second messenger ceramide from membrane lipids (Haimovitz-Friedman *et al.*, 1994; Santana *et al.*, 1996). Sphingosine-based ceramides have been strongly implicated in the process of inducing apoptosis (amongst other methods) through stimulation of the Fas (Cifone *et al.*, 1994) and TNF receptors by UV and x-ray irradiation (Wright *et al.*, 1994), or through treatment with certain chemotherapy drugs (Jaffrezou *et al.*, 1996). Furthermore, the addition of synthetic ceramides themselves has also been shown to induce apoptosis in various cell types (Martin *et al.*, 1995). Ceramide, perhaps through modification of the usage of MAP kinase versus Jun kinase signaling pathways, alters cellular susceptibility to apoptosis (Xia *et al.*, 1995).

2.6.4.3 Mitochondrial Injury

Mitochondrial physiology is disrupted in cells undergoing either apoptosis or necrosis. During apoptosis mitochondrial permeability is altered and apoptosis specific protease activators are released from mitochondria. Specifically, the discontinuity of the outer mitochondrial membrane results in the redistribution of cytochrome C to the cytosol followed by subsequent depolarisation of the inner mitochondrial membrane. The release of Cytochrome C (Apaf-2) further promotes caspase activation by binding to Apaf-1 and therefore activating Apaf-3 (caspase 9). AIF (apoptosis inducing factor), released in the cytoplasm, has proteolytic activity and is by itself sufficient to induce apoptosis (Kroemer, 1997).

2.6.4.4 Cytotoxic T Cell Killing

Cytotoxic T cell killing is effected by at least two major pathways. Following recognition of the target cell by the cytotoxic T lymphocyte (CTL), fas is activated through the binding of the Fas ligand expresses on the CTL surface (Rouvier *et al.*, 1993). The CTL also releases the contents of its granules, amongst them perforin (which effects increased permeability of the target cell membrane) and a group of proteases of which the best defined is the serine protease granzyme B, which directly activates the target cell caspases (Greenberg, 1996).

2.6.5 Apoptosis and the Immune System

The immune system is responsible for the complex task of providing defence against a vast array of potential pathogens, whilst ensuring that the same protective mechanisms are not turned against self. Mechanisms of apoptosis play key roles in the development, regulation and functioning of the immune system. Malfunctioning of the cell death process can cause autoimmune disease, immunodeficiencies and lymphoid malignancies (Ekert and Vaux, 1997).

2.6.5.1 Developmental Apoptosis in Lymphocytes

The vast majority of developing T and B-lymphocytes die during development. As these cells differentiate from progenitor cells, they rearrange the genes for their antigen receptors and express them on the plasma membrane. Rearrangement of immunoglobulin (Ig) genes in B cells occurs independently of antigen and generates diversity in Ig receptor antigen specificity. As the cells progress through the pro B to pre BI and to pre BII stages, the rearrangements of the receptor genes follow a recognisable pattern. Many rearrangements produce genes in a reading frame that cannot be translated into functional proteins (Tonegawa, 1983). Yet other rearrangements are successfully transcribed and translated but the receptor is not expressed on the cell membrane or does not transduce a signal. In all instances, the cell fails to receive survival signals, the apoptotic pathway is activated and the cell dies by neglect. When the Ig genes are correctly rearranged and Ig is expressed on the cell surface, it sends a signal to the cell that interrupts default activation of the cell death process (Tonegawa, 1983).

Thymocyte development is marked by a progression of changes in the expression of surface antigens, including the CD4 and CD8 markers (Godfrey and Zlotnik, 1993). These developing cells undertake genetic rearrangements of the T cell receptor (TCR) genes in a process similar to the rearrangement of the B cell antigen receptor genes. Their fate, either survival and clonal expansion, or deletion, is dependent on the specificity of the interactions between the TCR and MHC antigens. Those cells failing to make successful receptor gene rearrangements die by initiating apoptosis. The development and differentiation of immune cells is governed by the autocrine, paracrine and endocrine actions of various factors. The interleukins are a family of cytokines with important developmental and regulatory functions in the immune system. For example interleukin 7 promotes proliferation and hence survival of pre B cells, in its absence the cells undergo apoptosis (Raulet *et al.*, 1985).

2.6.5.2 Positive and Negative Selection

Lymphocytes that manage to express antigen receptors must undergo further selection. In the thymus, apoptosis is used to remove T cells with receptors that fail to interact with self MHC peptides (positive selection) and is used to remove T cells with receptors that have high affinity for self antigens (negative selection) (Nossal, 1994). T cells not positively selected will be removed by apoptosis. Negative selection of B cells is required to remove populations which express antibodies recognising self-antigens. The rearrangements occurring during B cell development lead to the surface expression of IgM and IgD receptors. One mechanism whereby self reactive B cells are suppressed is clonal deletion by apoptosis.

This process of deletion involves first, an arrest of maturation and then secondly activation of the intrinsic cell death pathway in the self reactive lymphocyte, which can be delayed at least in the bone marrow by the over expression of the anti-apoptotic gene bcl-2 (Nemazie and Burki, 1989).

2.6.5.3 Apoptosis of Activated Lymphocytes and Homeostasis of Lymphocyte Numbers

After development of lymphocytes in the primary lymphoid organs, lymphocytes are exported to the secondary lymphoid organs, where they come across a variety of antigens (Nossel, 1994). Once mature T and B cells have been exposed to an antigen, they become activated, enter the cell cycle, proliferate and differentiate. The lymphocytes must be removed on completion of their respective functions, such as producing antibodies (B cells) or secreting cytokines or killing target cells (helper and cytotoxic T cells). In most cases apoptosis appears to be mediated by the induction on cells of both CD95 (Fas/APO-1) and its ligand, leading to the induction of suicide or fractricide by the activated cells (Alderson *et al.*, 1995). Other TNF receptor members, such as TNFR2, have also been implicated in apoptosis.

2.6.5.4 Apoptosis Activation Pathways, Effector Mechanisms and Regulation in the Immune System

As with immature lymphocytes, the survival of mature T and B cells can be regulated by signals from soluble cytokines and molecules expressed on their own surface or on the surface of other cells, for example, the CD 95 (Fas/Apo) molecule (Itoh *et al.*, 1991).

Bcl-2 is a member of a family of proteins, which regulate apoptosis. Ueno *et al.*, (1995) suggested that apoptosis could be caused as a result of the suppression of bcl-2 proteins. The B-cell lymphoma/leukaemia-2 gene was first discovered due to its involvement with B cell malignancies. However it is more commonly associated with inhibition of programmed cell death (Reed, 1994). The bcl-2 proteins appear to act by preventing the presence of damaged DNA from being translated into a signal for activation of the genes involved in apoptosis, or by blocking the action of the products of those genes once induced. The ability of bcl-2 proteins to protect cells form a wide variety of pathological, as well as physiological, stimuli indicates that many triggers can serve to activate the same suicide pathway, even some stimuli thought to cause necrosis and not physiological cell death (Vaux, 1993).

Apoptosis plays a vital role in the normal development of the immune system and in the regulation of the immune response. Apoptosis contributes to the pathology of many human diseases, including disorders of immune functions, either as a secondary phenomenon activated by the underlying abnormality or as a primary phenomenon where the abnormality is a dysregulation of apoptosis.

2.7 Mechanisms of cell death induced by Aflatoxin B_1 and Fumonisin B_1

Aflatoxin B_1 and FB_1 have been shown to have many cytotoxic effects on different cell lines. However a link needs to be established between the cytotoxic effects of AFB_1 and FB_1 and the mechanisms of cell death in normal human lymphocytes. Irreversible damage to lymphocytes results in immuno-compromised organisms. Thus the toxic effect of AFB_1 and FB_1 are both direct and indirect.

Aflatoxin B_1 and FB_1 have also been shown to exhibit nephrotoxic, immunosuppressive teratogenic and carcinogenic properties in animals (Corrier, 1991). Although the molecular basis for many of the specific immunosuppressive effects of many mycotoxins is presently unclear, inhibition of DNA, RNA and protein synthesis via a variety of different mechanisms appears to be directly or indirectly responsible for the immunosuppressive action of many mycotoxins. The immunotoxic effect of AFB₁ and FB₁ has been demonstrated on animals, however there is not enough information in the case of humans (Berek *et al.*, 2001). This lack of information and the reported severe cases of human toxicoses (Ehling *et al.*, 1997) has prompted this study to investigate how AFB₁ and FB₁ affect the human immune system, in particular lymphocytes.

CHAPTER 3

Cytotoxicity of Aflatoxin B₁ and Fumonisin B₁ on cultured normal human lymphocytes

3.1 Cell Culture

Mammalian cells are often used as alternatives to animals in toxicology studies and the culture of human and animal cells is common practice in modern research laboratories. *In vitro* cultures allow for a more controlled and manipulated environment, thus also allowing the biochemical mechanisms of toxicity to be analysed more specifically. This type of experimentation involves a reduction of animal studies that are often in the public protest limelight and also reduces the financial costs incurred by animal studies (Benford and Hubbard, 1987).

Presumably the best environment for growing cells is one providing as closely as possible the conditions they experience *in vivo*. The essential requirements for an optimum cell culture environment are temperature, pH, gas phases and media containing the necessary nutrients (Freshney, 1983). However the culture medium is by far the most important single factor in culturing cells. Its main function is to provide the physical conditions of pH and osmotic pressure required for survival and the complicated chemical substances required by the cells, which they cannot synthesise for themselves (Freshney, 1983).

In 1966, Moore developed a specific medium for the growth of human leukaemia cells in monolayer or suspension cultures using a serum supplement (Moore *et al.*, 1969). This cell culture medium was developed at the Roswell Park Memorial Institute, so became known as the acronym RPMI-1640 (Appendix 1.1). RPMI-1640 is now a commercially available growth medium that contains essential amino acids, vitamins and salts. However additional proteins are required to enhance cell growth. Various types of animal sera, which contain important proteins such as albumin and globulins, are routinely used for supplementation. The serum used is normally from a non-human source, such as foetal calf serum (FCS), to exclude human antibodies, which could be inhibitory to the subsequent isolation of human viruses. A complete culture medium (CCM) will usually contain FCS, RPMI-1640 and antibiotics and therefore sustain continuous cell growth (Freshney, 1983).

In addition to CCM, Hanks balanced salt solution (HBSS) (Appendix 1.2) containing inorganic salts, glucose and phenol red is routinely used to wash cultured cells in order to remove cellular debris and dead cells.

Histopaque-1077, a solution of polysucrose and sodium diazoate adjusted to a density of $1077\mu g/ml$, is commonly used for the isolation of mononuclear cells from whole blood. The rapid recovery of viable mononuclear cells from small quantities of blood is facilitated by Histopaque-1077 using density gradient centrifugation.

3.1.1 Cytotoxicity Testing

As the number of potential toxic agents has increased in current years so the need for a rapid and efficient *in vitro* assay for assessing cytotoxicity has developed. Numerous bioassays using cell culture techniques have been described for the toxicological characterisation of mycotoxins (Robb and Norval, 1983; Thompson and Wannemacher, 1986). The main criteria for these tests are based on cell density and morphology viz simple macroscopic examination of cell damage. However the disadvantage of such morphological evaluation is the subjective judgement of cytotoxicity (Robb and Norval, 1983). Other assays involve functional criteria, such as measurement of protein and DNA synthesis using radiolabelling techniques (Porsher *et al*, 1987). These techniques however are limited by general health hazards caused by radioactive material, high costs of laboratory equipment and recycling of radioactive refuse.

3.1.1.1 The Methylhiazol Tetrazolium (MTT) Bioassay

Slater *et al.* (1963) described the staining reactions of four tetrazolium salts caused by the intact respiratory chains of rat liver mitochondria. The main point of interest was the applicability of these observations for measuring the mitochondrial activity of living cells. Mossman (1983) modified this study and described a colorimetric cell culture assay using the tetrazolium salt 3-{4,4-dimethylthiazol-2-yl]-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide (MTT), to measure cell proliferation and survival. The principle of this reaction was based on the reduction of the yellow coloured MTT salt to purple formazan crystals by the succinate tetrazolium reductase system which belongs to the respiratory chain of mitochondria in viable cells (Altmann, 1976).

Another theory suggests that the bioreduction of the MTT is associated with the enzymes of the endoplasmic reticulum and involves the reduced nicotinamide nucleotides NADH. Succinate is a weak electron donor for mitochondrial MTT reduction (Berridge *et al.*, 1996). Therefore the cellular reduction of MTT is more related to the glycolytic rate and thus to NADH production rather than cellular respiration. Berridge *et al.*, (1996) showed that MTT is reduced by microsomal enzymes that require nicotinamide nucleotides but agree that succinate can also act as an electron donor in MTT reduction through mitochondrial succinate dehydrogenase, however this reduction is slow and contributes little to the total cellular MTT reduction.

40

An increase in the number of viable cells results in an increase of the overall enzyme activity in the sample. This augmentation leads to a greater quantity of formazan dye being produced which correlates with the number of metabolically active cells in the culture. Based on these principles, MTT assays have been used for numerous medical, microbiological and toxicological tests (Hanelt *et al.*, 1994).

The MTT assay uses microtitre plates and scanning plate readers that measure absorbance values in respective wells, allowing replicate testing of xenobiotics, chemotherapeutic agents, potential toxicological agents or drugs, at multiple concentrations on many different cell lines. The object of this investigation was to assess the cytotoxicity of AFB₁ and FB₁ on both isolated normal human lymphocytes and whole blood, using the MTT dye reduction bioassay.

3.2 Materials and Methods

3.2.1 Ethical Approval

Institutional ethical approval was obtained for this study (Reference H027/03).

3.2.2 Materials

Mycotoxins standards (AFB₁ and FB₁), Histopaque 1077, 3-{4,4-dimethylthiazol-2-yl]-2,5diphenyltetrazolium bromide were purchased from Sigma, SA. Lithium heparin tubes, alcohol swabs, needles, gloves, disposable 3ml Pasteur pipettes and vacutainers were obtained from Shalom, SA. Hank's balanced salt solution, RPMI-1640, FCS, Penstrep-Fungizone, 96 well microtitre plates and sterilin tubes were purchased pre-sterilized from Adcock Ingram. Ethanol, methanol and DMSO were acquired from Merck, SA.

3.2.3 Methodology

3.2.3.1 Preparation of Cell Culture Media

Foetal calf serum was added (5% -10%) to RPMI-1640 (500ml) as the additional nutrient source. To counteract the problem of microbial contamination, the media was supplemented with Penstrep-Fungizone (1ml), a commercially available cocktail of the antibiotics Penicillin (against gram negative) and Fungizone (against fungal contaminants).

Dimethylsulphoxide (DMSO) was added at a concentration of 10% to CCM as the freezing medium for the cells stored at -70°C. Dimethylsuphoxide was used in freezing because it does not crystallise at -70°C and therefore surrounds the cell preventing water from entering and crystallising within the cells. Additional FCS (20%) was used to provide extra supplementation.

3.2.3.2 Environment

All cell culture procedures were carried out in a laminar flow cabinet containing a UV light. The unit was swabbed/ sterilized with a mixture of ethanol and methanol (70:30) and G-cide 2% (G-cide international) before use. Prior to each session hands were washed with habitant. This serves to sterilize and moisten the hands and thereby reduce the risk of dry skin blowing onto the cultures as well as reduce loosely adherent micro-orgamisms, which are the greatest risk to the culture (Freshney, 1983). Gloves were thereafter used and frequently swabbed with 70% ethanol.

The optimal temperature for human cell cultures is dependent on human body temperature, which is between 36.5°C and 37°C. Cultured cells tolerate considerable drops in temperature, can survive several days at 4°C and can be cooled and frozen to -196°C, but they are unable to tolerate more than 2°C above normal (39°C) for more than a few hours and die rapidly at 40°C and over (Freshney, 1983).

3.2.3.3 Cell Counting and Viability

Trypan Blue was used in a dye exclusion procedure for viable cell counting (Sigma, 1996). The stain was used at a concentration of 0.4% (w/v) in sterile water. Cell numbers were determined using a Neubauer haemocytometer counting chamber that consists of two chambers; each divided into 1mm squares (Figure 3.1). A cover glass was supported 0.1mm over these squares so that the total volume over each square was 0.1 mm^3 . Since 1 cm^3 is equivalent to 1ml, the cell concentration per millilitre was the average count per square $\times 10^4$. The trypan blue solution (0.1ml) was transferred to an eppendorf and a 100μ l aliquot of the cell suspension added (dilution factor =5) and mixed thoroughly. The mixture was allowed to stand for 5 - 15minutes. The method is based on the principle that viable cell are unable to take up certain dyes while non-viable cells do. It was important to note that if the cells were exposed to trypan blue for a long period of time, viable cells took up the dye. With coverslip in place, a sterile Pasteur pipette was used to transfer a small amount of the trypan blue mixture to both chambers of the haemocytometer.

Starting with chamber 1 of the haemocytometer, all the cells in the 1mm square and 4mm square were counted (Figure 3.1). Cells were counted on top and left touching middle line of the perimeter of each square. Cells that touched the middle line at the bottom and right sides were not counted. Non-viable cells were stained blue and a separate count of viable and non-viable cells was kept.

The procedure was repeated for chamber 2. If greater than 10% of the cells appeared clustered, the entire procedure was repeated. If less than 200 or greater than 500 cells were observed in the 10 squares, the procedure was repeated adjusting to an appropriate dilution factor. A second sample was then withdrawn and the count repeated for accuracy.

Figure 3.1: Diagram of a haemocytometer (Sigma 1996).

Cell viability was calculated as follows:

Cell viability (%)	= Total viable cells [unstained]/ Total cells [stained + unstained] × 100
Cells per ml	= Average count per square \times dilution factor $\times 10^4$ (count 10 squares)
Total cells	= Cells per ml × Original volume of fluid form which cell sample was removed

3.2.3.4 Collection of Blood

Peripheral venous blood was used in all experiments. The source of the blood was a healthy 23 year old female donor. Throughout this study the same donor was used. Whole venous blood (60ml) was collected in 5ml sterile lithium heparin tubes. This blood was used for the isolation of lymphocytes.

3.2.3.5 Isolation of Lymphocytes

All the reagents were stored at 4°C and prior to use warmed to 37°C. Whole blood (5ml) was carefully layered onto an equal volume of Histopaque in a sterile sterilin tube (15ml). Care was taken not to disturb the tubes, as mixing could delay the sedimentation of the different cell types. The tubes were then centrifuged using a bench top centrifuge at 400g for 30 minutes at room temperature (RT). After centrifugation, four distinct layers were obtained as shown in Figure 3.2.

Figure 3.2: The isolation of mononuclear cells from normal human blood using density gradient centrifugation.

The upper plasma layer was aspirated and discarded. The mononuclear cell layer, which contained the lymphocytes, was carefully removed using a 3ml sterile pasteur pipette and transferred to a sterile sterilin tube. These cells were washed in HBSS (5ml; 37°C) by centrifugation (400xg; 20 minutes; RT), which removed extraneous platelets. The HBSS washing step was repeated twice or until erythrocyte contamination was negligible. All supernatants were discarded. Finally the pelleted cells were resuspended in CCM.

The viability and the number of lymphocytes were determined using the trypan blue haemocytometer method (Section 3.2.3.3) and the resulting suspension stored at 37°C for further tests.

3.2.3.6 Preparation of the Mycotoxin Stock Solutions and MTT salt

Mycotoxin standards, AFB_1 (1mg) and FB_1 (1mg) were partially dissolved in ethanol (100µl) and made up to 10mls using CCM for a final concentration of 0.1mg/ml. Serial dilutions of both mycotoxins were prepared with a range in concentration from 50µM to 5µM. The control solution consisted of 100µl ethanol, made up to 10ml using CCM.

The MTT salt solution was prepared by dissolving 5mg MTT salt in 1ml HBSS. The mixture was vortexed until all the particles were dissolved.

3.2.3.7 The MTT Bioassay on Cultured Human Lymphocytes

The suspension of cultured human lymphocytes was adjusted to give a cell number of 1×10^4 cells/ml. Aliquots of the cell suspension (200µl) were dispensed into each of the 96 wells of the microtitre plate to give a final cell count of 2000 cells/well. After vortexing, a 100µl aliquot of the 5µM, 10µM, 25µM and 50µM serial dilutions of AFB₁ were transferred to individual wells of the microtitre plate using a micropipette. This procedure was repeated with the FB₁ serial dilutions. A 50µl aliquot of each concentration of AFB₁ and 50µl of the same concentration of FB₁ were added to the same well to evaluate the cytotoxic effects of the combination of mycotoxins.

Figure 3.3: Schematic diagram of the treatment of human lymphocytes with mycotoxins for the MTT assay in a 96 well microtitre plate.

There were six replicates for each test concentration for the control, AFB_1 , FB_1 and combination. After each incubation period, 12 hours, 24 hours, 48 hours, 72 hours and 96 hours, two 96 well plates were centrifuged at 1 600g for 20 minutes at RT using a Eppendorf Centrifuge 5702 R (Beckmann Instruments). The supernatant was discarded and the cells resuspended in 100µl fresh CCM. A 10µl aliquot of the MTT solution was added to each well. After 4 hours incubation (37°C) the plates were centrifuged at 1 600g for 20 minutes at 25°C. After the supernatant was discarded, a 100µl aliquot of DMSO added to each well and the plates incubated at 37°C for one hour. The optical densities of the treated and untreated cells were measured spectrophotometrically, at a dual wavelength of 595nm and 655nm, on a Biorad Microplate Reader.

3.2.3.8 The MTT Bioassay on Whole Blood

Whole venous blood (60ml), from the same donor, was collected in 5ml sterile lithium heparin tubes. A 2ml aliquot of the blood was treated with a 1ml aliquot of each different concentration of toxin in sterile tubes. These tubes were then incubated for 12H at 37°C in a controlled environmental incubator shaker at 150 rpm. The lymphocytes were then extracted as outlined in 3.2.3.5. The isolated pellets from the individual and combined treatments were then resuspended in 1ml CCM and a 100µl aliquot of each suspension dispensed into 6 replicate wells of a 96 well microtitre plate. The MTT assay was then preformed as outlined in 3.2.3.7. This experiment was done in duplicate to ensure reproducibility.

A dose respondent graph was drawn using the mean values of the absorbance readings obtained in relation to increasing toxin concentration.

3.2.3.9 Statistical Analysis

All data were presented as means \pm standard deviations (SD). The results of the cytotoxicity assay were analysed using the Student's t test. A probability (p) value less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant. Mean absorbencies were expressed as percentage cleavage activity in comparison to the control cells (100%).

Cleavage activity (%) =	$\frac{\text{mean absorbance of toxin treated cells}}{\text{mean absorbance of control cells}} \times 100$
Cell mortality	=	100% - % Cleavage activity

3.3 Results and Discussion

The MTT assay offers a quantitative, convenient method for evaluating a cell population's response to external factors, whether it is an increase in cell growth, no effect, or a decrease in growth due to necrosis or apoptosis. Among the applications for this method are drug sensitivity, cytotoxicity, response to growth factors and cell activation. This study looked at both the individual and combined cytotoxic effects of AFB_1 and FB_1 on isolated normal human lymphocytes using the MTT assay. Different time periods (12, 24, 48, 72 and 96 hours) were used to assess whether the cytotoxic effects of the mycotoxin were sub-acute, acute or chronic.

After 12 hours incubation, AFB₁ was shown to be significantly cytotoxic to normal human lymphocytes at the lower concentrations of 5μ M and 10μ M with a percentage cell mortality of 40% and 41% respectively (Figure 3.4). This correlates with a study by Corrier *et al.* (1991) which showed that when immune cells were directly treated with AFB₁, cell proliferation and antibody formation were decreased. Aflatoxin B₁ is both lipid and water soluble, which enables it to pass easily through cell membranes and into cellular organelles (Massey *et al.*, 1995).

Many of the cytotoxic effects of AFB₁ require its bioactivation to the 8,9 epoxide metabolite by a cytochrome P450 (P450) dependent polysubstrate monooxygenase enzyme. It has been shown that cytochrome P450 is expressed in human peripheral blood lymphocytes (Song *et al.*, 1990; Haufroid *et al.*, 2003). Once activated, some of the epoxide will bind covalently to macromolecules to form protein and DNA adducts (Eaton and Gallagher, 1994). These results indicate that human lymphocytes have the ability to rapidly biotransform AFB₁ to its epoxide at lower concentrations, thereby causing cytotoxicity and other functional alterations.

Fumonisin B_1 has been characterised as a tumour initiator and a tumour promoter (Rumora *et al.*, 2002). It has been also been shown that FB_1 can exhibit both proliferation enhancing (Tolleson *et al.*, 1996; Lim *et al.*, 1996); and growth-inhibiting effects (Dombrink –Kurtzman *et al.*, 1994; Tolleson *et al.*, 1996) in a panel of cultured cell lines. Therefore it can probably be assumed that a final toxic effect of FB_1 will depend on the balance between the relative intensity of these two counteracting processes. After normal human lymphocytes were treated with FB_1 for 12 hours, all the concentrations had a greater than 100% cell viability, possibly due to the mitogenic properties of FB_1 .

Figure 3.4: Bar graph showing the individual and combined effect of Aflatoxin B₁ and Fumonisin B₁ on normal human lymphocytes after an incubation period of 12 hours.

* = significant difference from the control (p < 0.05) using Student's t test.

Figure 3.5: Bar graph showing the individual and combined effect of Aflatoxin B_1 and Fumonisin B_1 on normal human lymphocytes isolated after treatment of whole blood with toxin for an incubation period of 12 hours.

* = significant difference from the control (p < 0.05) using Student's t test.

The presence of an amino group and the location of the hydroxyl on the C_{14}/C_{15} of FB₁ may play an important role in both the toxic and cancer initiating activities of FB₁. It has been shown that the presence of the amino group facilitates the conjugation of FB₁ via gluteraldehyde to protein carriers (Azcona-Oliviera *et al.*, 1992). This could provide a plausible mechanism by which FB₁ exerts its mitogenic effect.

A single compound may effect different reactions within one biological system while it may also exhibit additive, antagonistic, or synergistic interactions with other compounds (Carpenter *et al.*, 1998). Several studies have reported on the co occurrence of AFB₁ and FB₁ (Gao and Yoshizawa, 1997; Ueno *et al.*, 1997; Zhang *et al.*, 1997). The co-occurrence of mycotoxins together with various endogenous and exogenous risk factors such as nutrition, viral infections, alcohol and tobacco that may modulate cell proliferation and drug metabolism, are known to act synergistically with respect to the development of cancer in animals and possibly in humans (Yu *et al.*, 1996). The multiplicity and complexity of these interactions needs to be elucidated in order to clarify the adverse health and environmental effects of a mixture of mycotoxins and their subsequent regulation.

The combination of AFB_1 and FB_1 was shown to be cytotoxic to isolated lymphocytes only at the 5µM concentration. When comparing this data to the individual cytotoxicity data for the toxins, it suggests that at the lowest combined concentration, the AFB_1 was cytotoxic to the normal human lymphocytes, with the FB_1 having minimal effects. From 10µM concentration, it appears that the proliferation enhancing effects of FB_1 negated the cytotoxic properties of AFB_1 . This could indicate that at lower concentrations FB_1 is more effective at inducing cytotoxicity. However as can be seen from the lowest concentration, this does not necessarily mean that the combination of AFB_1 and FB_1 is not potentially harmful to normal human lymphocytes.

The treatment of normal human lymphocytes with mycotoxins and determining their cytotoxic effects using the MTT assay can provide useful information about the cytotoxic potential of theses toxins. However as this is an *in vitro* situation, it is not necessarily an accurate representation of what actually occurs when mycotoxins are absorbed into the human blood stream. Human blood not only consists of lymphocytes, but also contains many different types of cells such as red blood cells, neutrophils and macrophages. As a result it is extremely difficult to recreate the complex mechanisms and interactions between the different cells present in an *in vivo* situation which may contribute to the cytotoxicity of the toxins to normal human lymphocytes.

Whole blood was treated with AFB₁ and FB₁ and incubated for 12 hours. The cell numbers, toxin concentrations and time period were kept consistent with the treatment of the isolated normal human lymphocytes. Following incubation, the lymphocytes were extracted and their cell viability determined (Figure 3.5). When whole blood was treated with AFB₁ and FB₁ and the lymphocytes extracted, all the concentrations except for the 5 μ M combination treatment, were shown to be cytototoxic to the lymphocytes. This effect was more pronounced at the 10 μ M concentration.

In contrast to treatment of isolated normal human lymphocytes, treatment of whole blood and then isolation of lymphocytes showed FB₁ to be very cytotoxic to the lymphocytes. Different studies have shown that FB₁ is only slightly cytotoxic after 48 hours. Liu *et al.* (2002) found no statistically significant decrease in primary swine alveolar macrophages after treatment for 48 hours. Cawood *et al.* (1994) noted a low cytotoxic response in primary hepatocytes. However FB₁ has also been shown to be cytotoxic to certain mammalian cell lines (Abbas *et al.*, 1993; Shier *et al.*, 1991), suggesting that some tissue may accumulate over time or may be more susceptible to the cancer-promoting activity of FB₁. Quereshi and Hagler (1992) reported that the exposure of chicken peritoneal macrophages to $10\mu g/ml$ of FB₁ for only 2 hours could reduce the cell viability to 80% of the controls.

Fumonisin B_1 is known to be a competitive inhibitor of sphingosine and sphinganine N aceyltransferase, which are key components in the pathways for *de novo* biosynthesis of sphingolipids (Wang *et al.*, 1991). The effects of sphingolipids on cell growth are complex. Free sphingoid bases both stimulate and inhibit cell growth and therefore the accumulation of sphinganine in FB₁ treated cells is likely to play a role in the alteration of cell growth and viability by fumonisins (Merrill *et al.*, 1996). Studies with a renal epithelial cell line, LLC-PK₁, have shown a close association between the concentrations of FB₁ that inhibit sphingolipid biosynthesis and cause growth inhibition and toxicity. This inhibition is supposed to be an early event in the cytotoxicity of FB₁ (Yoo *et al.*, 1992).

The greater cytotoxic effect exerted by FB_1 on lymphocytes isolated from treated blood could be attributed to the presence of other cells. In an *in vivo* situation, FB_1 , which is poorly absorbed would be rapidly excreted (Dutton, 1996). Consequently less FB_1 would enter the lymphocytes and that would result in fewer-free sphingoid bases. It is difficult to establish the factor(s) that determine if the sphingoid bases are growth stimulatory, growth inhibitory or cytototoxic.

However previous studies have shown that FB_1 is more cytotoxic at low concentrations. The cell viability of a rabbit kidney cell line (RK13) was reduced to 22% by treatment with 0.5µM FB₁ (Rumora *et al.*, 2002).

Although both FB_1 and AFB_1 are secondary metabolites of fungi, they have totally distinct chemical properties and structures, which lead to their different toxicological mechanisms (Yoo *et al.*, 1992). Generally, AFB_1 shows much higher cytotoxicity and carcinogenicity than FB_1 in either *in vivo* or *in vitro* systems (Kuiper-Goodman, 1995; Dutton, 1996). However in this case FB_1 was just as cytotoxic to human lymphocytes in treated blood as AFB_1 .

Aflatoxin B_1 also had a very different cytotoxic profile when the lymphocytes were isolated from treated blood as compared to treated cultured normal lymphocytes. When normal human lymphocytes were treated with 5µM AFB₁, it was shown to be extremely cytotoxic with a cell mortality rate of 40 %. However in lymphocytes extracted from whole blood, the cell mortality is approximately 31%. This reduced cytotoxic effect is possibly due to the presence of red blood cells in the blood, which would absorb some of the AFB₁, thereby reducing the amount of AFB₁ taken up by the lymphocytes.

Once activated, AFB_1 has been shown to form protein adducts. Aflatoxin B_1 -lysine has been identified as a major adduct in rat albumin and has also been identified in human plasma (Guengerich *et al.*, 2002). As a result when treated in whole blood, less AFB_1 would be absorbed into the lymphocytes and the cytotoxic effect would be reduced.

Another explanation for the reduced cytotoxic effect exerted by the lower concentrations of AFB₁ could be the presence of macrophages in whole blood. Macrophages are primarily the first line of defence against infectious agents (Skamene and Gros, 1983) and studies have shown that aflatoxin inhibits macrophage functions such as phagocytotic, chemotactic, microbiocidal and adherence activity (Neldon-Ortiz and Quereshi, 1991; Jakab *et al.*, 1994; Cusumano *et al.*, 1995). In the presence of 1.5µg of AFB₁, the cell viability of primary swine alveolar macrophages was reduced to 41% (Liu *et al.*, 2002). Dugyala and Sharma, (1996), showed that AFB₁ had a marked effect on peritoneal macrophage produced cytokines in mice. The levels of interleukin-1 α (IL-1 α) secreted proteins were significantly suppressed at all dosages and those of interleukin 6 (IL-6) and TNF at the high dose. However a low dose of AFB₁ only slightly decreased the protein levels expressed by the lymphatic IL2, IL3 and interferon γ . This would suggest that AFB₁ preferentially affects macrophage functions.

Having overcome the first line of defence, the macrophages, the AFB₁ could exert greater cytotoxic effects on the lymphocytes, which would possibly account for the reduced cell viability observed after treatment with the 10 μ M and 25 μ M AFB₁ concentrations. A saturation point appeared to be reached after the 10 μ M AFB₁ treatment with a cell mortality of approximately 63% possibly due to the saturation of the cell receptors.

The combination treatment of blood was shown to be cytotoxic in a dose dependent manner with a threshold point reached at 25μ M, with a cell mortality rate of approximately 74%. It was suggested previously that during the combination treatment of cultured human lymphocytes at higher concentrations, the cellular proliferating properties of FB₁ negated the cytotoxic effects caused by AFB₁. Now both toxins appear to be working simultaneously to reduce cell viability by different mechanisms.

Figure 3.6: Bar graph showing the individual and combined effect of Aflatoxin B₁ and Fumonisin B₁ on normal human lymphocytes after an incubation period of 24 hours.

* = significant difference from the control (p < 0.05) using Student's t test.

After 24 hours incubation AFB₁ exerted a similar cytotoxic effect on normal human lymphocytes when compared to the 12 hours treatment. The 5μ M AFB₁ was the most toxic with a percentage cell mortality of 45%. However, while the 10 μ M and 25 μ M AFB₁ concentrations were slightly cytotoxic with a cell viability of 80% and 95% respectively, the 50 μ M had a percentage cell mortality of 45% (Figure 3.6). AFB₁ has been shown to have significant mitogenic effects on human T lymphocytes (Griffiths *et al.*, 1996), which could account for the increase in cell viability after the 25 μ M AFB₁ treatment.

The other factor could be the carcinogenicity of AFB_1 . Based on the Solt-Farber method model of chemical carcinogenesis in the rat liver (Solt and Farber, 1976), carcinogen-initiated cells develop into preneoplastic foci upon addition of a strong growth stimulus. Cytotoxicity following initiation can stimulate cell division and hence promotion of preneoplastic foci. It can be speculated that as AFB_1 is both a potent cytotoxin and as well as an initiator, it acts as a "complete carcinogen".

When compared with the 12 hours incubation time, there appears to be a balance between the cell proliferating and cytotoxic effects of FB₁. There are no or very little cytotoxic effects. This would seem to indicate that FB₁ exerts its cytotoxic effects chronically not acutely. Cytotoxicity is dependent on the ability of a molecule to bind cellular receptors and to penetrate the cell, which in turn is reliant on the size, structural conformation and polarity of the molecule (Myburg *et al.*, 2002). Fumonisin B₁ is a strongly polar molecule (Diaz and Boermans, 1994) and its polarity appears to play an important role in its cytotoxic behaviour. In general, less polar molecules have higher cytotoxicity (Gelderblom *et al.*, 1993), which could explain the low cytotoxic response observed on treatment with FB₁.

The cytotoxic profile of the combination and AFB_1 were very similar after 12 hour and 24 hour incubation. This would indicate that AFB_1 is the more dominant toxin especially at the lower concentrations. This is to be expected because AFB_1 when treated individually was significantly more cytotoxic than FB₁ on treated human lymphocytes. A study by Liu *et al.*, 2002 on primary swine alveolar macrophages found that AFB_1 was at least ten fold more cytotoxic than FB₁. The cell viability of the alveolar macrophages was reduced to 80% by $5\mu g/ml FB_1$, whereas $0.5\mu g AFB_1$ was required for the same cytotoxic effect.

Figure 3.7: Bar graph showing the individual and combined effect of Aflatoxin B₁ and Fumonisin B₁ on normal human lymphocytes after an incubation period of 48 hours.

* = significant difference from the control (p < 0.05) using Student's t test.

Aflatoxin B_1 was cytotoxic to normal lymphocytes in a dose dependent manner after 48 hours exposure. A saturation point at 23% cell mortality appears to be reached at 25µM concentration. At 24 hours exposure, the 5µM AFB₁ treated cells have a cell viability of 45% whereas at the same concentration after 48 hours the cell viability was greater than 100%. It is possible that the cell is now able to detoxify the activated AFB₁ using glutathione S-Transferases (GST).

Although the necessity for AFB₁ activation to AFB₁-8.9 epoxide prior to DNA binding and carcinogenesis is well accepted, the levels of activating enzymes are not the sole determinates of sensitivity to AFB₁ toxicity. Activities of detoxifying biotransformation pathways are also critical and the GST catalyzed conjugation of activated AFB₁ is thought to be the most important detoxification system of the cells. The GST's are a group of cytosolic and microsomal enzymes that catalyse the conjugation of reduced glutathione. Since conjugation of the electrophilic AFB₁-8, 9-epoxide with the reduced glutathione is an alternate fate to binding to nucleophilic sites in cellular macromolecules, GST isoenzymes play a key role in the protection of cells from AFB₁ toxicity (Neal and Green, 1983).

After 48 hours exposure Fumonisin B_1 is very slightly cytotoxic with the highest cell mortality rate of 11% being reached after treatment with the 25µM concentration which, may suggest that the cytotoxic effects of FB₁ are chronic. The low cytotoxic response is in agreement with other studies. Myburg *et al.* (2002) showed minimal cytoxicity in the human oesophageal carcinoma cell line, SNO, after 48 hours treatment with FB₁ at similar concentrations. The combination was cytotoxic in a dose dependent manner with only the 50µM treatment being significantly cytotoxic. It appears that the cytotoxic effects exerted by AFB₁ were partially countered by the mitogenic properties of FB₁.

Figure 3.8: Bar graph showing the individual and combined effect of Aflatoxin B₁ and Fumonisin B₁ on normal human lymphocytes after an incubation period of 72 hours.

* = significant difference from the control (p < 0.05) using Student's t test.

The cytotoxic profile of AFB₁ treated cells after 72 hours exposure is similar to that after 24 hours exposure with cell mortality rate of the 10μ M and 25μ M concentrations being lower than the 5μ M and 50μ M concentration. It is possible that at the lower concentrations, the majority of the AFB₁ has formed conjugates with GSH and thereby prevented from binding to protein and DNA, reducing its cytotoxic effect. However at the 50μ M concentration all the free GSH present in the lymphocytes had undergone conjugation with AFB₁ and there was still excess toxin present, resulting in greater cytotoxicity.

Similarly to the 48 hours exposure results, FB₁ and the combination were shown to be slightly cytotoxic to the isolated human lymphocytes in a dose dependent manner. However the only significantly cytotoxic concentration of FB₁ was the 10 μ M concentration with a cell mortality rate of 13%.Several processes are known to play a role in the molecular events leading to cell damage: lipid peroxidation, covalent binding of xenobiotics or their metabolites to biomolecules and inhibition of the synthesis of cellular molecules. Once lipid peroxidation is initiated, it can easily be propagated in the cellular environment by radical mediated chain reactors (Abado-Becongree *et al.*, 1998). Malondialdehyde (MDA) and a wide range of oxidation products are formed as a result of this chemical process. Formation of MDA and other aldehydes is regarded as significant as these compounds are toxic (Ennamany *et al.*, 1995). Fumonisin B₁ has been shown to be a potent inducer of MDA (Abado-Becongree *et al.*, 1998), which indicate that lipid peroxidation is a very sensitive cellular response to FB₁, at concentrations lower than that required to inhibit cellular synthesis of macromolecules, protein and DNA. This could be a potential mechanism of FB₁ cytotoxicity.

Figure 3.9: Bar graph showing the individual and combined effect of Aflatoxin B₁ and Fumonisin B₁ on normal human lymphocytes after an incubation period of 96 hours.

* = significant difference from the control (p < 0.05) using Student's t test.

After 72 and 96 hours exposure of normal human lymphocytes to FB₁, there were very limited cytotoxic effects. This is in agreement with a study by Galvano *et al*, (2002a) on human fibroblasts, when it was found that FB₁ at concentrations of 10, 50 and 100 μ M did not affect cellular viability after 72 and 96 hours exposure. It also correlates with another study of Galvano *et al.*, (2002b), which indicated that FB₁ treatment of astrocytes for 48 hours, 72 hours and 6 days *in vitro*, at 10, 50, 100 μ M concentrations, does not affect cell viability.

Aflatoxin B_1 was significantly cytotoxic to normal human lymphocytes at low concentrations after 96 hours, which is to be expected. However it was not as cytotoxic as the lower concentrations at 12 hours and 24 hours suggesting that after 48 hours the lymphocytes have the ability to convert the epoxide to less potent metabolites primarily by the glutiathione Stransferases.

The cell viability of the combination treated cells decreases as the concentration of toxin increases. This would indicate that AFB_1 and FB_1 are working in conjunction to reduce cell viability. In a study by Gelderblom *et al.*, (2002) it was shown that when rats were treated in a sequential manner with AFB_1 and FB_1 , it induced far more toxic effects than the individual treatments. It was hypothesised that in addition to the cancer promoting activity of FB_1 of AFB_1 initiated hepatocytes, the AFB_1 pre treatment enhanced the FB_1 initiating potency, presumably by rendering the liver more susceptible to the toxic effects of FB_1 . It is possible that AFB_1 and FB_1 interacted in a similar manner to induce cytotoxic effects in normal human lymphocytes.

Although both FB_1 and AFB_1 are secondary metabolites of fungi, they have totally distinct chemical properties and structures, which lead to the different toxicological mechanisms (Yoo *et al.*, 1992). This is turn will determine how sensitive a cell is to the mycotoxin. It was difficult to determine the potential cytotoxicity of the combination as the mitogenic properties of FB_1 appeared to partially counteract the cytotoxic effect exerted by AFB_1 .
A summary of the cytotoxic effects of AFB_1 and FB_1 is shown in the Table 3.1 below.

Table 3.1: Summary of the cytotoxic effects of Aflatoxin B₁ and Fumonisin B₁, individually and in combination on isolated normal human lymphocytes and lymphocytes extracted from treated whole blood using the Methyl tetrazolium assay.

	Whole	Isolated normal human lymphocytes				
	blood					
-	12 hours	12 hours	24 hours	48 hours	72 hours	96 hours
5µM AFB1	68.57%*	60.20%*	45.57%*	112.93%	91.82%	87.30%*
10μM AFB ₁	34.68%*	58.91%*	79.81%*	87.48%*	95.84%	79.20%*
25µM AFB ₁	67.15%*	92.48%	94.74%	76.77%*	96.41%	79.27%*
50µM AFB ₁	89.60%*	148.71%	54.73%*	81.92%*	73.39%*	86.31%
5µM FB1	62.80%*	116.42%	103.08%	124.62%	105.16%	104.35%
10 μ M FB ₁	24.38%*	184.38%	100.27%	97.08%	87.09%*	100%
25μM FB ₁	70.06%*	197.48%	102.19%	89.57%*	87.46%	87.46%*
50μ M FB ₁	56.87%*	196.35%	97.47%	93.18%	91.68%	94.39%
5µM combination	103.31%	53.33%*	46.98%*	106.26%	105.88%	103.12%
10 µM combination	37.48%*	168.67%	89.30%*	98.75%	103.64%	94.13%
25µM combination	26.03%*	175.10%	111.73%	95.83%	95.41%	86.44%*
50µM combination	38.99%*	201.34%	81.08%*	90.26%*	93.83%*	87.74%*

*=significant difference from the controls (p< 0.005) using Student's t test

3.4 Conclusion

Generally AFB₁ showed much higher cytotoxicity to isolated human lymphocytes than FB₁ especially at lower concentrations after 12 and 24 hours incubation. However when whole blood was treated with the same concentration and ratio of toxin FB₁ was even more toxic to the lymphocytes than AFB₁. The MTT assay has been shown to be a functional cytotoxicity assay, which is highly valuable because of its objective evaluation. It has also been shown to be a fast and efficient colorimetric assay for testing the cytotoxicity of AFB₁ and FB₁ on normal human lymphocytes and for the comparison of their individual and combined cytotoxic potential. However the use of the MTT assay as described here can only provide information on the cytotoxic properties, which are characteristic of certain, but not all compounds.

CHAPTER 4

The effect of Aflatoxin B₁ and Fumonisin B₁ on apoptosis in cultured human lymphocytes

4.1 Flow Cytometry

Cytometry refers to the measurement of physical and chemical characteristics of cells, or, by extension, of other biological particles. Flow Cytometry is a process in which such measurements are made while the cells or particles pass, preferably in single file, through the measuring apparatus in a fluid stream. These measurements are made at a routine rate of 500 - 4000 cells per second in a moving fluid stream (Shapiro, 1994).

4.1.1 Properties Measured by Flow Cytometry

Most flow cytometers can measure two kinds of light from cells, light scatter and fluorescence.

4.1.1.1 Light Scatter

Light scatter is the interaction of light and matter. All materials, including cells, will scatter light. Light scatter is composed largely of light that is reflected or refracted. The position from which an object is viewed often determines what can be concluded about it. In the flow cytometer, light scatter detectors are usually located opposite the laser (relative to the cell) and to one side of the laser, in-line with the fluid-flow/laser beam intersection. The measurements made by these detectors are called forward light scatter and side light scatter, respectively (Shapiro, 1994).





Forward light scatter provides some information on the relative size of individual cells, whereas side light scatter provides some information on the relative granularity of individual cells. They are often used in combination to distinguish the different major categories of white cells in unseparated mammalian blood, but are useful in a wide variety of other assays as well (Shapiro, 1994).

4.1.1.2 Fluorescence

Fluorescence is the property of a molecule to absorb light of a particular wavelength and re-emit light of a longer wavelength. The wavelength change relates to an energy loss that takes place in the process. It is a characteristic that makes fluorescence extremely useful: filters may be used to exclude the excitation light from the light detector or the viewer. Thus, the only light measured or seen originates from the dye molecules. Interference from background or stray light striking the detectors is extremely low (Shapiro, 1994).

There are many fluorescent dyes that are useful for flow cytometry. They bind to a variety of cytochemical components, such as nucleic acids; proteins; specific cell-membrane, nuclear and cytoplasmic receptors; intracellular ion molecules; and many more. A key property of a fluorescent dye, which determines its potential for use in a flow cytometric assay, is the excitation wavelength: it must match the available wavelengths of the light source. In flow cytometers with lasers, this is most often 488 nm (Shapiro, 1994).

4.1.2 Basic Stages of Flow Cytometry

Flow cytometry involves six basic stages

- sample extraction and preparation,
- labelling,
- 'single file flow',
- laser illumination,
- fluorescence collection and detection and
- data analyses (Radcliff and Jaroszeski, 1998).

4.1.2.1 Sample Extraction and Preparation

Flow cytometry can analyse any cell type provided that the cells are freely suspended in a particlefree saline solution. Several different techniques are applicable depending upon the sample type (Radcliff and Jaroszeski, 1998).

4.1.2.2 Labelling

Flow cytometry ultimately depends upon the presence of specific chemicals in or on the surface of cells. Cells are small and do not naturally have enough molecules with strong fluorescence. For this reason, the cells are specifically labelled with dyes, which are efficient emitters of fluorescence. In order to obtain specific information about cells, the dyes are attached to biological molecules, which have specific affinity to a cell's molecules located on the surface or even within the cells. The range of labelling techniques currently available is extensive and is growing daily (Radcliff and Jaroszeski, 1998).

4.1.2.3 "Single File" Flow

When dilute solutions of the labelled cells are forced to flow through a narrow stream, the cells are forced to pass in "single file" fashion. This is typically done by using narrow capillary tubes or (more conventionally) through the use of hydrodynamic focusing – surrounding the sample stream with another saline liquid (cell free) at higher pressure, which controllably constricts the sample stream (Radcliff and Jaroszeski, 1998).

4.1.2.4 Laser Illumination

A laser is focused onto the sample stream in an effort to illuminate one cell at a time. The dye labels attached to cells are optically excited and fluorescence is emitted. A molecule typically emits a number of times depending upon the speed of the cell and the size of the focused spot (Radcliff and Jaroszeski, 1998).

4.1.2.5 Fluorescence Collection and Detection

The fluorescence light generated is emitted in all directions. It is attempted to collect as much of it as possible, filter out the scattered laser light and detect the rather weak signal using a fast and sensitive detector. Forward scatter detectors are photovoltaic photoiodides while fluorescence detectors are normally photomultiplier tubes (PMT). Light falling on the detector creates current, however PMT generates much more current per incident photon than a photovoltaic photoiodide (Radcliff and Jaroszeski, 1998).

4.1.2.6. Data Analysis

Fast detectors and signal processing equipment are critical for flow cytometry; as many as 100 000 cells/minute are typically analysed. Since not all cells of a particular type will have an identical signal, it is important to employ well-designed equipment, statistics and visualisation techniques to make sense of the data. In practice, a number of different parameters are investigated simultaneously including the use of more than one fluorescent label (Radcliff and Jaroszeski, 1998).



Figure 4.2: BD FACS Calibur benchtop cytometer (BD bioscience, 2003).

4.1.3 Detection of Apoptosis in vitro using Flow Cytometry

Apoptosis is a fundamental mode of cell death, which performs a regulatory function during normal development, in tissue homeostasis and in some disease processes (Wyllie, 1997). Cells undergoing apoptosis display typical changes in their morphological and physical properties (cell shrinkage, condensation of chromatin and cytoplasm), which are well measurable by flow cytometry. Thus, several methods have been developed for measuring apoptotic cell death through evaluation of light scattering parameters of cells (Darzynkiewicz *et al.*, 1992).

In viable cells, phosphatidylserine (PS) (Figure 4.3) is located on the cytoplasmic surface of the cell membrane. Upon induction of apoptosis, rapid alterations in the organisation of phospholipids in most cell types occurs leading to exposure of PS on the cell surface (Fadok *et al.*, 1992; Martin *et al.*, 1995). *In vitro* detection of externalised PS can be achieved through interaction with the anticoagulant annexin V (Boersma *et al.*, 1996; Koopman *et al.*, 1994; Frey, 1997). Annexin V is a Ca^{2+} -dependent phospholipid-binding protein with high affinity for PS (Vermes *et al.*, 1995). This protein can thus be used as a sensitive probe for PS exposure upon the outer leaflet of the cell membrane and is therefore well suited to detect apoptotic cells as shown in Figure 4.3 (Vermes *et al.*, 1995; Koopman *et al.*, 1994; Homburg *et al.*, 1995; Verhoven *et al.*, 1995) in cell populations but not on tissue sections.

Since necrotic cells also expose PS according to the loss of membrane integrity, apoptotic cells have to be differentiated from these necrotic cells. The simultaneous application of a DNA stain, propidium iodide (PI), which is used for dye exclusion tests, allows the discrimination of necrotic cells from the Annexin V positively stained cell cluster. In the presence of calcium, rapid high affinity binding of Annexin V to PS occurs. Phosphatidylserine translocation to the cell surface precedes nuclear breakdown, DNA fragmentation and the appearance of most apoptosis-associated molecules making annexin V binding a marker of early-stage apoptosis.



Figure 4.3: Principle of the Annexin V Fluos Staining kit (Roche, 2002).

The aim of this study was to determine whether AFB_1 and FB_1 induce apoptosis or necrosis in normal human lymphocytes, using the Annexin V Fluos staining kit.

4.2 Materials and Methods

4.2.1 Materials

The Annexin-V-Fluos Staining Kit was purchased from Roche Diagnostics, SA. 24 well microtitre plates were obtained from Adcock Ingram, while slides and coverslips were purchased from Shalom, SA. All other reagents and consumables used were obtained from the sources mentioned previously.

4.2.2 Methods

4.2.2.1 Isolation of Lymphocytes

Whole venous blood was collected and normal human lymphocytes were extracted using the procedure outlined previously in Section 3.2.3.5 to obtain a final concentration of 1×10^6 cells/ml.

4.2.2.2 Treatment of Lymphocytes

Aliquots of the cell suspension (2mls) were dispensed into the individual wells of the 24 well microtitre plate to give a final cell count of 2 X 10^6 cells/well. After vortexing, a 1ml aliquot of the 5µM AFB₁, 50µM AFB₁, 5µM FB₁ and 50µM FB₁ serial dilutions were transferred to individual wells of the microtitre plate using a micropipette. This procedure was repeated with the ethanol and CCM controls. Combinations of the toxins were prepared as a 1:1 mixture of AFB₁ and FB₁ to the same well. The plates were then incubated at 37°C for 12 hours. After incubation the treated cells were transferred aseptically using a 3ml sterile pasteur pipette to a sterile sterilin tube. These cells were washed in HBSS (5ml; 37°C) by centrifugation (400xg; 20 minutes; room temperature). The HBSS washing step was repeated twice, all supernatants were discarded and finally the pelleted cells were resuspended in 400µl HBSS.

4.2.2.3 Treatment of Whole Blood

Whole venous blood (60ml) was collected in 5ml sterile lithium heparin tubes. A 2ml aliquot of the blood was treated with a 1ml aliquot of 5μ M AFB₁, 50μ M AFB₁, 5μ M FB₁ and 50μ M FB₁ in sterile tubes. A 500 μ l aliquot of the 5μ M and 50μ M concentration of AFB₁ and 500μ l of the same concentrations of FB₁ were added to the same well to evaluate the apoptotic or necrotic inducing effects of the combination of mycotoxins. Complete culture medium and ethanol treatments were also prepared. These tubes were then incubated for 12 hours at 37°C in a controlled environmental incubator shaker at 150 rpm. The lymphocytes were then extracted as outlined in 3.2.3.5. The isolated pellets from the individual and combined treatments were then resuspended in 400 μ l HBSS.

4.2.2.4 Preparation of Staining Solution and Staining Procedure

Annexin-V fluorescein labelling reagent (20µl) was diluted in 1000µl Hepes buffer and a 20µl aliquot of Propidium iodide added. A 100µl aliquot of staining solution was added to each sample and the cells incubated in the dark for 15 minutes at room temperature.

4.2.2.5 Fluorescent Microscopy

The background to fluorescent microscopy and it value as an investigative technique will be discussed further in Chapter 6. For analysis by fluorescent microscopy a 20µl aliquot of the stained cells was placed on a glass slide and a coverslip placed on top. Apoptosis was visualised by viewing cells stained with Annexin V and PI using an inverted research microscope, Olympus $I \times 51$ (Wirsam Scientific, SA) using an excitation wavelength in the range of 450-500nm and detection in the range of 515- 565nm. Images were then captured using the digital camera using a microscope digital camera system, an Olympus DP12 (Wirsam Scientific, SA).

By staining cells with a combination of fluoresceinated Annexin V and PI, it is possible to detect non-apoptotic live cells (Annexin V negative, PI negative), which appear a dull green, early apoptotic cells (Annexin V positive, PI negative), fluoresce a bright green and late apoptotic or necrotic cells (PI positive), which appear orange-red.

4.2.2.6 Flow Cytometry

4.2.2.6.1 Instrumentation

Flow cytometric analysis was preformed using a FACS Calibur (BD Bioscience) benchtop cytometer with standard argon ion laser settings (488nm) and filter sets. Data from the FACS Calibur were acquired and analysed by using Cell Quest (BD Bioscience).

4.2.2.6.2 Flow Cytometry Methodology

A 0.4ml aliquot of binding buffer provided in the Annexin V fluorescein kit was added to the stained treated cell suspensions. An excitation wavelength of 488nm and a 515nm bandpass filter was used for fluorescein detection and a filter with a wavelength greater than 600nm for PI detection.

4.2.2.6.3 Data Analysis

Four-parameter list mode data were acquired for analysis. Light scatter parameters were used to gate on single cells, with an acquisition threshold set on the forward scatter (FS) signal. Irradiated cells tended to have more small cell debris that was included above the FS threshold so as not to include them in the sort window and thus contaminate the sort population. Fluorescence signals were logarithmically amplified and fluorescence compensation was determined from unlabeled and single-labeled cell controls. Samples were run for several seconds before data acquisition to allow dye equilibration in the FACS Calibur sample tubing.

65

Cell populations differentially stained with Annexin V and PI were routinely gated as follows. Population 1 (Annexin negative, PI negative) was identified by gating on cells exhibiting a low FS. Populations 2 (Annexin positive, PI negative) and 3 (Annexin positive, PI positive) were identified by gating on cells exhibiting higher FS. Population 3 was distinguished from population 2 by its higher side scatter. Cellular debris, erythrocytes and platelets (very low scatter) were excluded from analysis gates when possible.

4.3 Results and Discussion

Aflatoxin B_1 and FB_1 are fungal metabolites widely present in feed and food crops all over the world. As long-term exposure to low levels of these mycotoxins cannot be completely avoided, they are likely to be a potential concern of occupational and public health. Few studies have looked at the effect of AFB_1 and FB_1 on the levels of apoptosis in human lymphocytes, which could be directly and indirectly affected through systematic administration. This study aimed to compare the apoptosis-inducing ability of AFB_1 and FB_1 and FB_1 at high/low concentrations and to determine their combined effect on the levels of apoptosis in human lymphocytes.

In live cells plasma membrane phospholipids are asymmetrically distributed between inner and outer leaflets of the plasma membranes. It has been recently shown that the loss of phospholipids asymmetry, leading to the exposure of PS on the outer surface of the plasma membrane, is an early event of apoptosis. The anticoagulant Annexin V preferentially binds to negatively charged phospholipids such as PS. Apoptotic cells react with Annexin V after the onset of chromatin condensation but prior to the loss of the plasma membranes ability to exclude PI as shown in Figure 4.4.



Figure 4.4: Picture of 5µM Combination treated lymphocytes stained with Annexin and Propidium Iodide (400X). A represents an apoptotic cell, N a necrotic cell and V, a viable cell.

The aim to determine differences in staining between apoptotic, necrotic and viable cells when viewed using a fluorescent microscope, was achieved. The level of apoptosis in the controls and untreated sample was accurately quantified using flow cytometry. The scatter plot and histogram obtained from the samples analyzed are shown below in Figure 4.5 and 4.6.



Figure 4.5: Annexin Fluorescien Isothiocyanate scatter plot and histogram of untreated control.



Figure 4.6: Annexin Fluorescien Isothiocyanate scatter plot and histogram of 50µM Combination treatment.

The scatter plot obtained was analysed, the various regions gated according to the procedure outlined in Section 4.2.4 and the results correlated into a table shown below.

Toxin	% Viable Cells gated	% Apoptotic Cells gated	% Necrotic Cells gated	
Control	86.47	8.21	0.19	
5μM AFB ₁	82.25	17.09	0.17	
50µM AFB1	77.10	22.14	0.28	
5μM FB1	78.17	20.98	0.31	
50μM FB1	81.54	17.91	0.09	
5µM Combination	77.28	22.17	0.13	
50µM Combination	77.71	21.54	0.24	

Table 4.1:]	The percentage via	able, apoptotic and	necrotic cells in	n untreated and	treated
(cultured human ly	mphocytes determi	ned using flow c	ytometry.	

The 5 μ M FB₁ treatment resulted in increased levels of apoptosis, approximately 12.7% when compared to the control (Table 4.1). Numerous *in vivo* studies have demonstrated that FB₁ induces apoptosis in rat kidney and liver (Lim *et al.*, 1996; Tolleson *et al.*, 1996). It has also been shown that FB₁ induces apoptosis of several different human cell types.

When primary human keratinocyte cultures and transformed human oesophageal epithelial cells (HET-1A cells) were treated with FB₁, it was shown to inhibit cell growth and increase apoptosis (Tolleson 1996), demonstrating that FB₁ treatment can lead directly to apoptosis. Increased apoptosis after exposure to FB₁ *in vitro* has been reported in a number of cell lines such as turkey lymphocytes (Dombrink-Kurtzman *et al.*, 1994), HT29 human colonic cell line (Schmeltz *et al.*, 1998) and C₆ glioma cells (Mobio *et al.*, 2000). It was therefore expected that FB₁ would induce higher levels of apoptosis in the treated human lymphocytes.

It is thought that FB_1 inhibits the enzyme ceramide synthase, (Riley *et al.*, 2001) and therefore interrupts the ability of the cells to synthesise complex sphingolipids, resulting in the accumulation of intracellular sphingosine and sphinganine (Wang *et al.*, 1991), each of which has likewise been shown to down regulate protein kinase C (Ciacci-Zanella and Jones, 1999). As a result there should be a simultaneous decrease in cellular ceramides and complex sphingolipids, each of which has been shown to participate in signal transduction pathways involved in cellular apoptosis. Therefore regardless of whether the apoptotic mechanism involves the elevations of sphinganine or sphingosine, changes in ceramide or sphingolipids, or other yet identified cellular changes, the end result is the induction of apoptosis and a resulting compensation in cell proliferation.

As apoptosis can play a critical role in the development of cancer or disease, the ability of FB₁ to induce apoptosis appears to be important with respect to its toxicological effects (Tolleson 1996). Disruption of sphingolipid metabolism and regulatory function are therefore likely to critical for cytotoxicity, apoptosis and carcinogenicity resulting from FB₁ exposure. There is also evidence that other factors are also involved, including the cytokine, $TNF\infty$, which is responsible for the regulation of apoptosis and cellular replication.

It has also been shown that FB₁ is more cytotoxic at lower concentrations in various studies on human cell lines, Myburg *et al.*, 2002 showed minimal cytoxicity in a human esophageal carcinoma cell line, accounting for the increase in necrosis shown in the 5μ M FB₁ treatment. In the 50μ M FB₁ treated lymphocytes, higher levels of apoptosis were induced but the levels of necrosis had decreased. Fumonisin B₁ has been shown to exhibit both proliferation enhancing (Tolleson *et al.*, 1996; Lim *et al.*, 1996); and growth-inhibiting effects (Dombrink –Kurtzman *et al.*, 1994). It is probable that at the higher concentration, FB₁ is acting as a mitogen. This hypothesis is supported by the increase in percentage viable cells when compared to the lower FB₁ concentration. When cultured human lymphocytes, were treated with AFB₁ both concentrations induced increased levels of apoptosis, when compared to the control. Caspase-3 is one of cysteine proteases, which plays a major role in the execution of apoptosis. A number of genetic and biochemical studies suggest that caspase activation is essential for the occurrence of the apoptotic phenotype of cell death. A variety of caspase substrates are involved in the regulation of DNA structure, repair and replication. Caspase–3 substrate cleavage has been observed under oxidative stress in different pathological conditions.

Aflatoxin B_1 is one of the most potentially dangerous mycotoxins known due to its high toxicity towards both animals and humans. One of the manifestations of AFB₁-induced toxicity is oxidative stress, free radicals etc. It has been accepted that oxidative stress is an apoptosis inducer (Chandra *et al.*, 2000). Many agents that induce apoptosis are either oxidants or stimulators of cellular oxidative metabolism apoptosis. Conversely, many inhibitors of apoptosis have antioxidant activities or enhance cellular antioxidant defences (Freeman *et al.*, 1982). The glutathione (GSH) redox cycle is an important component of the antioxidant machinery in cells. In normal cells, a primary defence against oxidative damage is provided by antioxidants such as GSH and the onset of apoptosis is associated with a fall in intracellular GSH in numerous cellular systems (Raton *et al.*, 1994). This is a potential mechanism whereby treatment of cultured human lymphocytes with AFB₁ will result in increased levels of apoptosis.

There was an increase in the percentage of necrotic cells gated in the 50μ M AFB₁ concentration (Table 4.1). It is a well known fact that AFB₁ is extremely cytotoxic therefore it was to be expected that the levels of necrosis would be increased (Corrier *et al.*, 1991).

It can be seen that in both combination treatments, a higher level of apoptosis was induced thereby indicating that FB_1 and AFB_1 have the potential of working in conjunction to increase levels of apoptosis, using different mechanisms. The levels of necrosis were low in the 5µM combination treatment but increased by almost double at the higher concentration, probably due to the higher concentrations of toxin. As both mycotoxins are common contaminants this could be a potential area of concern.

Treatment of cultured human lymphocytes with mycotoxin and determination of their apoptotic inducing ability will help clarify their mechanism of toxicity. However it does not always reflect what happens when mycotoxins are absorbed into the blood stream of humans. This is because human blood is made up of many different types of cells for example red blood cells, lymphocytes, neutrophils and macrophages. As a result it is extremely difficult to re-create the complex mechanisms and interactions between the different cells which may determine if the toxin is harmful to normal human lymphocytes or not. In an attempt to gain clearer understanding of the apoptotic inducing ability of the AFB₁ and FB₁, whole blood was treated in the same ratio and at the same concentrations of toxin and incubated for the same time period, 12 hours, as treatment of normal human lymphocytes. Following incubation, the lymphocytes were extracted and the level of apoptosis determined. The scatter plot and histogram obtained from some of the samples analyzed using flow cytometry are shown below in Figure 4.7 to 4.8.



Figure 4.7: Annexin Fluorescien Isothiocyanate scatter plot and histogram of untreated control



Figure 4.8: Annexin Fluorescien Isothiocyanate ITC scatter plot and histogram of 50µM Combination treatment.

The scatter plot obtained was analysed, the various regions gated and the results correlated into a table shown below.

Table 4.2: The percentage viable, apoptotic and necrotic cells in untreated and treated whole blood, followed by extraction of lymphocytes determined using flow cytometry.

	% Viable Cells	% Apoptotic Cells	% Necrotic Cells	
	gated	gated	gated	
Control	97.63	1.50	0.52	
5μM AFB ₁	97.44	1.74	0.43	
50μM AFB ₁	98.97	0.57	0.27	
5μM FB ₁	97.75	0.92	0.94	
50µM FB1	98.91	0.56	0.29	
5µM Combination	96.74	1.72	1.10	
50µM Combination	96.42	0.68	2.60	

When comparing these results to those obtained from the treated lymphocytes, the percentage of viable cells in all treatments had increased and the corresponding percentage apoptotic cells decreased. However the levels of necrosis had increased in whole blood when compared to treated lymphocytes. There are a number of different factors that could be responsible for this. In whole blood, not only lymphocytes, other types of cells would also be present. As a result the complex interactions between the cells, used to protect them from foreign particles would be intact. Cellular mediators such as cytokines also play an important role in the regulation of the cell's defence.

Another factor could be the complex transport mechanisms between cells. For example in the AFB₁ treated lymphocytes: albumin (Wild *et al.*, 1990). Aflatoxin B₁-lysine has been identified as a major adduct in rat albumin and has also been identified in human plasma (Guengerich *et al.*, 2002). As a result when treated in whole blood, less AFB₁ would be absorbed into the lymphocytes and therefore less apoptosis induced. It could be seen that in the treated lymphocytes, the higher concentration of AFB₁ caused an increase in apoptotic and necrotic cells when compared to the lower concentration.

However in the treated whole blood the opposite trend was observed with the levels of apoptosis and necrosis decreasing. It is hypothesised that in the whole blood, the levels of AFB_1 absorbed into the cells and its bioconversion is controlled as discussed previously by the formation of conjugates with serum albumin. This could explain why the levels of necrosis were decreased in the higher concentration of AFB_1 treated whole blood.

In both treated lymphocytes and whole blood, the trend was for FB₁ to have lower apoptosis and necrosis at the higher concentration when compared to the lower concentration. The results also showed that the levels of apoptosis in whole blood were decreased in comparison to the treated lymphocytes, however the percentage necrotic cells was increased. As discussed previously FB₁ is a strongly polar molecule (Diaz and Boermans, 1994), which will affect the way it is absorbed into the cells and its mechanism of inhibiting sphingolipid biosynthesis. In whole blood FB₁ would probably be absorbed faster than in culture medium, therefore exerting greater cytotoxic effects and thereby increasing the levels of necrosis at lower concentrations. However at the higher concentration there were lower levels of apoptosis and necrosis. It is suspected that in response to increased levels of apoptosis, a cellular defence mechanism kicked in, possibly the excretion of the toxin and there was an increase in cell proliferation.

The combination treatment of AFB_1 and FB_1 at both concentrations resulted in higher levels of necrosis and lower percentage viable cells thereby suggesting that the toxins are working in conjunction via different mechanisms, to reduce cell viability. As both toxins are common contaminants and have been known to co-exist (Ueno *et al.*, 1997), this could be a potential area of concern for public health.

4.6 Conclusion

The detection of apoptosis using the Annexin V Fluos Staining Kit was shown to be a viable procedure for the determination of apoptotic inducing ability of AFB_1 and FB_1 in treated human lymphocytes. It was shown that FB_1 and AFB_1 working simultaneously resulted in increased levels of apoptosis. Possibly due to the cellular defence mechanisms the levels of apoptosis were reduced in whole blood lymphocytes when compared to isolated lymphocytes.

CHAPTER 5

Assessment of the potential genotoxic effects of Aflatoxin B₁ and Fumonisin B₁ on normal human lymphocytes

5.1. DNA Damage

Techniques which permit the sensitive detection of DNA damage have been shown to be very useful in the studies of environmental toxicology (Hartman and Speit, 1994), carcinogenesis (Lewensohn et al., 1982) and ageing (Niedermuller et al., 1985). Since the effects of environmental toxicants, cancer and ageing are often tissue and cell specific, it is important to develop techniques which can detect DNA damage in specific cells. However, until recently, the most frequently used methods involved either the detection of DNA repair synthesis (so-called unscheduled DNA synthesis or UDS) in individual cells, or the detection of DNA single stranded breaks (SSB) and alkali liable sites (ALS) in pooled cell populations using the alkaline elution assay. The UDS technique is based on the replication of DNA during the excision repair of certain types of DNA lesions, as demonstrated by the incorporation of tritiated thymidine into the DNA repair sites. While providing information at the level of the individual cell, the technique is technically cumbersome, requires the use of radioactivity and is limited in sensitivity. The alkaline elution assay ignores the critical importance of intercellular differences in DNA damage and requires relatively large numbers of cells. A more useful approach for assessing DNA damage is the single-cell gel electrophoresis (SCGE) or Comet assay.

5.1.1 The SCGE Assay

Ostling and Johanson (1984) were the first to develop a microgel electrophoresis technique for detecting DNA damage at the level of the single cell. In their technique, cells embedded in agarose were placed on a microscope slide, detergents and high concentration salt were used to lyse the cells and the liberated DNA electrophoresed under neutral conditions. Cells with an increased frequency of DNA double-strand breaks (DSB) displayed increased migration of DNA toward the anode. The migrating DNA was quantified by staining with ethidium bromide and by measuring the intensity of fluorescence at two fixed positions within the migration pattern using a microscope photometer. However, the neutral conditions used greatly limited the general utility of the assay.

Subsequently, Singh *et al.* (1988) introduced a microgel technique involving electrophoresis under alkaline (pH 13) conditions for detecting DNA damage in single cells. At this pH, increased DNA migration is associated with increased levels of frank SSB, SSB associated with incomplete excision repair sites and ALS. Because almost all genotoxic agents induce orders of magnitude more SSB and/or ALS than DSB, this version of the assay offered greatly increased sensitivity for identifying genotoxic agents.

Since the introduction of the alkaline (pH 13) Comet assay in 1988, the numbers of applications and investigators using this technique have increased almost exponentially. Compared with other genotoxicity assays, the advantages of the technique include:

- Demonstrated sensitivity for detecting low levels of DNA damage
- Small numbers of cells per sample required
- Flexibility
- Low costs
- Ease of application
- Ability to conduct studies using relatively small amounts of a test substance
- Relatively short time period (a few days) needed to complete an experiment.

5.1.2 Applications of SCGE

Although the comet assay is used extensively in *in vitro* and *in vivo* genetic toxicology and many different types of cell lines and practically any type of cell from any target organs can be tested, there are several other applications for the comet assay. By looking at the removal of DNA damage over a period of time, comet assay can reflect the DNA repair that is taking place in the damaged cells including SSB repair (Singh *et al.*, 1988) and DSB repair (Evans *et al.*, 1993). It can also be used to detect excision (Tice *et al.*, 1990) and cross link repair (Pfuhler and Wolf, 1996). Another application of SCGE includes the detection of apoptosis. Kizilian *et al.*, (1999) has used the silver staining comet assay for detecting apoptosis. The 'Halo' assay or 'Tear drop' assay can also be used to detect apoptosis. The comet assay has also been used for the visual quantification of DNA DSB breaks in bacteria (Singh *et al.*, 1999).

There are also several clinical applications including

Prenatal diagnosis (Alapetite *et al.*, 1997);
DNA repair deficiency syndrome (Alapetite *et al.*, 1996);
Cancer Susceptibility (Jaiswal *et al.*, 1994)
Cancer therapy (Ostling *et al.*, 1987; Tice *et al.*, 1992; Olive *et al.*, 1993);
Cataract (Kleiman and Spector, 1993)
Diabetes Mellitus (Collins *et al.*, 1998a; Anderson *et al.*, 1998)
Rheumatoid arthritis (McCurdy *et al.*, 1997)
Alzheimer's disease models (Kruman *et al.*, 2002)

Biomonitoring applications include

Aging (Singh *et al.*, 1990) Exercise (Hartman *et al.*, 1994) Malnourishment (Betancourt *et al.*, 1995) Nutrition (Green *et al.*, 1994) Ozone (Calderon-Garciduenas *et al.*, 1996) Population based (Betti *et al.*, 1995)

The comet assay can be used to study the DNA damage in cells in different cell cycle phases. The rationale of this application is similar to that of flow cytometry - the total comet fluorescence is proportional to the DNA content in cell. Cells in G1, S and G2 cell cycle phases are distinguished on the basis of different total comet fluorescence. Using data on the cell cycle distribution of the particular cell line obtained by flow cytometry, one can divide cells into the cell cycle phases. Alternatively, it is possible to use this approach for an unknown cell line on the basis of distribution the comet total fluorescence as measured by the comet assay. Of course, this application is useful only in the case of a homogenous cell population, preferentially - cells in culture. For multilineage samples, like human blood, it is necessary to distinguish the cells of interest by other means, e.g. antibody coated microbeads (Kruszewski *et al.*, 1998).

During the last decade, this assay has developed into a basic tool for use by investigators interested in research areas ranging from human and environmental biomonitoring to DNA repair processes to genetic toxicology. The aim of this study was to determine whether AFB_1 and FB_1 , treated individually or in combination induce DNA damage in normal human lymphocytes and lymphocytes extracted from treated whole blood, using the comet assay.

5.2 Materials and Methods

5.2.1 Materials

Low melting point agarose was purchased from Saarchem, SA. Slides and coverslips were obtained from Shalom, SA. NaCl, EDTA, Na₂EDTA and NaOH pellets were acquired from Merck. Tris, 1% and Triton X100 were also purchased from Merck. All other reagents and consumables used were obtained from the sources mentioned previously.

5.2.2 Methodology

5.2.2.1 Isolation of Lymphocytes

Whole venous blood was collected and normal human lymphocytes were isolated as described in sections 3.2.3.4 and 3.2.3.5.

5.2.2.2 Treatment of the Lymphocytes

An aliquot of 2mls of lymphocytes containing approximately 1 X 10^6 cells/ml was added to individual wells of a 24 well microtitre plate. A 1ml aliquot of 5µM AFB₁, 50µM AFB₁, 5µM FB₁ and 50µM AFB₁ was added to each well. Individual ethanol and CCM controls were also prepared. Combinations of the toxins were prepared by adding 500µl aliquot of each concentration of AFB₁ and 500µl of the same concentration of FB₁ to the same well. The plates were then incubated at 37°C for 12 hours.

5.2.2.3 Treatment of Whole Blood

A 2ml aliquot of the blood was treated with a 1ml aliquot of 5μ M AFB₁, 50μ M AFB₁, 5μ M FB₁ and 50μ M FB₁ in sterile tubes. A 500 μ l aliquot of the 5μ M and 50μ M concentration of AFB₁ and 500μ l of the same concentrations of FB₁ were added to the same well to evaluate the potential genotoxic effects of the combination of mycotoxins. CCM and ethanol treatments were also prepared. The suspension was incubated for 12 hours at 37°C in a controlled environmental incubator shaker at 150 rpm. Some of the treated whole blood was then used to prepare the second layer of the mini gels as described in 5.2.2.4. The remainder of the treated whole blood was then used for the extraction of lymphocytes as outlined in 3.2.3.5.

5.2.2.4 Single Cell Gel Electrophoresis Assay

The procedure of the SCGE assay was carried out using aseptic techniques. Contact with hazardous chemicals was minimised by using sterile gloves and a mask. Low melting point agarose (LMPA) (1%, 0.5g) was melted in Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺ free phosphate buffered saline (PBS) (50ml) by heating in a microwave (60°C) until a clear solution was obtained. The molten agarose was cooled to 35°C. As shown in Figure 5.1, a first layer of LMPA (1%) was placed towards the frosted end of a microscopic glass slide (400µl) (Lasec, 76 × 26mm). The slides were then covered with a coverslip (60×20mm) and maintained at 4°C for 20 minutes to allow the agarose to solidify. The first layer on the slide was used to promote even and firm attachment for the second and third layers. For the second layer 0.5 % LMPA was prepared.

Following the careful removal of the coverslips, a second layer of molten LMPA (90µl) was mixed with lymphocytes or whole blood (20µl) and the mixture rapidly pipetted onto the first solidified layer of LMPA on the microscope glass slides. The slides were covered with a coverslip and maintained at 4°C for 10 minutes. The coverslips were then gently removed after solidification of the second layer. A third layer of the LMPA (0.5%, 90µl) was then placed on the previous two solidified layers on the microscope slides, covered with a coverslip and maintained at 4°C for 10 minutes. The coverslips were carefully removed and the slides then gently immersed in a freshly prepared lysis solution (250ml) consisting of 2.5M NaCl, 100mM EDTA, 10mM Tris (pH 10), 1% Triton X100, 10% DMSO for 1 hour at 4°C to lyse the cells and permit DNA unwinding.

After 1 hour, the slides were removed, drained and placed side by side in a horizontal electrophoresis tank (Amersham SA) with the preset gel ends closest to the anode. The tank was filled with fresh electrophoresis buffer made up of 1mM Na₂EDTA and 300mM NaOH (pH 13), to a level approximately 0.25cm above the slides. The primary role of the buffer is to impose some constant number of charges on the cell, provide good conditions of solubility and to pass some current. The pH and the ionic strength of the buffer will affect the migration of the DNA during electrophoresis. If the electrophoresis buffer is omitted, electrical conductance is minimal and the DNA will migrate slowly, if at all (Sambrook *et al.* 1989). The slides were left in the buffer for 20minutes to allow for unwinding of DNA before electrophoresis. Electrophoresis was then conducted at room temperature for 35 minutes at 25V using a Biorad powerpac 300.



Figure 5.1: Schematic drawing of the SCGE assay.

After electrophoresis, the slides were removed from the tank and were washed gently to remove alkali and detergents which would interfere with ethidium bromide staining, by placing them on a tray and flooding them slowly with 3 changes of 0.4 M Tris (3ml), pH 7.5 for 5 minutes.

5.2.2.5 Viewing and Analysis of Slides

After neutralisation the slides were stained with 50μ l of ethidium bromide (20μ g/ml) and covered with a coverslip. Ethidium bromide is a dye that intercalates between stacked base pairs of the DNA molecules, extending the length of linear and nicked DNA and making them more rigid. All the steps were conducted in the dark to prevent any additional DNA damage. The slides were then viewed using an inverted research microscope, Olympus I X 51 with an excitation filter of 515-560nm and a barrier filter of 590nm. Images of 50 randomly selected lymphocytes (25 from each of the two replicate slides) were identified on the basis of cell size and location of the nucleus.

The images were then captured using a microscope digital camera system, an Olympus DP12 camera. Scion Image Analysis software was then used to analyse the images. Tail distance, the length from the beginning of the head to the end of the tail was used to determine the extent of DNA damage.

5.2.2.6 Statistical Analysis

All data were presented as means \pm standard deviations (SD). The results of the single cell gel electrophoresis test were analysed using the Student's t test. A probability (p) value less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

5.3 Results and Discussion

Aflatoxin B_1 and FB_1 have been shown to be cytotoxic to human lymphocytes and to induce nuclear fragmentation. In an attempt to quantify the DNA damage, freshly isolated human lymphocytes and whole blood were treated with the mycotoxins, both individually and in combination for 12 hours and evaluated using the comet assay. The slides were then viewed using fluorescent microscopy (Figure 5.2 to 5.8).



Figure 5.2: Comet assay of untreated normal human lymphocytes (A), untreated whole blood (B) and lymphocytes extracted from untreated whole blood (C).



Figure 5.3: Comet assay of 5µM Aflatoxin B₁ treated normal human lymphocytes (A), 5µM Aflatoxin B₁ treated whole blood (B) and lymphocytes extracted from 5µM Aflatoxin B₁ treated whole blood (C).



Figure 5.4: Comet assay of 50µM Aflatoxin B₁ treated normal human lymphocytes (A), 50µM Aflatoxin B₁ treated whole blood (B) and lymphocytes extracted from 50µM Aflatoxin B₁ treated whole blood (C).



Figure 5.5: Comet assay of 5µM Fumonisin B₁ treated normal human lymphocytes (A),
5µM Fumonisin B₁ treated whole blood (B) and lymphocytes extracted from
5µM Fumonisin B₁ treated whole blood (C).



Figure 5.6: Comet assay of 5µM Fumonisin B₁ treated normal human lymphocytes (A), 5µM Fumonisin B₁ treated whole blood (B) and lymphocytes extracted from 5µM Fumonisin B₁ treated whole blood (C).



Figure 5.7:Comet assay of 5μM combination treated normal human lymphocytes (A), 5μM combination treated whole blood (B) and lymphocytes extracted from 5μM combination treated whole blood (C).



Figure 5.8: Comet assay of 50µM combination treated normal human lymphocytes (A), combination treated whole blood (B) and lymphocytes extracted from combination treated whole blood (C).

Increased DNA migration accompanies the DNA fragmentation associated with cytotoxicity arising through necrosis or apoptosis. Apoptosis results in the extensive formation of single stranded breaks (Marks and Fox, 1991). Similarly, the DNA of necrotic cells also undergoes extensive degradation due to the induction of single stranded breaks. These cells can be detected using the comet assay. Several researchers have thought it possible based on the appearance of the comet, to distinguish between apoptotic and necrotic cells (Olive *et al.*, 1993). Apoptotic cells were concluded to form comets with large fan like tails and small heads, while necrotic cells were shown to form comets with relatively large heads and narrow tails of varying lengths. However this characterisation may not always be completely accurate (Tice *et al.*, 2000).

Tail distance was measured using Scion Image analysis software to assess the potential genotoxic effects of AFB₁ and FB₁ on normal human lymphocytes (Table 5.1).

Table 5.1: Comet assay of normal human lymphocytes, whole blood and lymphocytes extracted from whole blood, which have been treated with Aflatoxin B₁ and Fumonisin B₁, individually and in combination.

	Treated lymphocytes tail distance (µm)	Lymphocytes of treated whole blood tail distance (µm)	Lymphocytes extracted from treated whole blood tail distance (µm)
Ethanol control	7.64 ± 1.35	7.56 ± 1.72	11.96 ± 2.36
5µM AFB1	7.77 ± 2.24	7.62 ± 2.11	15.78 ± 2.52*
$50 \mu M AFB_1$	17.21 ± 3.41*	7.63 ± 1.19	16.11 ± 2.29*
$5\mu M FB_1$	13.99±3.56*	12.07 ± 2.95*	19.77 ± 4.51*
50μM FB ₁	14.73 ± 3.82*	15.66 ± 2.57*	16.18 ± 2.01*
5µM Combination	7.9 ± 5.92	12.25 ± 2.84*	12.31 ± 2.61
50µM Combination	20.00 ± 3.80*	18.04 ± 2.94*	15.93 ± 3.14*

* = significant difference from the control (p < 0.05) using Student's t test.

Normal human lymphocytes are not the sole component of blood. The human blood stream also consists of erythrocytes, cytokines, leukocytes, neutrophils, macrophages and other cells. As a result it is very difficult to get a realistic idea of what occurs when mycotoxins are absorbed into the human blood stream by just evaluating their effect on isolated normal lymphocytes. This fails to take into account the transport systems, carrier systems and complex interactions between the different types of cells, which will play a role in the defence mechanism of the immune system. Another factor that should be taken into account is that in an *in vivo* situation, mycotoxins such as FB₁, which are poorly absorbed, would be rapidly excreted compared to an *in vitro* situation (Dutton, 1996). As a result less toxin would be taken up.

It was decided to evaluate the DNA damaging potential of FB_1 and AFB_1 by three different methods of treatment, the treatment of freshly isolated normal lymphocytes, whole blood and the extraction of lymphocytes from treated whole blood. There was no discernable difference between the controls of the three different methods of treatment. The DNA formed normal round solid balls, with no visible DNA migration or damage (Figure 5.2).

When isolated normal human lymphocytes were treated with FB₁, it caused DNA damage in a dose dependent manner (Figure 5.5A and 5.6A). This correlates with recent studies that have reported that FB₁ has DNA damaging potential (Tolleson *et al.*, 1996; Knasmuller *et al.*, 1997; Sahu *et al.*, 1998). In a study by Galvano *et al.* (2002a), it was found that treatment with FB₁ induced DNA damage to human fibroblasts when the cells were exposed to the toxin at high concentrations for prolonged periods of exposure. It was thought that this damage was induced by apoptosis as it was preceded by an increase in caspase 3-activity as well as in the levels of poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase fragments. Under increasing adverse cellular conditions and subsequent DNA damage, the capacity of cellular repair has been shown to be impaired (Galvano *et al.*, 2002a). The altered metabolic conditions could be representative of apoptotic pathways.

In the 5μ M AFB₁ treated isolated normal lymphocytes, tail distance was shorter when compared to the control (Figure 5.3A). Many of the cytotoxic effects of AFB₁ require its bioactivation to the 2,3 epoxide metabolite by a cytochrome P450 (P450) dependent polysubstrate monooxygenase enzyme. It has been shown that cytochrome P450 is expressed in human peripheral blood lymphocytes (Haufroid *et al.*, 2003). Some of the epoxide will covalently bind to macromolecules to form protein and DNA adducts (Eaton and Gallagher, 1994). Possibly this would cause the nuclei to become more compact and therefore the tail distance would shrink. DNA damage was induced in the 50μ M AFB₁ treated normal isolated lymphocytes (Figure 5.4A). The comets formed had relatively large heads and narrow tails, which as mentioned previously, could indicate DNA damage caused by necrosis. Aflatoxin B₁ has been shown to be a potent cytotoxic agent so the probability of DNA damage induced by necrosis is very high.

Aflatoxin B_1 and FB_1 have been found in several cases to coexist. This combination of toxins could prove to be a serious health hazard for humans. However, the 5µM combination treatment of isolated normal human lymphocytes did not induce any significant DNA damage (Figure 5.7A). Fumonisin B_1 has been shown to be both mitogenic (Tolleson *et al.*, 1996; Lim *et al.*, 1996); and cytotoxic (Dombrink –Kurtzman *et al.*, 1994; Tolleson *et al.*, 1996). It can therefore be speculated that at this concentration the effects of FB_1 were mitogenic rather than cytotoxic thereby resulting in no DNA damage. This hypothesis is supported by the fact that the tail distance profile is almost identical to the 5µM AFB₁ treated lymphocytes.

Fumonisin B_1 treatment of whole blood resulted in DNA damage at both the high and low concentrations (Figure 5.5B and 5.6B). Previously FB₁ was considered less genotoxic than other mycotoxins, such as AFB₁, as it is believed to induce cancer by altering the signal transduction pathways of the target cells (Wang and Groopman, 1999). However a study by Mobio *et al.* (2000) on C6 glioma cells showed that FB₁ at low concentrations induced comets with increased tail lengths. Under these conditions FB₁ induced DNA fragmentation and laddering and many apoptotic bodies.

Data from the literature indicates the ability of FB₁ to selectively block the cell cycle and play an important role in inducing apoptosis, through the TNF pathway and caspase activity (Ciacci-Zanella *et al.*, 1998). The elevated concentrations of free highly bioactive sphingoid bases must contribute to the cellular effects of FB₁ (Wang and Groopman, 1999; Yoo *et al.*, 1996); although the specific targets are partially unclear, any system affected by free sphingolipid bases and/or their metabolites is a potential target.

None of the AFB₁ treatments of whole blood induced any DNA damage, which could be due to several factors (Figure 5.3B - Figure 5.4B). Red blood cells are present in blood and therefore would absorb some of the AFB₁, thereby reducing the amount of toxin taken up by the lymphocytes. Another explanation could be the presence of macrophages in whole blood.

Macrophages are primarily the first line of defence against infectious agents (Skamene and Gros, 1983) and studies have shown that aflatoxin inhibits macrophage functions such as phagocytotic, chemotactic, microbiocidal, an adherence activity (Neldon-Ortiz and Quereshi, 1991; Jakab *et al.*, 1994; Cusumano *et al.*, 1995). In the presence of 1.5µg of AFB₁, the cell viability of primary swine alveolar macrophages was reduced to 41% (Liu *et al.*, 2002). Dugyala and Sharma, (1996), showed that AFB₁ had a marked effect on peritoneal macrophage produced cytokines in mice. The levels of interleukin-1 α (IL-1 α) secreted proteins were significantly suppressed at all dosages and those of interleukin 6 (IL-6) and TNF at the high dose. However low dose of AFB₁ only slightly decreased the protein levels expressed by the lymphatic IL2, IL3 and interferon γ . This would suggest that AFB₁ preferentially affects macrophage functions.

The 5 μ M combination treatment of whole blood was shown to induce DNA damage to lymphocytes (Figure 5.7B). It can be hypothesised that this damage was induced by the FB₁, as the 5 μ M AFB₁ when treated individually did not cause DNA damage. From the shape of the comets, it appears the damage was apoptotic, which could also be indicative of FB₁ being responsible for inducing DNA damage.

The lymphocytes extracted from FB₁ treated whole blood, resulted in the 5μ M FB₁ inducing more DNA damage than the 50μ M FB₁ treatment (Figure 5.5C and 5.6C). It should also be noticed that this method of treatment with FB₁ had the longest tail distance at both the high and the low concentration. At the 5μ M treatment, distinct comets were formed, with small heads and large fan-like tails, which as discussed previously, could indicate DNA damage induced by apoptosis. Similar results were shown with the 50μ M concentration.

Only one method of treatment showed that the 5μ M AFB₁ had the potential to induce DNA damage to human lymphocytes, the lymphocytes extracted from treated blood (Figure 5.3C). The level of DNA damage at a particular time will reflect the rate of DNA damage versus the rate of repair (Galvano *et al.*, 2002a). Therefore it may be considered as a biomarker of both DNA damage and different stress conditions. It is possible that the level of DNA damage induced by the 5μ M AFB₁ in lymphocytes extracted from treated blood may be the result of different stress conditions rather than indicating apoptosis or necrosis. The 50μ M AFB₁ treatment also induced DNA damage possibly by necrosis (Figure 5.4C).

87

There was no DNA damage induced by the 5μ M combination treatment of lymphocytes extracted from whole blood (Figure 5.7C). Aflatoxin B₁ and FB₁ have very different mechanisms of action; AFB₁ is absorbed into the cell, where it is converted to a potent epoxide, which forms conjugates with proteins and DNA, while FB₁ is thought to interfere with sphingolipid biosynthesis. It is possible that the different mechanisms of action could have interfered with each other to reduce the toxic effect.

In all three different methods of treatment, the 50μ M combination induced the most DNA damage. This would appear to indicate that the mycotoxins at higher concentrations work in conjunction, either synergistically or additively, to induce greater DNA damage than if treated individually.

5.4 Conclusion

The comet assay was shown to be a viable technique for assessing the level of DNA damage induced by AFB_1 and FB_1 . Fumonisin B_1 induced DNA damage in normal human lymphocytes at both a low and high concentration, indicative of its potential as a genotoxic agent.

It was seen that although treatment of isolated lymphocytes and isolating lymphocytes from treated blood, will give a fairly accurate idea of the toxins effect on the immune system, the most realistic way of analysing a toxins effect on the immune response is by assessing its effects on whole blood. Unfortunately, due to experimental procedure, this is not always possible.

CHAPTER 6

The effects of Aflatoxin B₁ and Fumonisin B₁ on the nuclei of normal human lymphocytes

6.1 Introduction

6.1.1 Fluorescent Microscopy

16

Fluorescence is the luminescence of a substance when it is excited by radiation. In microscopy, fluorescence is used as a means of preparing specific biological probes. Some biological substances like chlorophyll and some oils and waxes have primary fluorescence; that is, they autofluorescence. But most biological molecules or structures do not fluorescence on their own, so they must be linked with fluorescent molecules (fluorochromes) in order to create specific fluorescent probes (Prescott *et al.*, 1996).

Fluorescence of a substance is seen when the molecule is exposed to a specific wavelength of light (excitation wavelength or spectrum) and the light it emits (the emission wavelength or spectrum) is always of a higher wavelength. To view this fluorescence in the microscope, several light filtering components are needed. Specific filters are needed to isolate the excitation and emission wavelengths of a fluorochrome and therefore filter sets must be made to correspond to the excitation and emission characteristics of a given fluorochrome. Examples of fluorochromes include acridine orange, hoechst 33342 and ethidium bromide. Some sets are made to allow visualisation of two or even three fluorochromes simultaneously (Herman, 1998).

A bright light source with proper wavelengths for excitation is also needed. For normal fluorescence applications, this is a mercury vapour arc burner. Mercury arc burners are very bright lamps with a limited lifetime and require some maintenance and care to make sure that they are producing the brightest possible light beam for fluorescence excitation. For fluorescence confocal microscope applications, where up to 95% of the emission light is filtered out, specific wavelength lasers are used as these are extremely bright (Herman, 1998).

One other component is required: a dichroic beam splitter or partial mirror which reflects lower wavelengths of light and allows higher wavelengths to pass. A beam splitter is required because the objective acts as a condenser lens for the excitation wavelength as well as the objective lens for emission (Prescott *et al.*, 1996).

89

It is important that only the light emitted from the fluorochrome is seen and not any of the excitation light and the beam splitter isolates the emitted light from the excitation wavelength. This epi-illumination type of light path is required to create a dark background so that the fluorescence can be easily seen. The wavelength at which a beam splitter allows the higher wavelengths to pass must be set between the excitation and emission wavelengths of any given fluorochrome so that excitation light is reflected and emission light is allowed to pass through it (Herman, B. 1998). A typical fluorescence filter setup is shown in the diagram below (Figure 6.1)



Figure 6.1: A schematic diagram of a typical fluorescence filter setup (Carl Zeiss Inc., 2003).

6.1.2 Use of Fluorescent Microscopy in the Detection of Apoptosis

The characteristic breakdown of the nucleus during apoptosis is comprised of the collapse and fragmentation of the chromatin, degradation of the nuclear envelope and nuclear blebbing, resulting in the formation of micronuclei (Wyllie, 1997). Consequently, nucleic acid stains can be useful tools for identifying even low numbers of apoptotic cells in cell populations. Several nucleic acid stains have been used to detect apoptotic cells by fluorescent microscopy.

One of the most common nucleic acid stains are the bisbenzimide dyes. The bisbenzimide dyes, 4-[5-(4-methyl-1-piperazinyl) [2,5'-bi- 1H-benzimidazol]-2'-yl]-, (Hoechst 33258), 2,5'-Bi-1H-benzimidazole (Hoechst 33342) and Hoechst 34580, are cell membrane-permeant, minor groove-binding DNA stains that fluoresce bright blue upon binding to DNA.

Hoechst 33342 has slightly higher membrane permeability than Hoechst 33258 (Arndt-Jovin and Jovin, 1989) but both dyes are quite soluble in water, up to 2% solutions can be prepared. The relatively non-toxic Hoechst 34580 dye has somewhat longer wavelength spectra than the other Hoechst dyes when bound to nucleic acids (Shapiro and Perlmutter, 2001).



Figure 6.2: Molecular structure of three different Hoechst stains (Molecular probes, 2003).

The Hoechst dyes (Figure 6.2), which can be excited with the UV spectral lines of the argon-ion laser and by most conventional fluorescence excitation sources, exhibit relatively large Stokes shifts (excitation/emission maxima ~350/460 nm), making them suitable for multicolour labelling experiments. The Hoechst 33258 and Hoechst 33342 dyes have complex, pH-dependent spectra when not bound to nucleic acids, with a much higher fluorescence quantum yield at pH 5 than at pH 8. Their fluorescence is also enhanced by surfactants such as sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS) (Gorner, 2001).

These dyes appear to show a wide spectrum of sequence-dependent DNA affinities and bind with sufficient strength to poly (d (A-T)) sequences that they can displace several known DNA intercalators (Loontiens *et al.*, 1990). They also exhibit multiple binding modes and distinct fluorescence emission spectra that are dependent on dye:base pair ratios (Stokke and Steen, 1985). Hoechst dyes are used in many cellular applications, including in cell-cycle and apoptosis studies and they are common nuclear counterstains.

The aim of this study was to determine whether AFB_1 and FB_1 , treated individually or in combination induce nuclear fragmentation in normal human lymphocytes and lymphocytes extracted from treated whole blood, using a nuclear stain.

6.2 Materials and Methods

6.2.1 Materials

Hoechst 33258 was purchased from Capital, SA. Paraformaldehyde and phosphate buffer saline tablets were acquired from Merck. All other reagents and consumables used were obtained from the sources mentioned previously.

6.2.2 Methodology

6.2.2.1 Isolation of Lymphocytes

Whole venous blood was collected and normal human lymphocytes extracted as described in section 3.2.3.5.

6.2.2.2 Treatment of the Lymphocytes

An aliquot of 2mls of lymphocytes containing approximately 1 X 10^6 cells/ml was added to individual wells of a 24 well microtitre plate. The cells were then treated by adding a 1ml aliquot of AFB₁ (5µM, 50µM) and FB₁ (5µM, 50µM) to individual wells. CCM and ethanol controls were also prepared. Combinations of the toxins were evaluated by adding 500µl aliquot of each concentration of AFB₁ and 500µl of the same concentration of FB₁ to the same well. The plates were then incubated at 37°C for 12 hours. The cells were then removed aseptically using a sterile 3ml pasteur pipette and placed in sterile sterilin tubes.

6.2.2.3 Treatment of Whole Blood

A 2ml aliquot of the blood was treated with a 1ml aliquot of 5μ M AFB₁, 50μ M AFB₁, 5μ M FB₁ and 50μ M FB₁ in sterile tubes. A 500 μ l aliquot of the 5μ M and 50μ M concentration of AFB₁ and 500μ l of the same concentrations of FB₁ were added to the same well to evaluate the potential of the combination of mycotoxins to cause nuclear fragmentation. Ethanol and CCM treatments were also prepared. The sterile blood tubes were then incubated for 12 hours at 37°C in a controlled environmental incubator shaker at 150 rpm. The treated whole blood was used for the extraction of lymphocytes as outlined in 3.2.3.5.

6.2.2.4 Preparation of 10% Paraformaldehyde and Hoechst 33258

A 10% paraformaldehyde solution was prepared by dissolving 1g paraformaldehyde in 10mls PBS. The solution was heated for 30 minutes at 60°C and the pH adjusted to 7.2. Paraformaldehyde is routinely used for the fixation of cells and tissues especially cells labelled by fluorochrome-conjugated antibodies to membrane antigens as it will stabilize the light scatter and labelling.

A stock solution of Hoechst 33258 was prepared by dissolving 4mg in 2mls DMSO and vortexing thoroughly. The mixture was stored at 4°C. A working solution was obtained by adding 1.4mls of the stock solution to 1ml PBS.

6.2.2.5 Staining Procedure

The normal human lymphocytes were pelleted by centrifugation using a bench top centrifuge at 400g for 15 minutes at room temperature (RT) and then resuspended in PBS. The supernatents were discarded and the cells washed twice in PBS (2ml; 37°C) by centrifugation (400xg; 15 minutes; RT).

The cells were then resuspended in 10% paraformaldehyde and fixed for 5 minutes. The washing step in PBS was repeated twice and finally the pelletted cells were resuspended in 500 μ l PBS. An equal volume of Hoechst 33342 was added and the cells were incubated in sterile sterilin tubes for 15 minutes at 37°C. A 20 μ l aliquot of the cell suspension was placed on a slide and coverslipped.

93
6.2.2.6 Viewing of slides

The slides were viewed with an excitation wavelength in the range of 350 nm and detection wavelength in the range 450nm using an inverted research microscope, Olympus I \times 51 (Wirsam Scientific, SA). Images were then captured using the digital camera using a microscope digital camera system, an Olympus DP12 (Wirsam Scientific, SA).

6.3 Results and Discussion



Figure 6.3: Hoechst staining of untreated normal human lymphocytes (A) and whole blood (B).



Figure 6.4: Hoechst staining of 5µM Aflatoxin B₁ treated normal human lymphocytes (A) and whole blood (B).



Figure 6.5: Hoechst staining of 50µM AFB₁ treated normal human lymphocytes (A) and whole blood (B).



Figure 6.6: Hoechst staining of 5µM Fumonisin B₁ treated normal human lymphocytes (A) and whole blood (B).



Figure 6.7: Hoechst staining of 50µM FB₁ treated normal human lymphocytes (A) and whole blood (B).



Figure 6.8: Hoechst staining of 5µM combination treated normal human lymphocytes (A) and whole blood (B).



Figure 6.9: Hoechst staining of 50µM combination treated normal human lymphocytes (A) and whole blood (B).

In the untreated normal human lymphocytes (Figure 6.3A), the stained cells appear as small dull blue–green round compact balls, with no nuclear fragmentation. The nuclei of the lymphocytes extracted from untreated whole blood were larger, with more detail visible probably due to being present in their natural environment (Figure 6.3B). However the nuclei still appeared as blue round balls with solid white centres.

The nuclei of the 5μ M AFB₁ treated lymphocytes were larger than the untreated controls (Figure 6.4B). Instead of a circular shape, the nuclei were elongated. A possible hypothesis could be that the cells are undergoing necrosis. During necrosis, the dying cells swells, both cytosolic and nuclear structures alter, but the general disposition of hetero- and euchromatin is maintained, as are the nuclear pores. The plasma membrane ruptures and internal materials reach the extracellular space, where some of them induce an inflammatory reaction (Wyllie, 1997). The nuclei also appeared to have a stronger fluorescence which could be indicative of necrosis as once cells have undergone necrosis, their membranes become more permeable to the uptake of stains, such as Hoechst (Wyllie, 1997). Aflatoxin B₁ has been shown to be a potent cytotoxic agent (Corrier *et al.*, 1991) so the probability of nuclear damage induced by necrosis is very high.

Many of the cytotoxic effects of AFB_1 require its bioactivation to the 2,3 epoxide metabolite by a cytochrome P450 (P450) dependent polysubstrate monooxygenase enzyme. Cytochrome P450 is expressed in human peripheral blood lymphocytes (Song *et al.*, 1990; Haufroid *et al.*, 2003). Once the epoxide has been activated, some of it will covalently bind to macromolecules to form protein and DNA adducts (Eaton and Gallagher, 1994), possibly resulting in nuclear damage.

The nuclei of the lymphocytes extracted from 5μ M AFB₁ treated whole blood were slightly larger than nuclei of lympohocytes extracted from untreated whole blood (Figure 6.4B). It was also observed that the white centres were bigger in diameter when compared to the control. The nuclei of the treated whole blood lymphocytes were still circular in shape. However the nuclei of lymphocytes extracted from 50 μ M AFB₁ treated whole blood were much larger than the control and also appeared to be more elongated. As mentioned previously, these signs could be indicative of cells undergoing cell death by necrosis or nuclear damage caused by the conjugation of the epoxide to the DNA. There are several key structural features associated with apoptosis. The dying cell membrane separates from its neighbours, usually with loss of specialised membrane structures such as microvilli and desmosomes. The membrane undergoes a period of blebbing and contortion. The blebs are membrane-invested extensions of cytosol that are usually devoid of organelles and are reversibly extruded and reabsorbed (Wyllie, 1997). This is followed by rapid, irreversible condensation of cytoplasm, accompanied by an increase in cell density, compaction of cytoplasmic organelles and condensation of the nuclear chromatin to form dense granular caps or torodal structures underlying the nuclear membrane.

Nuclear pores disappear from the membrane subjacent to these chromatin condensations whilst, within the nucleus, the proteinaceous centre of the nucleolus separates from its surrounding shell of osmiophilic transcription complexes (Wyllie, 1997). Around this time, the cell splits into a cluster of membrane bounded bodies, each containing a variety of organelles. The 50μ M AFB₁ treated lymphocytes appeared in some cases to be undergoing nuclear fragmentation (Figure 6.5A) which could be due to cells undergoing apoptosis. However this is in direct contrast to a previous study by Galvano *et al.* (2002a) which showed AFB₁ did not induce nuclear fragmentation in primary swine alveolar macrophages. A possible explanation could be that AFB₁ affects different cell lines in various ways.

The 5 μ M FB₁ treated lymphocytes showed little or no change from the controls (Figure 6.6A). The only difference being that the nuclei were slightly unevenly shaped. It has been shown that FB₁ can exhibit both proliferation enhancing (Tolleson *et al.*, 1996; Lim *et al.*, 1996); and growth-inhibiting effects (Dombrink –Kurtzman *et al.*, 1994; Tolleson *et al.*, 1996) in a panel of cultured cell lines. It is possible that at this concentration the cellular effects of FB₁ were mitogenic not cytotoxic, thereby resulting in no nuclear damage. There were signs of nuclear fragmenation starting to occur in the 50 μ M FB₁ treated lymphocytes (Figure 6.7A).

FB₁ has been shown to induce apoptosis in human cell lines (Tolleson *et al.*, 1996) and as mentioned previously fragmentation is one of the structural changes of a cell undergoing apoptosis. Fumonisin B₁ structurally resembles sphingoid bases such as sphinganine, an intermediate in the biosynthesis of complex sphingolipids. As a result FB₁ acts as an inhibitor of ceramide synthetase (N-Acyltransferase), a key enzyme involved in *de novo* sphingolipid biosynthesis and in the reacylation of free sphingoid bases derived from sphingolipid turnover. These highly bioactive molecules play key roles in protein kinase activity, cell growth and differentiation, carcinogenicity and programmed cell death.

98

This results in disturbances in cellular processes such as cell growth, cell differentiation, endothelial cell permeability and apoptosis. Inhibition of biosynthesis of sphingolipids is seen at different levels of the process and is reflected in changes of the ratio sphinganine/sphingosine (Wang *et al.*, 1999). Similar results were obtained from the lymphocytes extracted from FB₁ treated whole blood. In the lymphocytes extracted from 5μ M FB₁ treated whole blood, the cells were larger and unevenly shaped but no nuclear fragmentation could be seen (Figure 6.6B). After treatment of whole blood with 50μ M FB₁, nuclear fragmentation in the extracted lymphocytes was clearly seen (Figure 6.7B). A study by Galvano *et al.* (2002a) showed that treatment of primary swine alveolar macrophages with 25 µg/ml FB₁ induced nuclear fragmentation, which was visualized by staining with Hoechst 33258. The 50µM FB₁ treatment of whole blood appeared to induce the most nuclear damage, which could indicate that FB₁ potential to bring about cytotoxic effects by inducing apoptosis has been underestimated.

The 5 μ M combination treatment of normal human lymphocytes, was similar to the 5 μ M FB₁ treated cells. However there were signs of nuclear fragmentation possibly starting to occur (Figure 6.8A). After the 50 μ M combination treatment, the nuclear fragmentation can be clearly seen (Figure 6.9A). Possibly the AFB₁ and the FB₁ are working in conjuction to induce apoptosis via different mechanisms.

The lymphocytes extracted from 5μ M combination treated whole blood appear condensed when compared to the control (Figure 6.8B). This could be due either to the the condensation of cytoplasm, a classic feature of apoptosis or the cells could have undergone secondary necrosis, resulting in the formation of cluster of membrane bounded bodies, each containing a variety of organelles. Either which is indicative of cells undergoing apoptosis. The 50 μ M combination treatment of whole blood does not appear to induce DNA fragmentation (Figure 6.9B). However there is swelling and the size of the nucleus is larger, which could be the result of cellular death via the necrotic pathway.

6.4 Conclusion

Staining normal human lymphocytes with Hoechst 33258 has shown that both AFB_1 and FB_1 are capable of inducing nuclear fragmentation, which could be indicative of apoptosis. Treatment with FB_1 , a known apoptotic-inducing agent (Tolleson *et al.*, 1996), resulted in the greater degree of fragmentation at both concentrations.

CHAPTER 7

Conclusion

Aflatoxin B_1 and FB_1 are fungal metabolites widely present in feed and food crops all over the world. As long-term exposure to low levels of these mycotoxins cannot be completely avoided, they are likely to be a potential concern of occupational and public health.

The results of the MTT cytotoxicity assay showed that routinely AFB_1 induced higher levels of cytotoxicity in normal isolated human lymphocytes than FB_1 , especially at lower concentrations after 12 and 24 hours incubation. It was difficult to determine the potential cytotoxicity of the combination treatment, as the mitogenic properties of FB_1 appeared to partially counteract the cytoxic effect exerted by AFB_1 . However this does not necessarily mean that the combination of AFB_1 and FB_1 is not potentially harmful to normal human lymphocytes.

When whole blood was treated with the same concentration and ratio of toxin, FB_1 was shown to be more toxic to the lymphocytes than AFB_1 . This was thought to be the result of the presence of other cells such as erythrocytes and macrophages. Another factor could have been that FB_1 is strongly polar and poorly absorbed and as a result is rapidly excreted in an *in vivo* situation. The combination treatment of blood was shown to be cytotoxic in a dose dependent manner. Both toxins appear to be working simultaneously to reduce cell viability by different mechanisms and induced a greater cytotoxic effect, treated in combination than individually at the higher concentrations.

The high concentration of AFB_1 induced higher levels of apoptosis and necrosis in isolated normal human lymphocytes, than the control. It is a well known fact that AFB_1 is extremely cytotoxic therefore it was feasible that the levels of necrosis would be increased. The treatment of isolated lymphocytes with FB_1 with a low concentration resulted in increased levels of apoptosis. Previous studies have shown that FB_1 is more cytotoxic at low concentrations (Rumora *et al.*, 2002). It was shown that FB_1 and AFB_1 working simultaneously resulted in increased levels of apoptosis. Possibly due to the cellular defence mechanisms and the rapid excretion of the toxins, the levels of apoptosis were reduced in whole blood lymphocytes when compared to isolated lymphocytes. However there was a similar trend with the treatment of AFB₁ and FB₁ resulting in increased levels of apoptosis.

It was shown that both AFB_1 and FB_1 are capable of inducing nuclear fragmentation, which could be indicative of apoptosis. Treatment with FB_1 , a known apoptotic-inducing agent (Tolleson *et al.*, 1996), resulted in the greater degree of fragmentation at both concentrations. Treatment with the combination of mycotoxins induced more nuclear fragmentation than individual treatments. As both toxins are common contaminants and have been known to coexist (Ueno *et al.*, 1997), this could be a potential area of concern for public health.

The 50μ M combination treatment of normal human lymphocytes induced the most DNA damage. This would appear to indicate that the mycotoxins at higher concentrations work in conjunction, either synergistically or additively, to induce greater DNA damage than if treated individually.

Further investigation needs to be done to quantify the levels of mycotoxins taken up by normal human lymphocytes to gain better understanding of their potential cytotoxicity. Fumonisin B_1 is known to be a competitive inhibitor of sphingosine and sphinganine *N* acetyltransferase, which are key components in the pathways for *de novo* biosynthesis of sphingolipids (Wang *et al.*, 1991) resulting in free sphingoid bases. Further research is needed to establish the factor(s), which determines if the free sphingoid bases are growth stimulatory, growth inhibitory or cytototoxic. It could be important to elucidate the mechanisms whereby AFB₁ and FB₁ induce apoptosis may be a potentially excellent target for diagnosis and therapeutic intervention in AFB₁ and FB₁ induced toxicoses. These types of studies will also permit more precise biochemical analyses to be applied to assessment of the health risk due to exposure to AFB₁ and FB₁.

The history of medicine has clearly established that preventative strategies offer the best long term means for eliminating morbidity and mortality from infections and diseases. Chemically induced diseases such as mycotoxicoses are likely to be the same.

Opportunities for prevention of mycotoxin induced disease include reducing exposure and interfering with the toxicological processes through pharmacological and nutritional interventions. Aflatoxin B_1 and FB_1 are human health hazards and continuous exposure to even small amounts can be detrimental.

In South Africa, the importance of mycotoxins in public health will increase as the available food supplies decrease due to population growth and other factors. An association between the sources of exposure and disease is essential in disease prevention. The united efforts of researchers from disciplines such as molecular biology, biochemistry, physiology, microbiology, botany and basic science are crucial to provide a scientific basis for regulatory guidelines that will protect the population from health hazards associated with exposure to AFB₁ and FB₁.

REFERENCES

- ABADO-Becongree, K., Mobio, T., Ennamany, R., Fleurat-Lessard, F., Shier, W.T., Badria, F., Creppy, E.E. 1998. Cytotoxicity of Fumonisin B₁: implication of lipid peroxidation and inhibiton of protein and DNA synthesis. *Archives of Toxicology.*, Volume 72; pp. 233-236.
- ABBAS, H.K., Gelderblom, W.C., Cawood, M.E., Shier, W.T. 1993. Biological activities of fumonisins, mycotoxins from *Fusarium moniliforme*, in jimsonweed (Datura stramonium L.) and mammalian cell cultures. *Toxicon.*, Volume **31(3)**; pp. 345-353.
- ADAMSON, R.H., Correa, P., Sieber, S.M., McIntire, K.R., Dalgard, D.W. 1976. Carcinogenicity of aflatoxin B₁ in rhesus monkeys: two additional cases of primary liver cancer. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute.*, Volume **57(1)**; pp. 67-78.
- ALAPETITE, C., Benoit, A., Moustacchi, E., Sarasin, A. 1997. The comet assay as a repair test for prenatal diagnosis of Xeroderma pigmentosum and trichothiodystrophy. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology.*, Volume **108(2)**; pp. 154-159.
- ALAPETITE, C., Wachter, T., Sage, E., Moustacchi, E. 1996. Use of the alkaline comet assay to detect DNA repair deficiencies in human fibroblasts exposed to UVC, UVB, UVA and gamma-rays. *International Journal of Radiation Oncology Biology Physics.*, Volume 69(3); pp. 359-369.
- ALDERSON, M.R., Tough, T.W., Davis-Smith, T., Braddy, S., Falk, B., Schooley, K.A., Goodwin, R.G., Smith, C.A., Ramsdell, F., Lynch, D.H. 1995. Fas ligand mediates activation-induced cell death in human T lymphocytes. *Journal of Experimental Medicine.*, Volume 181(1); pp. 71-77.
- ALEKSANDROWICZ, J., Lisiewicz, J., Skotnicki, A., Waszek, Z. 1974. Selenium, aflatoxins and lymphocyte reactivity. *Folia Clinical International (Barc).*, Volume **24(11)**; pp. 795-796.
- ALTMANN, F.P. 1976. Tetrazolium salts and Formazan. Progress in Histochemistry and Cytochemistry., Volume 9; pp 1-56.
- ANDERSON, D., Yu, T.W., Wright, J., Ioannides, C. 1998. An examination of DNA strand breakage in the comet assay and antioxidant capacity in diabetic patients. *Mutation Research.*, Volume 398(1-2); pp. 151-161.
- ANGSUBHAKARAN, Pomvises, P., Romruen, K. Newberne, P.M. 1981. Aflatoxicoses in horses. *Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association.*, Volume **178**; pp. 274.
- AOYAMA, T., Yamano, S., Guzelian, P.S., Gelboin, H.V., Gonzalez, F.J. 1990. Five of 12 forms of vaccinia virus-expressed human hepatic cytochrome P450 metabolically activate aflatoxin B₁. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America., Volume 87(12); pp. 4790- 4793.
- ARNDT-JOVIN, D.J, Jovin, T.M. 1989. Fluorescence labeling and microscopy of DNA.Methods. *Cell Biology.*, Volume **30**; pp. 417-448.

- ASPLIN, F.D, Carnaghan, R.B.A. 1961. The toxicity of certain groundnut meals for poultry with special reference to their effect on ducklings and chickens. *Veterinary Record.*, Volume **73**; pp. 1215-1219.
- AUSTWICK, P.K.C. 1975. Mycotoxins. British Medical Bulletin., Volume 31(3); pp. 222-229.
- AZCONA-OLIVERA J.I., Abouzied, M.M., Plattner, R.D., Norred, W.P., Pestka, J.J. 1992. Generation of antibodies reactive with fumonisins B₁, B₂ and B₃ by using cholera toxin as the carrier-adjuvant. *Applied Environmental Microbiology*., Volume **58(1)**; pp. 169-173
- BALL, R.W., Wilson, D.W., Coulombe, R.A. 1990. Comparative formation and removal of aflatoxin B₁-DNA adducts in cultured mammalian tracheal epithelium. *Cancer Research.*, Volume 50(16); pp. 4918-4922.
- BALL, R.W, Columbe, R.A. 1991. Comparitive biotransformation of Aflatoxin B₁ in mammalian airway epithelium. *Carcinogenesis.*, Volume **12**; pp. 305-310.
- BANKOLE, S.A., Adebanjo, A. 2003. Mycotoxins in food in West Africa: current situation and possibilities of controlling. *African Journal of Biochemistry*., Volume **2(9)**; pp. 254-263.
- B.D Biosciences (online) 2003. Immunocytometry products Available from: http://www.bdbiosciences.com {Accessed 11November 2003}
- BENFORD, D.J., Hubbard, S.A. 1987. Preparation and culture of mammalian cells. In Snell, K. and Mullock, B. eds. *Biochemical toxicology: a practical approach*. pp. 56 80. IRL Press LTD: Oxford
- BENNETt, J.W., Christensen, S.B. 1993. New perspectives on Aflatoxin Biosynthesis Advances in Applied Microbiology., Volume 29; pp. 53-79.
- BEREK, L., Petri, I.B., Mesterhazy, A., Teren, J., Molnar, J. 2001. Effects of mycotoxins on human immune functions *in vitro*. *Toxicology In Vitro*., Volume **15(1)**: pp.25-30.
- BERRIDGE, M.V., Tan, A.S., McCoy, K.D., Wang R. 1996. The biochemical and cellular basis of cell proliferation assays that use tetrazolium salts. *Biochemical.*, Volume 4; pp. 15-20
 - BETANCOURT, M., Ortiz, R., Gonzalez, C., Perez, P., Cortes, L., Rodriguez, L., Villasenor, L. 1995. Assessment of DNA damage in leukocytes from infected and malnourished children by single cell gel electrophoresis/comet assay. *Mutatation Research.*, Volume 331(1); pp. 65-77.
 - BETTI, C., Davini, T., Giannessi, L., Loprieno, N., Barale, R. 1995. Comparative studies by comet test and SCE analysis in human lymphocytes from 200 healthy subjects. *Mutatation Research.*, Volume 343(4); pp. 201-207.
 - BODINE, A.B., Fisher, S.F., Gangjee, S. 1984. Effect of aflatoxin B₁ and major metabolites on phytohemeagglutinin-stimulated lymphoblastogenesis of bovine lymphocytes. *Journal of Dairy Science.*, Volume 67(1); pp. 110-114.

- BOERSMA, A.W.M., Nooter, K., Oostrum, R.G., Stoter, G., 1996. Quantification of apoptotic cells with fluorescein isothiocyanate-labeled annexin V in chinese hamster ovary cell cultures treated with cisplatin. *Cytometry*., Volume **24(2)**; pp 123-30.
- BOTTALICO, A., Logrecos, A., Ritien, A., Morettis, A., Randazza, G., Corda, P. 1995. Beauvaricin and fumonisins in preharvest <u>Fusarium moniliforme</u> maize ear rot in Sardina. *Food Additives and Contaminants.*, Volume **12**; pp. 599-607.
- BOYD, R., Tucek, C.L., Godfrey, D.I., Izon, D.J., Wilson, T.J., Davidson, N.J., Bean, A.G., Ladyman, H.M., Ritter, M.A., Hugo, P. 1993. The thymic environment. *Immunology* today., Volume 14 (9); pp. 445-459.
- BUIZENHOUT, S.C., Gelderblom, W.C.A., Gorst-allman, R.M.M., Marasas, W.F.O., Spiteller, G., Vleggar, R. 1988. Structure eludication of the fumonisins, mycotoxins from Fusarium moniliforme. *Journal of Cell Science Chemical Communication.*, pp. 743-745.
- BULLERMAN, L.B., Tsai, W.Y. 1994. Incidence and levels of *Fusarium moniliforme, Fusarium proliferatum* and fumonisins in corn and corn-based foods and feeds. *Journal of Food Protection.*, Volume 57; pp. 541- 546.
- BUJONS, J., Hesieh DP, Kado NY, Messeguer A. 1995. Aflatoxin M1 8,9-epoxide: preparation and mutagenic activity. *Chemical Research in Toxicology.*, Volume 8(3); pp. 328-332.
- BUSBY, W.F., Wogan, G.N. 1984. Aflatoxin. In: Searle, C.E. (ed). *Chemical Carcinogens* (2nd edition) pp 945 1136. American Chemical Society: Washington DC.
- CALDERON-GARCIDUENAS, L., Osnaya-Brizuela, N., Ramirez-Martinez, L.,

Villarreal-Calderon, A. 1996. DNA strand breaks in human nasal respiratory epithelium are induced upon exposure to urban pollution. *Environmental Health Perspectectives.*, Volume **104(2)**; pp. 160-168.

- Carl Zeiss Inc (online) 2003. website Available from: http://www.zeiss.com/ {Accessed 11 February 2004}
- CARPENTER D.O., Arcaro, K.F., Bush, B., Niemi, W.D., Pang, S., Vakharia, D.D. 1998. Human health and chemical mixtures: an overview. *Environmental Health Perspectives.*, Volume**106(6)**; pp. 1263-1270. Review.
- CAULIN, C., Salvesen, G.S., Oshima, R.G. 1997. Caspase cleavage of keratin 18 and reorganization of intermediate filaments during epithelial cell apoptosis. *Journal of Cell Biology.*, Volume 138(6); pp. 1379-1394.
- CAWOOD, M.E, Gelderblom, W.C.A, Vleggaar, R., Behrend, Y., Thiel, P.G, Marasas, W.F.O. 1991. Isolation of the Fumonsin mycotoxins: a quantitative approach. *Journal of Agriculture and Food Chemistry.*, Volume **39**; pp. 1958 – 1962.
- CAWOOD, M.E., Gelderblom, W.C., Alberts, J.F., Snyman, S.D. 1994. Interaction of 14Clabelled fumonisin B mycotoxins with primary rat hepatocyte cultures. *Food and Chemical Toxicology.*, Volume 7; pp. 627-632.

- CHANDRA, J., Samali, A., Orrenius, S. 2000. Triggering and modulation of apoptosis by oxidative stress. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine.*, Volume **29(3-4)**; pp. 323-333. Review.
- CHANG, F.C., Hamilton, P.B. 1979. Impaired phagocytosis by hetrophils from chickens during aflatoxicoses, *Toxicology and*. *Applied*. *Pharmacology*., Volume **48**; pp. 459.
- CIACCI-ZANELLA, J.R., Merrill, A.H. Jr., Wang, E., Jones, C. 1998. Characterization of cell-cycle arrest by fumonisin B₁ in CV-1 cells. *Food and Chemical Toxicology.*, Volume **36(9-10)**; pp. 791-804.
- CIACCI-ZANELLA, J.R., Jones, C. 1999. Fumonisin B₁, a mycotoxin contaminant of cereal grains, and inducer of apoptosis via the tumour necrosis factor pathway and caspase activation. *Food and Chemical Toxicology.*, Volume **37(7)**; pp. 703-712.
- CIFONE, M.G., De Maria, R., Roncaioli, P., Rippo, M.R., Azuma, M., Lanier, .LL, Santoni, A., Testi, R. 1994. Apoptotic signaling through CD95 (Fas/Apo-1) activates an acidic sphingomyelinase. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*., Volume 180(4); pp. 1547-1552.
- CLARKE, A.R., Purdie, C.A., Harrison, D.J. 1993. Thymocyte apoptosis induced by p53 dependent and independent pathways. *Nature.*, Volume **362**; pp. 849-851.
- COHEN, G.M. 1997. Caspases: the executioners of apoptosis. *Biochemistry Journal.*, Volume **326 (Pt 1)**; pp. 1-16.
- COLLINS, A.R., Raslova, K., Somorovska, M., Petrovska, H., Ondrusova, A., Vohnout, B., Fabry, R., Dusinska, M. 1998a. DNA damage in diabetes: correlation with a clinical marker. *Free Radicals Biology and Medicine.*, Volume 25(3); pp. 373-377.
- COLLINS T.F., Sprando R.L., Black T.N., Shackelford M.E., Laborde J.B., Hansen D.K., Eppley R.M., Trucksess M.W., Howard P.C., Bryant M.A., Ruggles D.I., Olejnik N., Rorie J.I. 1998b. Effects of fumonisin B₁ in pregnant rats. Part 2. Food and Chemical Toxicology., Volume 36(8); pp.673-685.
- CORRIER, D.E. 1991. Mycotoxicoses: mechanisms of immunosuppression. Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology., Volume 30; pp. 73-87.
- COSSARIZZA, A., Franceschi, C., Monti, D., Salvioli, S., Bellesia, E., Rivabene, R., Biondo, L., Rainaldi, G., Tinari, A., Malorni, W. 1995. Protective effect of Nacetylcysteine in tumor necrosis factor-alpha-induced apoptosis in U937 cells: the role of mitochondria. *Experimental Cell Research.*, Volume 220(1); pp. 232-40.
- COVA, L., Wild, C.P., Mehrotra, R., Turusov, V., Shirai, T., Lambert, V., Jacquet, C., Tomatis L., Trepo, C., Montesano, R. 1990. Contribution of aflatoxin B₁ and hepatitis B virus infection in the induction of liver tumors in ducks. *Cancer Research.*, Volume 50(7); pp. 2156-63.
- CRESPI, C.L., Penman, B.W., Steimel, D.T., Gelboin, H.V., Gonzalez, F.J. 1991. The development of a human cell line stably expressing human CYP3A4: role in the metabolic activation of aflatoxin and comparison to CYP1A2 and CYP2A3. *Carcinogenesis.*, Volume 12(2); pp. 355-359.

- CUKROVA, V., Kurita, N., Akao, M. 1992. An early effect of Aflatoxin B₁ and its metabolites. *FEMS Immunology and Medical Microbiology*., Volume **120(12)**; pp 113-119.
- CUMMINGS, M. 1996. Apoptosis of epithelial cells in vivo involves tissue transglutaminase upregulation. *Journal of Pathology.*, Volume **179(3)**; pp. 288-293.
- CURTIS, L.R, Zhang, Q., el-Zahr, C., Carpenter, H.M., Miranda, C.L., Buhler, D.R., Selivonchick, D.P., Arbogast, D.N., Hendricks, J.D. 1995. Temperature-modulated incidence of aflatoxin B₁-initiated liver cancer in rainbow trout. *Fundamental and Applied Toxicology.*, Volume **25(1)**; pp. 146-153.
- CUSUMANO, V. Costa, G.B, Trifiletti, R. Merendino, R.A, Mancusa, G. 1995. Functional impairment of rat Kupffer cells induced by aflatoxin B₁ and its metabolites. *Medical Microbiology.*, Volume 10(2); pp.151-155.
- DANIELS, J.M, Massey, T.E. 1992. Modulation of aflatoxin B₁ biotransformation in rabbit pulmonary and hepatic microsomes. *Toxicology.*, Volume **74(1)**; pp.19-32.
- DARZYNKIEWICZ, Z., Bruno, S., Del Bino, G., Gorczyca, W., Hotz, M.A., Lassota, P., Traganos, F. 1992. Features of apoptotic cells measured by flow cytometry. *Cytometry.*, Volume **13**; pp. 795-808.
- DAVIS, E., Maxuitenko., Y., Macmillan, D., Dolan, P., Roebuck, B., Kensler T. 1993.Oltipraz protects rats form the autopromoting effects of aflatoxins. *Proceedings of the Amateur Association of Cancer Research.*, Volume 34; pp. 550.
- DIAZ, G.J., Boermans, H.J. 1994. Fumonisin toxicoses in domestic animals: a review. *Veterinary and Human Toxicology.*, Volume 36; pp. 548-555. Review.
- DI BARTOLOMEO, S., Di Sano, F., Piacentini. M., Spinedi, A., 2000. Apoptosis induced by doxorubicin in neurotumor cells is divorced from drug effects on ceramide accumulation and may involve cell-cycle dependent caspase activation. *Journal of Neurochemistry.*, Volume **75**; pp. 532- 539.
 - DIX, KM. 1984. The development of hepatocellular tumours following aflatoxin B₁ exposure of the partially hepatectomised mouse. *Carcinogenesis.*, Volume **5(3)**; pp. 385-390.
 - DOKO, M.B., Visconti, A. 1994. Occurrence of fumonisin B₁ and B₂ in corn and corn-based human foodstuffs in Italy. *Food and Additive Contamination.*, Volume **11**; pp. 433-439.
 - DOKO, M.B., Rapior, S., Visconti, A., Schjoth, J.E. 1995. Incidence and levels of Fumonisin contamination in maize genotypes grown in Europe and Africa. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry.*, Volume 43; pp. 433–439.
 - DOMBRINK-KURTZMAN, M.A., Bennett, G.A., Richard, J.L. An optimized MTT bioassay for determination of cytotoxicity of fumonisins in turkey lymphocytes. 1994. *Journal of AOAC International.*, Volume 77(2); pp. 512-516.

- DUGYALA, R.R., Sharma, R.P. 1996. The effect of aflatoxin B₁ on cytokine mRNA and corresponding protein levels in peritoneal macrophages and splenic lymphocytes. *International Journal of Immunopharmacology.*, Volume **18(10)**; pp. 599-608.
- DUTTON, M.F., Kinsey, A. 1994. Occurrence of myctoxins in cereals and animal feedstuffs in Natal, South Africa. *Mycopathologua.*, Volume **131**; pp. 31-36.
- DUTTON, M. F. 1996. Fumonisins, mycotoxins of increasing importance: Their nature and effects. *Pharmacology and Therapeutics.*, Volume **70**; pp. 137-161.
- EATON, D.L., Gallagher, E.P. 1994. Mechanisms of aflatoxin carcinogenesis. Annual Review of Pharmacology and Toxicology., Volume 34; pp. 135-172. Review.
- EATON, D.L, Groopman, J.D. Eds. 1994. The toxicology of Aflatoxins: Human Health, Veterinary and Agricultural significance. Academic Press: United Kingdom.
- EHARI, M., Talanian, R.V., Wong, W.W., Nagata S. 1996. Sequential activation of ICE-like and CPP32-like proteases during fas-mediated apoptosis. *Nature.*, Volume 380; pp. 723-726.
- EHLING, G. Cockburn, A., Snowdown, P., Buschhaus, H. 1997. The significance of the <u>Fusarium</u> toxin deoxynivalenol (DON) for human and animal health. *Proceedings of the* 5th European Fusarium Seminar., Volume 25(3,1); pp. 443-447.
- EKERT, P.G., Vaux, D.L. 1997. Apoptosis, haemopoiesis and leukaemogenesis. *Baillieres Clinical Haematology*., Volume **10(3)**; pp. 561-576. Review
- ELLIS, W.O, Smith, J.P, Simpson, B.K, Oldham, J.H. 1991. Aflatoxins. Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition., Volume 30(3); pp. 403-409.
- ENNAMANY R., Marzetto, S., Saboureau, D., Creppy, E.E. 1995. Lipid peroxidation induced by bolesatine, a toxin of Boletus satanas: implication in m5dC variation in Vero cells related to inhibition of cell growth. Cell Biology and Toxicology., Volume 11(6); pp. 347-354.
- ERIKSEN, G.S., Alexander, J. 1998. Fusarium toxins in cereals: Risk Assessment. TemaNord 1998:502, Nordic Council of Ministers, Copenhagen, ISBN 92-893-0149-X, pp 113-115.
- ESSIGMANN, J.M., Croy, R.G., Bennett, R.A., Wogan, G.N. 1982. Metabolic activation of aflatoxin B₁: patterns of DNA adduct formation, removal and excretion in relation to carcinogenesis. *Drug Metabolism Review.*, Volume **13(4)**; pp. 581-602.
- EVAN, G.I., Wylie, A.H., Gilbert, C.S. 1992. Induction of apoptosis in fibroblasts by c-myc protein. *Cell.*, Volume 69; pp 119-128.
- EVANS, H.H., Ricanati, M., Horng, M.F., Jiang, Q., Mencl, J., Olive, P. 1993. DNA doublestrand break rejoining deficiency in TK6 and other human B-lymphoblast cell lines. *Radiation Research.*, Volume **134(3)**; pp. 307-315.

- FADOK, V.A., Voelker, D.R., Campbell, P.A., Cohen, J.J., Bratton, D.L., Henson, P.M., 1992. Exposure of phosphatidylserine on the surface of apoptotic lymphocytes triggers specific recognition and removal by macrophages. *Journal of Immunology.*, Volume 148; pp. 2207-2216.
- FESUS, L., Madi, A., Balajthy, Z., Nemes, Z., Szondy, .Z. 1996. Transglutaminase induction by various cell death and apoptosis pathways. *Experientia.*, Volume 52(10-11); pp. 942-949.
- FRASER A., Evan G. 1996. A license to kill. Cell., Volume 85(6); pp. 781-784.
- FREEMAN B.A., Grapo, J.D., 1982. Biology of disease: free radical and tissue injury. Laboratory Investigation., Volume 47; pp. 412-426.
- FRESHNEY, R.I. 1983. Culture of Animal Cells: A manual of basic techniques. pp. 39-78, 119-128. Alan R. Liss Inc; New York
 - FREY, T. 1997. Correlated flow cytometric analysis of terminal events in apoptosis reveals the absence of some changes in some model systems. *Cytometry*., Volume 28; pp. 253-263.
 - Fumonisins home page (online) 2003. Available from: http://bioline.utsc.utoronto.ca/archive/00001123/01/jb03108.pdf. {Accessed 12 June 2003}
 - Fusarium Ear Rot (online) 2003. Fusarium Ear Rot Available from: http://www.ent.iastate.edu/imagegal/plantpath/corn/fusarium Accessed {13 March 2003
 - GALIKEEV, K.H.L. 1968. The role of aflatoxins in animal pathology (review of the literature) *Veterinaria.*, Volume **45(8)**; pp. 63-64.
 - GALVANO, F., Russo, A., Cardile, V., Galvano, G., Vanella, A., Renis, M. 2002a. DNA damage in human fibroblasts exposed to fumonisin B₁. Food and Chemical Toxicology., Volume 40(1); pp. 25-31.
 - GALVANO, F., Campisi, A., Russo, A., Galvano, G., Palumbo, M., Renis, M., Barcellona, M.L., Perez-Polo, J.R., Vanella, A. 2002b.DNA damage in astrocytes exposed to fumonisin B₁. *Neurochemical Research.*, Volume 27(4); pp. 345-351.
 - GAO, H., Yoshizawa, T. 1997. Further study of *Fusarium* mycotoxins in corn and wheat from a high risk area for human oesophageaL cancer in China. *Mycotoxins.*, Volume 45; pp 51-55.
 - GARNER, R.C, Miller, E.C, Miller, J.A. 1972. Liver microsomal metabolism of aflatoxin B₁ to a reactive derivative toxic to *Salmonella typhimurium* TA 1530. *Cancer Research.*, Volume **32(10)**; pp. 2058-2066.
 - GELDERBLOM, W.C, Jaskiewicz, K., Marasas, W.F., Thiel, P.G, Horak, R.M, Vleggaar, R., Kriek, N.P. 1988 Fumonisins--novel mycotoxins with cancer-promoting activity produced by Fusarium moniliforme. *Applied Environmental Microbiology.*, Volume 54(7): pp. 1806-1811.

- GELDERBLOM, W.C.A., Cawood, M.E., Snyman, S.D., Marasas, W.F.O. 1993. Structure activity relationship of fumonisins in short term carcinogenesis and cytotoxicity assays. *Food and Chemical Toxicology.*, Volume **31**; pp. 407-414.
- GELDERBLOM, W.C, Snyman, S.D, Abel, S., Lebepe-Mazur, S., Smuts, C.M,
 Van der Westhuizen, L., Marasas, W.F, Victor, T.C, Knasmuller, S., Huber, W. 1996.
 Hepatotoxicity and -carcinogenicity of the fumonisins in rats. A review regarding mechanistic implications for establishing risk in humans. Advances in Experimental

Medicine and Biology., Volume 392; pp.279-296.

- GELDERBLOM W.C., Marasas, W.F., Lebepe-Mazur, S., Swanevelder, S., Vessey, C.J., Hall, Pde L. 2002. Interaction of fumonisin B₁ and aflatoxin B₁ in a short-term carcinogenesis model in rat liver. *Toxicology.*, Volume **171(2-3)**; pp. 161-173.
- GIAMBRONE, J.J., Klesius, P.H., Eckamn, M.K., Edgar, S.A. 1981. Influence of hormonal and chemical bursectomy on the development of acquired immunity to coccidia in broiler chickens. *Poultry Science.*, Volume 60(12); pp. 2612-2618.
- GODFREY DI, Zlotnik A. 1993. Control points in early T-cell development. *Immunology Today.*, Volume 14(11); pp. 547-553. Review.
- GORNER, H. 2001 Direct and sensitized photoprocesses of bis-benzimidazole dyes and the effects of surfactants and DNA. *Photochemistry and Photobiology.*, Volume **73**; pp. 339-348.
- GREEN, M.H., Lowe, J.E., Waugh, A.P., Aldridge, K.E., Cole, J., Arlett, C.F. 1994. Effect of diet and vitamin C on DNA strand breakage in freshly-isolated human white blood cells. *Mutation Research.*, Volume **316(2)**; pp. 91-102.
- GREENBERG, A.H. 1996. Activation of apoptosis pathways granzyme B. Cell Death and Differentiation., Volume 3; pp. 269-274.
- GREIDINGER E.L, Miller, D.K., Yamin, T.T., Casciola-Rosen, L., Rosen, A. 1996. Sequential activation of three distinct ICE-like activities in Fas-ligated Jurkat cells. *FEBS Letters.*, Volume 390(3); pp. 299-303.
- GRIFFITHS, B.B, Rea, W.J, Johnson, A.R, Ross, G.H. 1996. Mitogenic effects of mycotoxins on T4 lymphocytes. *Microbias.*, Volume 86(347); 127–134.
- GUMPRECHT, L.A, Beasley, V.R, Weigel. R.M, Parker, H.M, Tumbleson ,M.E, Bacon C.W, Meredith, F.I, Haschek W.M. 1998. Development of fumonisin-induced hepatotoxicity and pulmonary edema in orally dosed swine: morphological and biochemical alterations. *Toxicology Pathology*., Volume **26(6)**; pp. 777-788.
 - GUENGERICH, F.P., Arneson, K.O., Williams, K.M., Deng, Z., Harris, T.M. 2002.
 Reaction of aflatoxin B₁ oxidation products with lysine. *Chemical Research in Toxicology.*, Volume 15(6); pp. 780-792.
 - HAIMOVITZ-FREIDMAN, A., Kan, C-C., Enleoter D. 1994. Ionizing radiation acts on cellular membranes to generate ceramide and initiate apoptosis. *Journal of Experimental Medicine.*, Volume 180; pp. 525-535.

- HAMILTON PB, Harris JR. 1971. Interaction of aflatoxicosis with *Candida albicans* infections and other stresses in chickens. *Poultry Science.*, Volume **50(3)**; pp. 906-912.
- HANELT, M, Gareis, M, Kollarczik, B. 1994. Cytotoxicity of mycotoxins evaluated by the MTT-cell culture assay. *Mycopathologia.*, Volume **128(3)**; pp. 167-174.
- HARRISON, J.C., Garner, R.C. 1991. Immunological and HPLC detection of aflatoxin adducts in human tissues after an acute poisoning incident in S.E. Asia. *Carcinogenesis.*, Volume **12(4)**; pp. 741-743.
- HARTMAN, A. and Speit, G. 1994. Comparative investigations of the genotoxic effects of metals in the single cells gel (SCG) assay and the sister chromatid exchange (SCE) test. *Environmental and Molecular Mutagenesis.*, Volume 23(4); pp. 299-305.
- HARTMAN, A., Plappert, U., Raddatz, K., Grunert-Fuchs, M., Speit, G. 1994. Does physical activity induce DNA damage? *Mutagenesis.*, Volume 9(3); pp. 269-272.
- HAUFROID, V., Ligocka, D., Buysschaert, M. Horsmans, Y., Lison, D. 2003. European Journal of Clinical Pharmacology., Volume 59; pp. 29-33.
- HAYES, J.D, Judah, D.J, Mclellan, L.I, Neal, G.E. 1991. Contribution of the glutathione S-transferases to the mechanisms of resistance to aflatoxin B₁. *Pharmocology and Therapeutics.*, Volume 50; pp. 443-472.
- HECHT, S.S., Trushin, N. 1988. DNA and hemoglobin alkylation by 4-(methylnitrosamino)-1-(3-pyridyl)-1-butanol in F344 rats. *Carcinogenesis.*, Volume 9; pp. 1665 – 1668.
- HERMAN, B. 1998. Fluorescence Microscopy (Microscopy Handbooks, 40) 3rd Editon. Bios Scientific Pub Ltd: London
- HERTZOG, P.J, Lindsay, Smith, J.R, Garner, R.C. 1980. A high pressure liquid chromatography study on the removal of DNA-bound aflatoxin B₁ in rat liver and <u>in</u> <u>vitro</u>. *Carcinogenesis.*, Volume **1(9)**; pp. 787-93.
- HOPMANS, E.C., Murphy, P.A. 1993. Detection of fumonisins B₁, B₂ and B₃ and hydrolyzed fumonisin B₁ in corn-containing foods. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry.*, Volume 41; pp. 1655–1658.
- HOMBURG, C.H., de Haas, M., von dem Borne, A.E., Verhoeven, A.J., Reutelingsperger, C.P., Roos D. 1995. Human neutrophils lose their surface Fc gamma RIII and acquire Annexin V binding sites during apoptosis <u>in vitro</u>. *Blood.*, Volume **85(2)** pp. 532-40.
- HUPPERTZ, B., Frank, H.G, Kaufmann. P. 1999. The apoptosis cascade--morphological and immunohistochemical methods for its visualization. *Anatomy and Embryology.*, Volume 200(1); pp. 1-18.
- International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC). 1987. Aflatoxins. In: IARC monograph on the evaluation of carcinogenic risks to humans. Volume 7; pp. 83-87.

- International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC). 1993. IARC monograph on the evaluation of carcinogenic risks to humans. IARC Lyon, France. Volume 56; pp. 445-446.
- ITOH, N., Yonehara, S., Ishii, A., Yonehara, M., Mizushima, S., Sameshima, M., Hase, A., Seto, Y., Nagata, S. 1991. The polypeptide encoded by the cDNA for human cell surface antigen Fas can mediate apoptosis. *Cell.*, Volume **66(2)**; pp. 233-243.
- JAFFRÉZOU, J.P., Levade, T., Bettaieb, A., Andrieu, N., Bezombes, C., Maestre, N., Vermeersch, S., Rousse, A., Laurent, G. 1996. Daunorubicin-induced apoptosis: triggering of ceramide generation through sphingomyelin hydrolysis. *EMBO J.*ournal, Volume 15(10); pp. 2417-2424.
- JAISWAL, A.K., Bhushan, B., Badrinath, S. 1994. Pattern of skin diseases in the Leh-Ladakh region of India. *International Journal of Dermatology*., Volume **33(9)**; pp. 674-675.
- JAKAB, G.J., Hmieleski, R.R., Zarba, A., Hemenway, D.R., Groopman, J.D. 1994. Respiratory aflatoxicosis: suppression of pulmonary and systemic host defences in rats and mice. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*., Volume **125(2)**; pp. 198-205.
- JENNINGS, G.S., Heck, R., Oesch, F., Steinberg, P. 1994. Metabolism and cytotoxicity of aflatoxin B₁ in cultured rat hepatocytes and non-parenchymal cells: implications for tumorigenesis. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology.*, Volume 129(1); pp. 86-94.
- JESENSKA, Z., Bernat, D. 1994. Effect of mycotoxins on *in vitro* movement of tracheal cilia from one-day-old chicks. *Folia Microbial Praha.*, Volume **39(2)**; pp. 155-158.
- KAYALAR, C., Ord, T., Testa, M.P., Zhong, L.T., Bredesen, D.E. 1996. Cleavage of actin by interleukin 1 beta-converting enzyme to reverse DNase I inhibition. *P Proceedings of* the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America., Volume 93(5); pp. 2234-8.
- KELLERMAN, T.S, Marasas, W.F., Thiel, P.G., Gelderblom, W.C., Cawood, M., Coetzer, J.A. 1990. Leukoencephalomalacia in two horses induced by oral dosing of fumonisin B₁. Onderstepoort Journal of Vetinary Research., Volume **57(4)**; pp. 269-75.
 - KIZILIAN, N., Wilkins, R.C., Reinhardt, P., Ferrarotto, C., McLean, J.R., McNamee, J.P. 1999. Silver-stained comet assay for detection of apoptosis. *Biotechniques.*, Volume 27(5); pp. 926-30.
 - KLEIMAN, N.J., Spector, A. 1993. DNA single strand breaks in human lens epithelial cells from patients with cataract. *Current Eye Research.*, Volume 12(5); pp. 423-31.
 - KNASMULLER, S., Bresgen, N., Kassie, F., Mersch-Sundermann, V., Gelderblom, W., Zohrer, E., Eckl, P.M. 1997. Genotoxic effects of three Fusarium mycotoxins, fumonisin B₁, moniliformin and vomitoxin in bacteria and in primary cultures of rat hepatocytes. *Mutation Research.*, Volume **391(1-2)** pp. 39-48.
 - KOOPMAN, G., Reutelingsperger, C.P.M., Kuijten, G.A.M., Keehnen, M.H.J., 1994. Annexin V for flow cytometric detection of phosphatidylserine expression on B cells undergoing apoptosis. *Blood.*, Volume 84; pp. 1415-1420.

- KROEMER, G. 1997. The proto-oncogene BCl-2 and its role in regulating role in apoptosis. *Nature.*, Volume 3; pp. 614-620.
- KRUMAN, I.I., Kumaravel, T.S., Lohani, A., Pedersen, W.A., Cutler, R.G., Kruman, Y., Haughey, N., Lee, J., Evans, M., Mattson, M.P. 2002. Folic acid deficiency and homocysteine impair DNA repair in hippocampal neurons and sensitize them to amyloid toxicity in experimental models of Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of Neuroscience.*, Volume 22(5); pp. 1752-1762.
- KRUSZEWSKI, M., Wojewodzka, M., Iwanenko, T., Szumiel, I., Okuyama, A. 1998.
 Differential inhibitory effect of OK-1035 on DNA repair in L5178Y murine lymphoma sublines with functional or defective repair of double strand breaks. Mutation Research., Volume 409(1); pp. 31-36.
- KUIPER-GOODMAN, T., 1995. Mycotoxins: risk assessment and legislation. Toxicology Letters., Volume 82-83; pp. 853-859.
- LAZEBNIK, Y.A., Cole, S., Cooke, C.A., Nelson, W.G., Earnshaw, W.C. 1993. Nuclear events of apoptosis in vitro in cell-free mitotic extracts: a model system for analysis of the active phase of apoptosis. *Journal of Cell Biology*., Volume 123(1); pp. 7-22.
- LEWENSOHN, R., Ringborg, U., Hansson, J. 1982. Different activities of unscheduled DNA synthesis in human melanoma and bone marrow cells. *Cancer Research.*, Volume **42(1)**, pp. 84-88.
- LI, Y., Su, J.J., Qin, L.L., Yang, C., Ban, K.C., Yan, R.Q. 1999. Synergistic effect of hepatitis B virus and aflatoxin B₁ in hepatocarcinogenesis in tree shrews. Ann Acad Med Singapore., Volume 28(1); pp. 67-71.
- LIM, C.W., Parker, H.M., Vesonder, R.F., Haschek, W.M. 1996. Intravenous fumonisin B₁ induces cell proliferation and apoptosis in the rat. *Natural Toxins.*, Volume 4(1); pp. 34-41.
- LIU, B.H., Yu, F., Chan, M., Yang, Y. 2002. The effects of Mycotoxins, Fumonisin B₁ and Aflatoxin B₁ on Primary Swine Alveolar Macrophages. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology.*, Volume **180**; pp 197-204.
- LIU, X., Zou, H., Slaughter, C., Wang, X. 1997. DFF, a heterodimeric protein that functions downstream of caspase-3 to trigger DNA fragmentation during apoptosis. *Cell.*, Volume **89(2)**; pp. 175-84.
- LOGRIECO, A., Moretti, A., Bottalico, A., Corda, P. 1995. Occurrence and toxigenicity of *Fusarium proliferatum* from preharvest maize ear rot and associated mycotoxins in Italy. *Plant Diseases.*, Volume **79**; pp. 727 731.
- LOONTIENS, F.G., Regenfuss, P., Zechel, A., Dumortier, L., Clegg, R.M. 1990. Binding characteristics of Hoechst 33258 with calf thymus DNA, poly[d(A-T)] and d(CCGGAATTCCGG): multiple stoichiometries and determination of tight binding with a wide spectrum of site affinities. *Biochemistry*., Volume 29; pp. 9029-9039.
- MACKENZIE, S.E, Savard, M.E, Blackwell, B.A, Miller, J.D, Apimen, J.W. 1998. Fumonisin B₁ in maize. *Journal of Natural Products.*, Volume **61**; pp. 367-369.

- MAJNO, G., Joris, I. 1995. Apoptosis, oncosis and necrosis. An overview of cell death. *American Journal of Pathology.*, Volume **146(1)**; pp. 3-15. Review.
- MARASAS, W.F, Kellerman, T.S, Gelderblom, W.C, Coetzer, J.A, Thiel, P.G, van der Lugt, JJ. 1988. Leukoencephalomalacia in a horse induced by fumonisin B₁ isolated from Fusarium moniliforme. Onderstepoort Journal of Veterinary Research., Volume 55(4); pp. 197-203.
- MARIN, M.L, Murtha, J, Dong, W, Pestka, J.J. 1996. Effects of mycotoxins on cytokine production and proliferation in EL-4 thymoma cells. *J. of Toxicology and Environmental Health.*, Volume **48(4)**; pp. 376- 396.
- MARKS, D.I., Fox, R.M. 1991. DNA damage, poly (ADP-ribosyl)ation and apoptotic cell death as a potential common pathway of cytotoxic drug action. *Biochemical Pharmacology.*, Volume 42(10); pp. 1859-67.
- MARKS, N., Berg, M.J., Guidotti, A., Saito, M. Activation of caspase-3 and apoptosis in cerebellar granule cells. 1998. *Journal of Neuroscience Research.*, Volume 52(3); pp. 334-41.
- MARTIN, S.J., Reutelingsperger, C.P.M., McGahon, A.J., Rader, J.A., van Schie, R.C.A.A., LaFace, D.M. and Green, D.R. 1995. Early redistribution of plasma membrane phosphatidylserine is a general feature of apoptosis regardless of the initiating stimulus: inhibition by overexpression of Bcl-2 and Abl. *Journal of Experimental Medicine.*, Volume 182; pp. 1545-1556.
- MARTINOVA, E.A. 1998. Influence of sphingolipids on the T lymphocyte activation. Biochemistry (Moscow)., Volume 63; pp. 122-132.
- MASSEY, T.E, Stewart, R.K, Daniels, J.M, Liu, L. 1995. Minireview: Biochemical and Molecular Aspects of Mammalian Susceptibility to Aflatoxin B₁ Carcinogenicity. *Proceedings of the Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine.*, Volume 208(3); pp. 213-227.
- MCCARTHY, N.J., Whyte, M.K., Gilbert, C.S., Evan, G.I. 1997. Inhibition of Ced-3/ICErelated proteases does not prevent cell death induced by oncogenes, DNA damage, or the Bcl-2 homologue Bak. *Journal of Cell Biology*., Volume 36(1); pp. 215-27.
- MCCURDY, D., Tai, L.Q., Frias, S., Wang, Z. 1997. Delayed repair of DNA damage by ionizing radiation in cells from patients with juvenile systemic lupus erythematosus and rheumatoid arthritis. *Radiation Research.*, Volume 147(1); pp. 48-54.
- MERRILL, A.H., Liotta, D.C., Riley, R.T. 1996. Fumonisins: fungal toxins that shed light on sphingolipid function. *Trends in Cell Biology*., Volume **6(6)**; pp. 218 223.
- MIGNOTTE, B., Vayssiere, J.L. 1998. Mitochondria and apoptosis. European Journal of Biochemistry., Volume 252(1); pp. 1-15.
- MILLER, J.D. 1996. Mycotoxins. In: Cardwell KF. (ed) Proceedings of the workshop on mycotoxins in food in Africa. November 6-10, 1995 at Cotonou, Benin. International Institute of Tropical Agriculture, Benin, pp 18-22

- MOBIO, T.A., Anane, R., Baudrimont, I., Carratu, M.R., Shier, T.W., Dano, S.D., Ueno, Y., Creppy, E.E. 2000. Epigenetic properties of fumonisin B(1): cell cycle arrest and DNA base modification in C6 glioma cells. *Toxicology and Aplied Pharmacology.*, Volume 164(1); pp. 91-96.
- Molecular probes (online) 2003. Handbook of Fluorescent Probes and Research Products Available from: http://www.probes.com/handbook/tables/0382.html {Accessed 13 October 2003}
- MOORE, G.E., Murphy, G.P., Papermaster, B.W., Amiraian, K., Kenny, G.M., Moore, R.H. 1969. Purified Roswell Park cultured antilymphocytic globulin RPMI-CALG: preparation and clinical trial. *Journal of Surgical Oncology.*, Volume 1(2); pp 153-166.
- MOORE, M.R., Pitot, H.C, Miller, E.C, Miller, J.A. 1982. Cholangiocellular carcinomas induced in Syrian golden hamsters administered aflatoxin B₁ in large doses. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute.*, Volume 68(2); pp. 271-278.
- MOSS, M.O., Smith, J.E. 1985. *Mycotoxin Formation, Analysis and Significance*. John Wiley and Sons Ltd: Great Britain.
- MOSSMAN, T. 1983. Rapid colorimetric assay for cellular growth and survival: Application to Cell proliferation and Cytotoxicity assays. *Journal of Immunological Methods.*, Volume **65**; pp. 55-63.
 - MUSSER, S.M, Gay, M., Mazzola, E.P. 1996 Identification of a New series of fumonisin containing 3-hydroxypyrimidine. *Journal of Natural Products.*, Volume 59; pp. 970-972.
 - MUZIO, M., Chinnaiyan, A.M., Kischkel, F.C., O'Rourke, K., Shevchenko, A., Ni J, Scaffidi, C., Bretz, J.D., Zhang, M., Gentz, R., Mann, M., Krammer, P.H., Peter, .E., Dixit, V.M. 1996. FLICE, a novel FADD-homologous ICE/CED-3-like protease, is recruited to the CD95 (Fas/APO-1) death--inducing signaling complex. *Cell.*, Volume 14;85(6); pp. 817-827.
 - MYBURG, R.B., Dutton, M.F., Chuturgoon, A.A. 2002. Cytotoxicity of fumonisin B₁, diethylnitrosamine and catechol on the SNO esophageal cancer cell line. *Environmental Health Perspectives.*, Volume **110(8)**; pp. 813-815.
 - NAKAJIMA, T., Morita, K., Ohi, N., Arai, T., Nozaki, N., Kikuchi, A., Osaka, F., Yamao, F., Oda, K. 1996. Degradation of topoisomerase IIalpha during adenovirus E1A-induced apoptosis is mediated by the activation of the ubiquitin proteolysis system. *Journal of Biological Chemistry.*, Volume **271(40)**; pp. 24842-24849.
 - NEAL, G.E., Green, J.A. 1983. The requirement for glutiathione S-transferase in the conjugation of activated Aflatoxin B₁ during aflatoxin hepatocarcinogenesis in the rat. *Chemico-Biological Interactions.*, Volume 45; pp. 259-275.
 - NELDON-ORTIZ, D.L., Quereshi, M.A. 1991. Direct and microsomal activated aflatoxin B₁ exposure and its effects on turkey peritoneal macrophage functions in vitro. *Toxicol and Applied Pharmacology.*, Volume **109(3)**; pp. 432-442.

- NEMAZIE, D.A., Burki, K. 1989. Clonal deletion of B lymphocytes in transgenic mouse bearing antiMHC class I antibody genes. *Nature.*, Volume **337**; pp. 562-566.
- NIEDERMULLER, H., Hofecker, G., Skalicky, M. 1985. Changes of DNA repair mechanisms during the aging of the rat. *Mechanisms of Ageing and Development.*, Volume **29(3)**; pp. 221-238.
- NORRED, W.P. Plattner, R.D. Vesonder, R.F. Bacon, C.W. Voss, K.A. 1992. Effects of selected secondary metabolites of Fusarium moniliforme on unscheduled synthesis of DNA by rat primary hepatocytes. *Food and Chemical Toxicology.*, Volume **30(3)**; pp. 233-7.
- NOSSAL, G.J. 1994. Negative selection of lymphocytes. Cell., Volume 28;76(2); pp. 229-239.
- ØLIVE, P.L., Frazer, G., Banath, J.P. 1993. Radiation-induced apoptosis measured in TK6 human B lymphoblast cells using the comet assay. *Radiation Research., Volume* 136(1); pp. 130-136.
 - Oncogene Research Products (online) 2003. Available from: http://www.calbiochem.com/docs/PDS/PF036-000.pdf {Accessed 13 October 2003}
- ÖSTLING, O., Johanson, K.J. 1984. Microelectrophoretic study of radiation-induced DNA damages in individual mammalian cells. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications.*, Volume 123(1); pp. 291-298.
- OSTLING, O., Johanson, K.J., Blomquist, E., Hagelqvist, E. 1987. DNA damage in clinical radiation therapy studied by microelectrophoresis in single tumour cells. A preliminary report. *Acta Oncology.*, Volume **26(1)**; pp. 45-48.
 - PANAGALA, V.S., Giambrone, J.J., Diener, U.L., Davis, N.D., Hoer, F.J., Mitra, A., Schultz, R.D., Wilt, G.R. 1986. Effect of aflatoxin on growth performance and immune responses of weanling swine. A American Journal of Veterinary Research., Volume 47; pp. 2062.
 - PASCALE, M., Doko, M.B., Visconti, A. 1995. Determination of fumonisins in polenta by high performance liquid chromatography. In: Atti 2 Congresso nazionale di Chimica degli Alimenti, Giardini-Naxos. Italy, pp 1067-1071.
 - PAYNE, C.M., Bernstein, C., Bernstein, H. 1995. Apoptosis overview emphasizing the role of oxidative stress, DNA damage and signal-transduction pathways. *Leukaemia and Lymphoma.*, Volume 19(1-2); pp. 43-93.
 - PESTKA, J.J, Azcona-Olivera, J.I., Plattner, R.D., Minervini, F., Doko, M.B., Visconti, A. 1994. Comparative Assessment of fumonisin in grain based foods by Elisa GC-MS and HPLC. *Journal of Food Protection.*, Volume 57; pp. 169-172.
 - PFUHLER, S., Wolf, H.U. 1996. Detection of DNA-crosslinking agents with the alkaline comet assay. *Environmental and Molecular Mutagenesis.*, Volume **27(3)**; pp. 196-201.

- PIER, A.C., Heddleston, K.L. 1970. The effect of aflatoxin on immunity in turkeys. I. Impairment of actively acquired resistance to bacterial challenge. Avian Disease., Volume 14(4); pp. 797-809.
- PIER, A.C., Heddleston, K.L., Cysewski, S.J., Patterson, J.M. 1972. Effect of aflatoxin on immunity in turkeys. II. Reversal of impaired resistance to bacterial infection by passive transfer of plasma. *Avian Disease*., Volume 16(2); pp. 381-387.
- PITT, J.I 1996 What Are Mycotoxins? *Australian Mycotoxin Newsletter.*, Volume **7(4)**; pp. 1.
- PORSHER, J.M., Lafarge-Frayssinet, C., Frayssinet C. 1987. Determination of cytotoxic trichothecenes in corn by cell culture toxicity assays. `Journal of the Association of Official Analytical Chemists., Volume 75; pp 844-849.
- PRELUSKY, D.B, Trenholm, H.L, Savard, M.E. 1994. Pharmacokinetic fate of 14C-labelled fumonisin B₁ in swine. *Natural Toxins* Volume **2(2)**; pp. 73-80.
- PRESCOTT, L..M, Harley, J.P, Klein, D.A 1996. *Microbiology 3rd edition*. Wm. C. Brown Publishers: London.
- QUERESHI, M.A., Hagler, W.M. 1992. Effect of Fumonisin B₁ on chicken macrophage functions *in vitro*. *Poultry Science*., Volume **71**; pp. 104-112.
- RADCLIFF, G., Jaroszeski, M.J. 1998. Basics of flow cytometry. *Methods in Molecular Biology.*, Volume 91; pp. 1-24.
- RAISSUDDIN, Zaidi, S.I.A., Singh, K.P., Ray, P.K. 1990. Effects of aflatoxin on lymphoid cells of weanling rat. *Journal of Applied Toxicology*., Volume **10(4)**; pp. 245-50.
- RAMESH, V., Vasanthi, S. 2003. Mycotoxin Food Safety Risk in Developing Countries. Food safety in Food Security and Food trade., Volume 10; pp. 3.
- RAULET, D.H., Garman, R.D., Saito, H., Tonegawa, S. 1985. Developmental regulation of T-cell receptor gene expression. *Nature.*, Volume **314**; pp. 103-107.
- RATON, R.R., Murphy, T.H., Baraban, J.M. 1994. Oxidative stress induces apoptosis in embryonic cortical neurons. *Journal of Neurochemistry*., Volume **62(1)**; pp. 376-379.
- RAY, P.K., Prasad, A.K., 1987a. Environmental carcinogens and immune functions of hosts. Journal of Scientific Industry Research., Volume 46; pp. 162.
- RAY, P.K., Singh, K.P. 1987b. In: eds: Mulky, M.J. Srivasta, H.V., Vatsya, B., *Research in industry.*, pp. 168. Oxford and IBH Publ. Pvt. Ltd.: New Delhi.
- REED, J.C., Kitada, S., Takayama, S., Miyashita, T. 1994. Regulation of chemoresistance by the bcl-2 oncoprotein in non-Hodgkin's lymphoma and lymphocytic leukemia cell lines. *Annals of Oncology.*, Volume 5(1): pp. 61-65.
- REDDY, R.V., Sharma, R.P., Taylor, M.J. 1983. Dose and time related response of immunologic functions to aflatoxin B₁ in mice. *Dev Toxicol Environ Sci.*, Volume 11; pp. 431-434.

- REEVES, W.I., Todd, I. 1996. Lecture notes on Immunology. Blackwell Science Inc: London
- Reproductive and Cardiovascular Group, (online) 2003. Available from: http://www.sghms.ac.uk/depts/immunology/~dash/apoptosis/ {'Accessed 12 October 2003}
- RHEEDER, J.P., Marasas, W.F.O., Thiel, P.G., Sydenham, E.W., Shephard, G.S., Van Schalkwyk, D.J. 1992. *Fusarium moniliforme* and fumonisins in relation to human oesophageal cancer in Transkei. *Phyotpathology.*, Volume **82**; pp. 353-357.
- RILEY, R.T., Enongene, E., Voss, K.A., Norred, W.P., Meredith, F.I., Sharma, R.P., Spitsbergen, J., Williams, D.E., Carlson, D.B., Merrill, A.H. Jr. 2001. Sphingolipid perturbations as mechanisms for fumonisin carcinogenesis. *Environmental Health Perspectives.*, Volume 109(2); pp. 301-308. Review
- ROBB J., Norval M. 1983. Comparision of cytotoxicity and thin layer chromatography methods for detection of mycotoxins. *Applied Environmental. Microbiology.*, Volume 46; pp. 948-950.
- Roche (online) 2002. Guide to Cell Proliferation and Apoptosis Method Available from: http://www.roche-applied-science.com {Accessed 12 September 2003}
- ROITT, I.M., Brostoff, J., Male, D.K. 1993. Immunology 3rd edition. C.V. Mosby: St Louis
- ROUVIER, E., Luciani, M.F., Golstein, P. 1993. Fas involvement in Ca(2+)-independent T cellmediated cytotoxicity. *Journal of Experimental Medicine.*, Volume 177(1); pp. 195-200.
- RUMORA, L., Kovacic, S., Rozgaj, R., Cepelak, I., Pepeljnjak, S., Zanic Grubisic, T. 2002. Cytotoxic and genotoxic effects of fumonisin B₁ on rabbit kidney RK13 cell line. *Archives of Toxicology.*, Volume 76(1); pp. 55-61.
- SAHU, S.C., Eppley, R.M., Page, S.W., Gray, G.C., Barton, C.N., O'Donnell, M.W. 1998. Peroxidation of membrane lipids and oxidative DNA damage by Fumonisin B₁ in isolated rat liver nuclei. *Cancer Letters.*, Volume 125(1-2); pp. 117-121.
- SAKAKURA, C., Sweeney, E.A., Shirahama, T., Hakomori, S., Igarashi, Y. 1996. Suppression of bel-2 gene expression by sphingosine in the apoptosis of human leukemic HL-60 cells during phorbal ester induced terminal differentiation. *FEBS Letters.*, Volume 379; pp. 177-180.
- SAMBROOK, J., Fritsch, E.F., Maniatis T. 1989. *Molecular cloning. A Laboratory Manual.* 2nd edition. Volume **3**. Cold Spring Habour Press: New York.
- SANTANA, P., Pena, L.A., Haimovitz-Friedman, A., Martin, S., Green, D., McLoughlin, M., Cordon-Cardo, C., Schuchman, E.H., Fuks, Z., Kolesnick, R. 1996. Acid sphingomyelinase-deficient human lymphoblasts and mice are defective in radiationinduced apoptosis. *Cell.*, Volume 86(2); pp. 189-199.

SCHMELZ, E.M., Dombrink-Kurtzman, M.A., Roberts, P.C., Kozutsumi, Y.,

- Kawasaki, T., Merrill, A.H. 1998. Induction of apoptosis by fumonisin B_1 in HT29 cells is mediated by the accumulation of endogenous free sphingoid bases. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology.*, Volume **148(2)**; pp.252-260.
- SCOTT, P.M, Lawrence, G.A. 1992. Liquid chromatographic determination of fumonisins with 4-florobenzofurazan. Journal of the Association of Analytical Chemists International., Volume 77(2); pp. 541-545.
 - SEARS, D.W. (online). 1997. Figure 1.8: Cellular and Humoral Immunity. Available from: http://www.whfreeman.com/immunology {Accessed 12 September 2003}
 - SHAPIRO, H. 1994. "Practical Flow Cytometry". John Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York.
 - SHAPIRO, H., Perlmutter, N.G. 2001. "Violet laser diodes as light sources for cytometry." *Cytometry.*, Volume 44; pp. 133-136.
 - SHIER, W.T., Abbas, H.K., Mirocha, C.J. 1991. Toxicity of the mycotoxins fumonisins B₁ and B2 and <u>Alternaria alternata</u> f. sp. lycopersici toxin (AAL) in cultured mammalian cells. *Mycopathologia.*, Volume **116(2)**; pp. 97-104.
 - SHEPHARD, G.S, Thiel P.G, Sydenham E.W, Alberts J.F. 1994. Biliary excretion of the mycotoxin fumonisin B₁ in rats. *Food and Chemical Toxicology.*, Volume 32(5); pp. 489-491.
 - SHIMADA, T., Guengerich, F.P. 1989. Evidence for cytochrome P-450NF, the nifedipine oxidase, being the principal enzyme involved in the bioactivation of aflatoxins in human liver. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America., Volume 86(2); pp. 462-465.

Sigma Aldrich 1996. Biochemicals and reagents for life science research. South Africa.

- SINGH, N.P., McCoy, M., Tice, R., Schneider, E.L. 1988. A simple technique for quantitation of low levels of DNA damage in individual cells. *Experimental Cell Research.*, Volume 175; pp. 184-191.
- SINGH NP, Danner DB, Tice RR, Brant L, Schneider EL. 1990. DNA damage and repair with age in individual human lymphocytes. *Mutation Research.*, Volume 237(3-4); pp. 123-130.
- SINGH, N.P., Stephens, R.E., Singh, H., Lai, H. 1999. Visual quantification of DNA double strand breaks in bacteria. *Mutation Research.*, Volume **429(2)**; pp. 159-168.
- SINZ, M.W and Shier, W.T 1991. Aflatoxin biosynthesis. Journal of Toxicology-Toxin Reviews., Volume 10(1); pp. 87-121.
- SKAMENE, E. Gros, P. 1983. Role of macrophages in resistance against infectous diseases. *Clinical Immunology and. Allergies.*, Volume 3; pp. 539-560.

- SLATER, T.F., Sawyer, B., Straubli, U. 1963. Studies on succinate tetrazolium reductase systems. II Points of coupling of four different tetrazolium salts. *Biochimica et Biophysica ACTA*., Volume 77; pp. 383-393.
- SOLT D., Farber, E. 1976. New principles for the analysis of chemical carcinogenesis. *Nature.*, Volume **263**; pp. 701-703.
- SONG, B.J., Veech, R.L., Saenger, P. 1990. Cytochrome P450IIE1 is elevated in lymphocytes from poorly controlled insulin-dependent diabetics. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism.*, Volume **71(4)**; pp. 1036-40.
- SONG, Q., Lees-Miller, S.P., Kumar, S., Zhang, Z., Chan, D.W., Smith, G.C., Jackson, S.P., Alnemri, E.S., Litwack, G., Khanna, K.K., Lavin, M.F. 1996. DNA-dependent protein kinase catalytic subunit: a target for an ICE-like protease in apoptosis. *EMBO Journals.*, Volume 15(13); pp. 3238-46.
- SPECTOR, M.S., Desnoyers, S., Hoeppner, D.J., Hengartner, M.O. 1997. Interaction between the C. elegans cell-death regulators CED-9 and CED-4. *Nature.*, Volume 385; pp. 653-656.
- STOKKE, T., Steen, H.B. 1985. Multiple binding modes for Hoechst 33258 to DNA. Journal of Histochemistry and Cytochemistry. Volume 33; pp. 333-338.
- SUN, T.S.C, Stahr, H.M. 1993. Evaluation and application of a bioluminescent bacterial genotoxicity test. *Journal of the Association of Analytical Chemistry.*, Volume **76**; pp. 893-898.
- SWEENEY, E.A, Sakakura, C., Shirahama, T., Masamune. A., Ohta. H., Hakomori, S., Igarashi, Y. 1996. Sphingosine and its methylated derivative N,N-dimethylsphingosine (DMS) induce apoptosis in a variety of human cancer cell lines. *International Journal of Cancer.*, Volume 66(3); pp. 358-366.
- SYDENHAM, E.W., Thiel, P.G., Marasas, W.F.O., Shephard, G.S., van Schalkwyk, D.J., Kock, K.R 1990. Natural occurrence of some *Fusarium* mycotoxins in corn from low and high oesphageal cancer prevalence areas of the Transkei, South Africa. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry.*, Volume **38**; pp. 1900-1903.
 - SYDENHAM, E.W., Shephard, G.S., Thiel, P.G., Marasas, Stockenstrom, S. 1991. Fumonisin contamination of commercial corn-based human foodstuffs. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry.*, Volume 39; pp. 2014-2018.
 - TAUPIN, J.L., Tian, Q., Kedersha, N., Robertson, M., Anderson, P. 1995. The RNA-binding protein TIAR is translocated from the nucleus to the cytoplasm during Fas-mediated apoptotic cell death. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America.*, Volume 92(5); pp. 1629-1633.
 - TEDJADA-SMITH, M.V, Marovatsanga, L.T, Pestka, J.J 1995. Comparitive Detection of Fumonisin By HPLC, ELISA and Immunocytochemical Localisation in *Fusarium* Cultures. *Journal of Food Protection.*, Volume 58(6); pp. 666-672.

- TEWARI, M., Beidler, D.R., Dixit, V.M. 1995. CrmA-inhibitable cleavage of the 70-kDa protein component of the U1 small nuclear ribonucleoprotein during Fas- and tumor necrosis factor-induced apoptosis. *Journal of Biological Chemistry.*, Volume 270(32); pp. 18738-18741.
- THOMPSON, W.L., Wannemacher, R.W Jr. 1986. Structure-function relationships of 12,13epoxytrichothecene mycotoxins in cell culture: comparison to whole animal lethality. *Toxicon.*, Volume 24(10); pp. 985-994.
- TICE R.R., Andrews P.W., Singh, N.P. 1990. The single cell gel assay: a sensitive technique for evaluating intercellular differences in DNA damage and repair. *Basic Life Sci.*, Volume 53; pp. 291-301.
- TICE, R.R., Strauss, G.H., Peters, W.P. 1992. High-dose combination alkylating agents with autologous bone-marrow support in patients with breast cancer: preliminary assessment of DNA damage in individual peripheral blood lymphocytes using the single cell gel electrophoresis assay. *Mutatation Research.*, Volume **271(2)**; pp. 101-113.
- TICE, R.R., Agurell, E., Anderson, D., Burlinson, B., Hartmann, A., Kobayashi, H., Miyamae, Y., Rojas, E., Ryu, J.C., Sasaki, Y.F. 2000. Single cell gel/comet assay: guidelines for in vitro and in vivo genetic toxicology testing. *Environmental and Molecular Mutagenesis.*, Volume 35(3); pp. 206-21.
- TOLLESON, W.H., Dooley, K.L., Sheldon, W.G., Thurman, J.D., Bucci, T.J., Howard, P.C. 1996. Chapter 21: The mycotoxin Fumonisin induces apoptosis in cultured human cells and in livers and kidneys of rats. In: Ed L Jackson. *Fumonisins in Food*. Plenium Press: New York
- TONEGAWA, S. 1983. Somatic generation of antibody diversity. *Nature.*, Volume **302**; pp. 575-81. Review.
- TRAIL, F. 1995. Molecular Biology of Aflatoxin Synthesis. *Microbiology.*, Volume 141; pp. 755-765.
- TRYPHONAS, H., Bondy, G., Miller, J.D., Lacroix, F., Hodgen, M., Mcguire, P., Fernie, S., Miller, D., Hayward, S. 1997. Effects of fumonisin B₁ on the immune system of sprague-dawley rats following a 14-day oral (gavage) exposure. *Fundamental and Applied Toxicology.*, Volume 39(1); pp. 53-59.
- UCHIYAMA, Y. 1995. Apoptosis: The history and trends of its studies. Arch Histol Cytol., Volume 58(2); pp. 127-137. Review.
- UENO, Y., Aoyoma, S., Suglaru, Y., Wang, D.S., Lee, U.S., Hirooka, E.Y., Hara, S., Karki, T., Chen, G., Yu, S.Z. 1993. A limited survey of Fumonisins in corn and corn based products in Asian countries. *Mycotoxins Research.*, Volume 9; pp. 27-34.
- UENO, Y., Umemori, K., Niimi, E., Tanuma, S., Nagata, S., Sugamata, M., Ihara, T., Sekijima, M, Kawai, K., Ueno, I. 1995. Induction of apoptosis by T-2 toxin and other natural toxins in HL-60 human promyelotic leukemia cells. *Natural Toxins*. Volume 3(3); pp. 129-37.

- UENO, Y., Iijima, K., Wang, S.D., Sugiura, Y., Sekijima, M., Tanaka, T., Chen, C., and Yu, S.Z. 1997. Fumonisins as a possible contributory risk factor for primary liver cancer. A 3-year study of corn harvested in Haimen, China, by HPLC and Elisa. *Food* and Chemical Toxicology., Volume 35; pp. 1143-1150.
- UNIVERSITY of Leicester (online) 2002. Cells of the Immune System. Available from: http://www-micro.msb.le.ac.uk/MBChB/2a.html {Accessed 1 October 2002}
- VAN ENGELAND, M., Kuijpers, H.J, Ramaekers, F.C, Reutelingsperger, C.P, Schutte, B. 1997. Plasma membrane alterations and cytoskeletal changes in apoptosis. *Experimental Cell Research.*, Volume 235(2); pp. 421-430.
- VAUX, D.L. 1993. Review: toward an understanding of the molecular mechanisms of physiological cell death. Proceedings of the National Academy of Science of the United States of America., Volume 90; pp 786 –789.
- VERHOVEN, B., Schlegel, R.A, Williamson, P. 1995. Mechanisms of phosphatidylserine exposure, a phagocyte recognition signal, on apoptotic T lymphocytes. *Journal of Experimental Medicine.*, Volume 182(5); pp. 1597-1601.
- VERMES, I., Haanen, C., Steffens-Nakken, H., Reutelingsperger, C. 1995. A novel assay for apoptosis. Flow cytometric detection of phosphatidylserine expression on early + apoptotic cells using fluorescein labelled Annexin V. *Journal of Immunlogical Methods.*, Volume 184(1); pp 39-51.
- WALKER, N.I., Harmon, B.V., Gobe, G.C., Kerr, J.F. 1988. Patterns of cell death. Methods and Achievements in Experimental Pathology., Volume 13; pp. 18-54.
- WALLACH, D. 1997. Placing death under control. Nature., Volume 338; pp. 123-126.
- WANG, J.S., Groopman, J.D. 1999. DNA damage by mycotoxins. *Mutation Research.*, Volume **424(1-2)**; pp. 167-181. Review.
- WANG E., Norred, W.P., Bacon, C.W., Riley, R.T., Merrill, A.H. 1991. Inhibition of sphingolipid biosynthesis by fumonisins. Implications for diseases associated with *Fusarium moniliforme. Journal of Biological Chemistry.*, Volume 266(22); pp. 14486-14490.
- WANG, E, Riley, R.T, Meredith, F.I, Merill, A.H. 1999. Fumonisin B₁ consumption by rats causes reversible dose dependent increases in urinary sphinganine and sphingosine. *Journal of Nutrition.*, Volume 129; pp.214-220.
- WHITE, E. 1996. Life, death and the pursuit of apoptosis. Genes and Development., Volume 10; pp. 1-15.
- WHYTE. M, 1996. ICE/CED-3 proteases in apoptosis. Trends in Cell Biology., Volume 6; pp. 245-254.
- WILD, C.P., Jiang, Y.Z., Allen, S.J., Jansen, L.A., Hall, A.J., Montesano, R. 1990. Aflatoxin-albumin adducts in human sera from different regions of the world. *Carcinogenesis.*, Volume 11(12); pp. 2271-2274.

World Development Report. 1993. Oxford University Press: Oxford

- WRIGHT, S.C., Wei, Q.S., Zhong, J., Zheng, H., Kinder, D.H., Larrick, J.W. 1994. Purification of a 24-kD protease from apoptotic tumor cells that activates DNA fragmentation. *Journal of Experimental Medicine.*, Volume **180(6)**; pp. 2113-2123.
- WYLLIE, A. 1997. Apoptosis : an overview. *British Medical Bulletin.*, Volume 53(3); pp 451-465.
- XIA, Z., Dickens, M., Raingeaud, J., Davis, R.J., Greenberg, M.E. 1995. Opposing effects of ERK and JNK-p38 MAP kinases on apoptosis. *Science.*, Volume **270**; pp. 1326-1331.
- YAUN, J.Y., Shaham, S., Ledoux, S. Ellis, H.M., Horvitz, H.R. 1993. The C *elegens* cell death gene ced-3 encodes apoptosis similar to mammalian interleukin -1β-converting enzyme. *Cell.*, Volume **75**; pp. 641-652.
- YOO, H.S., Norred, W.P., Wang, E., Merril, A. H., Riley, R.T. 1992. Fumonisin inhibition of of *de nova* sphingolipid biosynethesis and cytotoxicity are correlated in LLC-PK₁ Cells. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology.*, Volume 114; pp 9-15.
- YU, M.W., Lien, J.P., Liaw, Y.F., Chen, C.J. 1996. Effects of multiple risk factors for hepatocellular carcinoma on formation of aflatoxin B₁-DNA adducts. *Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers and Prevention.*, Volume 5(8); pp. 613-619.
- ZHANG, H., Nagashima, H., Goto, T. 1997. Natural occurrence of mycotoxins in corn samples from high and low risk areas for human pesophagela cancer in China. *Mycotoxins.*, Volume 44; pp. 29-35.
- ZHU, W.J., Cowie, A., Wasfy, G.W., Penn, L.Z., Leber, B, Andrews D.W. 1996. Bcl-2 mutants with restricted subcellular locations reveal spatially distinct pathways for apoptosis in different cell types. *EMBO Journal.*, Volume 14; pp. 4130-4141.

Appendix

Appendix 1.1: RPMI-1640 Medium

Inorganic salts (g/l)		Vitamins (g/l)	
$Ca (NO_3)_2.H_2O$	0.10000	D-Biotin	0.00020
MgSO ₄ (anhydrous)	0.04884	Choline Chloride	0.00300
KCl	0.40000	Folic Acid	0.00100
NaHCO ₃	1.50000	Myo-Inositol	0.03500
NaCl	6.00000	Nicotinamide	0.00100
Na ₂ HPO ₄ (anhydrous)	0.80000	p-Amino Benzoic Acid	0.00100
		D-Panthothenic Acid	0.00025
		(hemicalcium)	
Amino acids (g/l)		Pyridoxine	0.00100
L-Arginine (free base)	0.20000	Riboflavin	0.00020
L-Asparagine.H ₂ O	0.05682	Thiamine.HCl	0.00100
L-Aspartic Acid	0.02000	Vitamin B-12	0.000005
L-Cystine.2HCl	0.06520		
L-Glutamic Acid	0.02000		
L-Glutamine	0.30000	Other (g/l)	
Glycine	0.01000	D-Glucose	4.50000
L-Histidine (free base)	0.01500	Glutiathione (reduced)	0.00100
Hydroxyl-L-Proline	0.02000	HEPES	2.38300
L-Isoleucine	0.05000	Phenol Red, Sodium Salt	0.00500
L-Leucine	0.05000	Sodium Pyruvate	0.11000
L-Lysine.HCl	0.04000		
L-Methionine	0.01500		
L-Phenylalanine	0.01500		
L-Proline	0.02000		
L-Serine	0.03000		
L-Threonine	0.02000		
L-Tryptophan	0.00500		
L-Tyrosine.2Na.2H ₂ O	0.02883		
L-Valine	0.02000		

Appendix 1.2: Hanks' Balanced Salt Solution

KCl	0.40000 g/l
KH ₂ PO ₄	0.06000 g/l
NaCl	8.00000 g/l
NaHCO ₃	0.35000 g/l
Na ₂ HPO ₄ (anhydrous)	0.09000 g/l
Glucose	1.00000 g/l
Phenol Red, Sodium Salt	0.02120 g/l